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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

THE SCOTTS MIRACLE-GRO COMPANY

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations

(In millions, except per common share data)

Net sales
Cost of sales
Cost of sales—impairment, restructuring and other
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative
Impairment, restructuring and other
Other income, net
Income from operations
Equity in (income) loss of unconsolidated affiliates
Interest expense
Other non-operating (income) expense, net
Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax expense from continuing operations
Income from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net income
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interest

Net income attributable to controlling interest

Basic income (loss) per common share:
Income from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations

Basic income per common share

Weighted-average common shares outstanding during the period

Diluted income (loss) per common share:
Income from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations
Diluted income per common share

Weighted-average common shares outstanding during the period plus dilutive potential

common shares

Dividends declared per common share

THREE MONTHS ENDED NINE MONTHS ENDED
JUNE 30, JULY 1, JUNE 30, JULY 1,
2018 2017 2018 2017

$ 9946 $ 9734 $ 22295 $ 22654
635.9 590.0 1,427.5 1,380.8

11.1 — 11.1 —

347.6 383.4 790.9 884.6

1445 153.4 418.7 436.4

19.3 0.4 29.4 13
(1.9) (6.5) (3.3) (12.6)

185.7 236.1 346.1 459.5

(1.1) (7.2) (3.3) 30.1

23.2 21.8 63.6 58.5

(2.6) — 4.2 —

166.2 221.5 281.6 370.9

40.7 76.9 23.4 130.3

1255 144.6 258.2 240.6

(42.7) 7.3 (47.6) 11.7

$ 828 $ 1519 $ 2106 $ 2523
0.1 — 0.1 (0.5)

$ 829 $ 1519 § 210.7  $ 251.8
$ 227 % 244§ 457 $ 4.02
(0.77) 0.13 (0.84) 0.20

$ 150 $ 257§ 373§ 4.22
55.4 59.2 56.5 59.7

$ 223 $ 241§ 450 $ 3.96
(0.76) 0.12 (0.83) 0.20

$ 147 $ 253§ 367 § 4.16
56.3 60.0 57.4 60.6

$ 0530 $ 0.500 $ 1590 $ 1.500

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.



THE SCOTTS MIRACLE-GRO COMPANY

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

(In millions)

(Unaudited)
THREE MONTHS ENDED NINE MONTHS ENDED
JUNE 30, JULY 1, JUNE 30, JULY 1,
2018 2017 2018 2017
Net income $ 828 $ 1519 $ 2106 $ 252.3
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Net foreign currency translation adjustment (5.3) 5.8 10.3 3.6
Net unrealized gain (loss) on derivative instruments, net of tax of $0.9, $(0.7), $2.0
and $1.1, respectively 2.2 1.2) 5.0 1.8
Reclassification of net unrealized (gain) loss on derivatives to net income, net of
tax of $(0.4), $0.2, $(0.9) and $1.2, respectively (1.1) 0.4 (2.3) 1.9
Reclassification of net pension and other post-retirement benefits loss to net
income, net of tax of $0.2, $0.3, $0.5 and $0.9, respectively 0.4 0.5 1.2 1.4
Total other comprehensive income (loss) 3.8) 5.5 14.2 8.7
Comprehensive income $ 790 $ 1574  $ 2248 $ 261.0
Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interest — (0.1) — (0.6)
Comprehensive income attributable to controlling interest $ 790 $ 1573 $ 2248 $ 260.4

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.



THE SCOTTS MIRACLE-GRO COMPANY
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In millions) (Unaudited)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:
Impairment, restructuring and other
Share-based compensation expense
Depreciation
Amortization
Deferred taxes
Gain on long-lived assets
(Gain) loss on sale / contribution of business
Recognition of accumulated foreign currency translation loss
Equity in (income) loss and distributions from unconsolidated affiliates
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquired businesses:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid and other assets
Accounts payable
Other current liabilities
Restructuring and other
Other non-current items
Other, net

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of long-lived assets
Post-closing working capital payment related to sale of International Business
Investments in property, plant and equipment
Investments in loans receivable
Net investments in unconsolidated affiliates
Investments in acquired businesses, net of cash acquired
Other investing, net

Net cash used in investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Borrowings under revolving and bank lines of credit and term loans

Repayments under revolving and bank lines of credit and term loans

Proceeds from issuance of 5.250% Senior Notes

Financing and issuance fees

Dividends paid

Distribution paid by AeroGrow to noncontrolling interest

Purchase of Common Shares

Payments on seller notes

Excess tax benefits from share-based payment arrangements

Cash received from the exercise of stock options

Acquisition of noncontrolling interests

Net cash provided by financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period excluding cash classified within assets held for sale
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period classified within assets held for sale
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

NINE MONTHS ENDED
JUNE 30, JULY 1,
2018 2017
210.6 252.3
23.4 —
30.0 20.5
39.2 41.4
21.6 18.4
(47.9) —
0.4) 2.5)
2.8 0.3)
11.7 —
(3.3) 33.7
(397.8) (368.6)
6.1 (5.5)
(12.7) (24.8)
46.3 61.3
17.6 88.0
74.3 (15.6)
(12.5) (7.6)
1.2) 0.9
(3.4 91.6
1.2 5.0
(35.3) —
(40.7) (42.0)
(5.3) —
— 0.2)
(492.9) (89.2)
10.7 —
(562.3) (126.4)
1,617.0 1,362.8
(668.7) (1,205.3)
— 250.0
— (4.3)
(89.6) (89.4)
— 8.1
(313.6) (183.0)
(8.8) (28.7)
— 45
8.7 33
(69.2) —
475.8 101.8
(1.0) 2.0
(90.9) 69.0
120.5 28.6
— 21.5
120.5 50.1
29.6 119.1




THE SCOTTS MIRACLE-GRO COMPANY
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In millions, except stated value per share)

(Unaudited)
JUNE 30, JULY 1, SEPTEMBER 30,
2018 2017 2017
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 296 % 879 $ 120.5
Accounts receivable, less allowances of $6.2, $5.5 and $3.1, respectively 387.8 372.1 197.7
Accounts receivable pledged 316.7 277.8 88.9
Inventories 500.5 413.2 407.5
Assets held for sale — 295.0 —
Prepaid and other current assets 84.4 78.4 67.1
Total current assets 1,319.0 1,524.4 881.7
Investment in unconsolidated affiliates 34.4 65.7 31.1
Property, plant and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $629.5, $583.2 and
$591.1, respectively 517.6 436.5 467.7
Goodwill 621.2 407.4 441.6
Intangible assets, net 879.6 746.8 748.9
Other assets 192.1 121.3 176.0
Total assets $ 3,5639 $ 3,302.1 $ 2,747.0
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Current portion of debt $ 3145 $ 289.1 $ 143.1
Accounts payable 195.6 175.6 153.1
Liabilities held for sale — 145.3 —
Other current liabilities 315.2 259.5 248.3
Total current liabilities 825.3 869.5 544.5
Long-term debt 1,975.4 1,410.8 1,258.0
Distributions in excess of investment in unconsolidated affiliate 21.9 — 21.9
Other liabilities 210.0 278.8 260.9
Total liabilities 3,032.6 2,559.1 2,085.3
Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)
Equity:
Common shares and capital in excess of $.01 stated value per share; 55.4, 58.6 and 58.1
shares issued and outstanding, respectively 411.4 405.7 407.6
Retained earnings 1,097.5 1,043.1 978.2
Treasury shares, at cost; 12.7, 9.5 and 10.0 shares, respectively (927.5) (610.1) (667.8)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (55.0) (108.3) (69.2)
Total equity—controlling interest 526.4 730.4 648.8
Noncontrolling interest 4.9 12.6 12.9
Total equity 531.3 743.0 661.7
Total liabilities and equity $ 3,5639 $ 3,302.1 $ 2,747.0

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.



NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Nature of Operations

The Scotts Miracle-Gro Company (“Scotts Miracle-Gro” or “Parent”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, together with Scotts Miracle-Gro, the
“Company”) are engaged in the manufacturing, marketing and sale of branded products for lawn and garden care and indoor and hydroponic gardening. The
Company’s primary customers include home centers, mass merchandisers, warehouse clubs, large hardware chains, independent hardware stores, nurseries,
garden centers, food and drug stores, indoor gardening and hydroponic product distributors and retailers. The Company’s products are sold primarily in
North America, Europe and Asia.

Prior to August 31, 2017, the Company operated consumer lawn and garden businesses located in Australia, Austria, Belgium, Luxembourg, Czech
Republic, France, Germany, Poland and the United Kingdom (the “International Business”). On April 29, 2017, the Company received a binding and
irrevocable conditional offer (the “Offer”) from Exponent Private Equity LLP (“Exponent”) to purchase the International Business. On July 5, 2017, the
Company accepted the Offer and entered into the Share and Business Sale Agreement (the “Agreement”) contemplated by the Offer. Pursuant to the
Agreement, Scotts-Sierra Investments LLC, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (“Sierra”) and certain of its direct and indirect subsidiaries,
entered into separate stock or asset sale transactions with respect to the the International Business. As a result, effective in its fourth quarter of fiscal 2017, the
Company classified its results of operations for all periods presented to reflect the International Business as a discontinued operation and classified the assets
and liabilities of the International Business as held for sale. See “NOTE 2. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS?” for further discussion. Refer to “NOTE 15.
SEGMENT INFORMATION?” for discussion of the Company’s new reportable segments effective in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2017.

Due to the nature of the consumer lawn and garden business, the majority of the Company’s sales to customers occur in the Company’s second and third
fiscal quarters. On a combined basis, net sales for the second and third quarters of the last three fiscal years represented in excess of 75% of the Company’s
annual net sales.

Organization and Basis of Presentation

The Company’s unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018 and July 1, 2017 are
presented in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). The condensed consolidated financial
statements include the accounts of Scotts Miracle-Gro and its subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions and accounts have been eliminated in consolidation.
The Company’s consolidation criteria are based on majority ownership (as evidenced by a majority voting interest in the entity) and an objective evaluation
and determination of effective management control. AeroGrow International, Inc. (“AeroGrow”), in which the Company has a controlling interest, is
consolidated, with the equity owned by other shareholders shown as noncontrolling interest in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, and the other
shareholders’ portion of net earnings and other comprehensive income shown as net (income) loss or comprehensive (income) loss attributable to
noncontrolling interest in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss),
respectively. In the opinion of management, interim results reflect all normal and recurring adjustments and are not necessarily indicative of results for a full
year.

Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been omitted or
condensed pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Accordingly, this report should be read in conjunction
with Scotts Miracle-Gro’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017 (the “2017 Annual Report”), which includes a complete
set of footnote disclosures, including the Company’s significant accounting policies.

The Company’s Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet at September 30, 2017 has been derived from the Company’s audited Consolidated Balance
Sheet at that date, but does not include all of the information and footnotes required by GAAP for complete financial statements.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported in the condensed consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes and related disclosures. Although these estimates are based on
management’s best knowledge of current events and actions the Company may undertake in the future, actual results ultimately may differ from the estimates.
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Loans Receivable

Loans receivable are carried at outstanding principal amount, and are recognized in the “Other assets” line in the Condensed Consolidated Balance
Sheets. Loans receivable are impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable that the Company will be unable to collect all amounts
due according to the contractual terms of the applicable loan agreement. If it is determined that an impairment has occurred, an impairment loss is recognized
for the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds the present value of expected future cash flows and recorded in operating expenses in the
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Interest income is recorded on an accrual basis. For the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, the Company has classified interest income on loans
receivable of $2.6 million and $7.5 million, respectively, in the “Other non-operating (income) expense, net” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statements
of Operations. For the three and nine months ended July 1, 2017, interest income on loans receivable of $3.0 million and $7.8 million, respectively, is
classified in the “Other income, net” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Long-Lived Assets

The Company had non-cash investing activities of $4.5 million and $2.9 million during the nine months ended June 30, 2018 and July 1, 2017,
respectively, representing unpaid liabilities incurred during each period to acquire property, plant and equipment.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value, principally determined by the first in, first out method of accounting. Inventories
acquired through the recent acquisition of Sunlight Supply (as defined in “NOTE 3. ACQUISITIONS AND INVESTMENTS”), which represent
approximately 18% of consolidated inventories, were initially recorded at fair value and subsequently will be measured using the average costing method of
inventory valuation. Inventories include the cost of raw materials, labor, manufacturing overhead and freight and in-bound handling costs incurred to pre-
position goods in the Company’s warehouse network. The Company makes provisions for obsolete or slow-moving inventories as necessary to properly
reflect inventory at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Adjustments to reflect inventories at net realizable values were $12.6 million at June 30, 2018,
$10.3 million at July 1, 2017 and $10.5 million at September 30, 2017.

Statements of Cash Flows

Supplemental cash flow information was as follows:

NINE MONTHS ENDED
JUNE 30, JULY 1,
2018 2017
(In millions)
Interest paid $ (68.2) $ (53.0)
Income taxes paid (54.8) (72.0)
Property and equipment acquired under capital leases — 0.9

During the nine months ended June 30, 2018, the Company paid contingent consideration of $3.0 million and $5.2 million, respectively, related to the
fiscal 2016 acquisition of Gavita Holdings B.V., and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Gavita”), and the fiscal 2017 acquisition of Agrolux Holding B.V., and its
subsidiaries (collectively, “Agrolux”). During the nine months ended July 1, 2017, the Company paid contingent consideration of $6.7 million, $6.5 million
and $15.5 million, respectively, related to the fiscal 2014 acquisition of Fafard & Brothers Ltd. (“Fafard”), the fiscal 2016 acquisition of a Canadian growing
media operation and the fiscal 2017 acquisition of American Agritech, L.L.C., d/b/a Botanicare (“Botanicare”).

The Company uses the “cumulative earnings” approach for determining cash flow presentation of distributions from unconsolidated affiliates.
Distributions received are included in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows as operating activities, unless the cumulative distributions
exceed the portion of the cumulative equity in the net earnings of the unconsolidated affiliate, in which case the excess distributions are deemed to be returns
of the investment and are classified as investing activities in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

RECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Income Taxes

On December 22, 2017, H.R.1 (the “Act,” formerly known as the “Tax Cuts and Jobs Act”) was signed into law. The Act provides for significant
changes to the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). Among other items, the
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Act implements a territorial tax system, imposes a one-time transition tax on deemed repatriated earnings of foreign subsidiaries, and permanently reduces the
federal corporate tax rate to 21% effective January 1, 2018.

Additionally, the SEC released Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118 (“SAB 118”) which provides guidance on accounting for the Act’s impact under
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 740, Income Taxes (“ASC 740”). The guidance in SAB 118 addresses certain fact patterns where the
accounting for changes in tax laws or tax rates under ASC 740 is incomplete upon issuance of an entity's financial statements for the reporting period in
which the Act is enacted. Under the staff guidance in SAB 118, in the financial reporting period in which the Act is enacted, the income tax effects of the Act
for which the accounting under ASC 740 is incomplete would be reported as a provisional amount based on a reasonable estimate (to the extent a reasonable
estimate can be determined), which would be subject to adjustment during a “measurement period” until the accounting under ASC 740 is complete. The
measurement period is limited to no more than one year beyond the enactment date under the staff's guidance. SAB 118 also describes supplemental
disclosures that should accompany the provisional amounts, including the reasons for the incomplete accounting, the additional information or analysis that is
needed, and other information relevant to why the registrant was not able to complete the accounting required under ASC 740 in a timely manner.

For discussion of the impacts of the Act that are material to the Company and required disclosures related to the Act pursuant to the guidance provided
under SAB 118, refer to “NOTE 11. INCOME TAXES.”

Share-Based Compensation

In March 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued an accounting standard update that simplifies several aspects of the
accounting for employee share-based payment transactions, including the accounting for income taxes, forfeitures, and statutory tax withholding
requirements, as well as classification in the statement of cash flows. The Company adopted this guidance effective October 1, 2017. The impact resulting
from the adoption of this amended guidance is summarized below.

The amended accounting guidance requires all excess tax benefits and tax deficiencies to be recognized as income tax benefit or expense on a
prospective basis in the period of adoption. The adoption of this provision of the amended accounting guidance resulted in the recognition of excess tax
benefits of $3.4 million and $5.4 million in the “Income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations™ line in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of
Operations for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, respectively. As the Company adopted the guidance on a prospective basis, prior year activity
has not been adjusted to conform with the current presentation and excess tax benefits of $0.5 million and $4.5 million have been recognized in the “Capital
in excess of stated value” line within “Total equity—controlling interest” in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets for the three and nine months ended
July 1, 2017, respectively.

The amended accounting guidance requires excess tax benefits to be classified as an operating activity in the statement of cash flows. Previously, excess
tax benefits were presented as a cash inflow from financing activities and cash outflow from operating activities. The Company has elected to present these
changes on a prospective basis and therefore the nine months ended July 1, 2017 has not been adjusted to conform with the current presentation.

The amended accounting guidance requires cash paid to a tax authority when shares are withheld to satisfy statutory income tax withholding obligations
to be classified as a financing activity in the statement of cash flows. The Company’s retrospective adoption of this provision of the amended accounting
guidance resulted in the classification of payments of $3.0 million and $9.2 million as cash outflows from financing activities for the nine months ended
June 30, 2018 and July 1, 2017, respectively.

The Company has elected to continue to estimate the number of awards expected to vest, as permitted by the amended accounting guidance, rather than
electing to account for forfeitures as they occur.

Derivatives and Hedging

In August 2017, the FASB issued an accounting standard update that modifies hedge accounting by making more hedge strategies eligible for hedge
accounting, amending presentation and disclosure requirements, and changing how companies assess effectiveness. The intent is to simplify application of
hedge accounting and increase transparency of information about an entity’s risk management activities. The Company early adopted this guidance effective
October 1, 2017 using a modified retrospective transition approach for cash flow hedges existing at the date of adoption and a prospective approach for
presentation and disclosure requirements. The adoption of this guidance did not have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.



Inventory

In July 2015, the FASB issued an accounting standard update that requires inventory to be measured “at the lower of cost and net realizable value,”
thereby simplifying the previous guidance that requires inventory to be measured at the lower of cost or market (market in this context is defined as one of
three different measures, one of which is net realizable value). The Company adopted this guidance on a prospective basis effective October 1, 2017. The
adoption of this guidance did not have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Income Taxes

In November 2015, the FASB issued an accounting standard update to simplify the presentation of deferred income taxes by requiring that deferred
income tax liabilities and assets be classified as noncurrent in a classified statement of financial position. The Company adopted this guidance on a
retrospective basis during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2017. As a result, deferred tax assets totaling $42.1 million have been presented net within other
liabilities in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet as of July 1, 2017. This amount was previously reported within prepaid and other current assets.

Goodwill

In January 2017, the FASB issued an accounting standard update which removes the requirement to compare the implied fair value of goodwill with its
carrying amount as part of step 2 of the goodwill impairment test. Goodwill impairment will now be the amount by which a reporting unit’s carrying value
exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the carrying amount of the goodwill. The Company adopted this guidance on a prospective basis during the third quarter
of fiscal 2018. The adoption of this guidance did not have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash
flows.

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Revenue Recognition from Contracts with Customers

In May 2014, the FASB issued amended accounting guidance that replaces most existing revenue recognition guidance under GAAP. This guidance
requires companies to recognize revenue in a manner that depicts the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in amounts that reflect the
consideration to which a company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The standard involves a five-step process that includes
identifying the contract with the customer, identifying the performance obligations in the contract, determining the transaction price, allocating the transaction
price to the performance obligations in the contract and recognizing revenue when the entity satisfies the performance obligations. The new standard also will
result in enhanced disclosures about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers.
Subsequently, additional guidance was issued on several areas including guidance intended to improve the operability and understandability of the
implementation of principal versus agent considerations and clarifications on the identification of performance obligations and implementation of guidance
related to licensing.

The Company has made progress on its evaluation of the amended guidance, including identification of revenue streams and customer contract reviews.
The Company is applying the five-step model to those contracts and revenue streams to evaluate the quantitative and qualitative impacts the new standard will
have on its business and reported revenues. The provisions are effective for the Company in the first quarter of fiscal 2019 and the Company expects to adopt
the guidance under the modified retrospective approach, which recognizes the cumulative effect of adoption as an adjustment to retained earnings at the date
of initial application. The Company’s revenue is primarily product sales, which are recognized at a point in time when title transfers to customers and the
Company has no further obligation to provide services related to such products. Although the Company is continuing to assess the impact of the amended
guidance, it generally anticipates that its timing of recognition of revenue will be substantially unchanged under the amended guidance. During the remainder
of fiscal 2018 the Company will implement any additional required changes to processes to meet the new accounting, reporting and disclosure requirements,
conclude the update of its internal controls and policies, and finalize the method of adoption.

Leases

In February 2016, the FASB issued an accounting standard update which significantly changes the accounting for leases. This guidance requires lessees
to recognize a lease liability for the obligation to make lease payments and a right-of-use asset for the right to use the underlying asset for the lease term. The
provisions are effective for the Company’s financial statements no later than the fiscal year beginning October 1, 2019 and require a modified retrospective
transition approach for leases that exist as of or are entered into after the beginning of either (i) the date of adoption or (ii) the earliest comparative period
presented in the financial statements. The Company is currently evaluating available transition methods and the impact of this standard on its consolidated
results of operations, financial position and cash flows. The Company has made progress on its evaluation of the amended guidance, including identification
of the population of leases affected, determining the information required to calculate the lease liability and right-of-use asset and evaluating models to assist
in future reporting.
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Cash Flow Presentation

In August 2016, the FASB issued an accounting standard update that amends the guidance on the classification of certain cash receipts and payments in
the statement of cash flows. The provisions are effective retrospectively for the Company’s financial statements no later than the fiscal year beginning
October 1, 2018, and are not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated cash flows.

Business Combinations

In January 2017, the FASB issued an accounting standard update that clarifies the definition of a business to provide additional guidance to assist in
evaluating whether transactions should be accounted for as an acquisition (or disposal) of either an asset or business. The provisions are effective
prospectively for the Company’s financial statements no later than the fiscal year beginning October 1, 2018, and are not expected to have a significant
impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Employee Benefit Plans

In March 2017, the FASB issued an accounting standard update which requires entities to (1) disaggregate the current-service-cost component from the
other components of net benefit cost (the “other components”) and present the current-service-cost with other current compensation costs for related
employees in the income statement, (2) present the other components elsewhere in the income statement and outside of income from operations if that
subtotal is presented and (3) limit the amount of costs eligible for capitalization (e.g., as part of inventory or property, plant, and equipment) to only the
service-cost component of net benefit cost. The provisions are effective for the Company’s financial statements no later than the fiscal year beginning October
1, 2018, and are required to be applied retrospectively for the presentation of cost components in the income statement and prospectively for the capitalization
of cost components. The provisions are not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations or
cash flows.

Reporting Comprehensive Income

In February 2018, the FASB issued an accounting standard update that would allow a reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive income to
retained earnings for stranded tax effects resulting from the Act. The provisions are effective for the Company’s financial statements no later than the fiscal
year beginning October 1, 2018. The update may be applied either in the period of adoption or retrospectively to each period in which the effect of the change
in the U.S. federal corporate income tax rate in the Act is recognized. The Company is continuing to assess the impact of the amended guidance.

NOTE 2. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
International Business

On August 31, 2017, the Company completed the sale of the International Business for cash proceeds of $150.6 million at closing, which is net of seller
financing provided by the Company in the form of a $29.7 million loan for seven years bearing interest at 5% for the first three years, with annual 2.5%
increases thereafter. The transaction also included contingent consideration, a non-cash investing activity, with a maximum payout of $23.8 million and an
initial fair value of $18.2 million, the payment of which will depend on the achievement of certain performance criteria by the International Business
following the closing of the transaction through fiscal 2020. The seller financing loan and the contingent consideration receivable are recorded in the “Other
assets” line in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. The cash proceeds from the sale were subject to post-closing adjustments and the Company
originally accrued $27.8 million at September 30, 2017 in the “Other current liabilities” line in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets related to the
expected working capital adjustment obligation in respect of the actual closing date financial position of the International Business. The Company recorded a
pre-tax gain on the sale of the International Business of $32.7 million, partially offset by the provision for income taxes of $12.0 million, during fiscal 2017.
The fiscal 2017 pre-tax gain included a write-off of accumulated foreign currency translation loss adjustments of $18.5 million. During the three and nine
months ended June 30, 2018, the Company recorded an increase to the pre-tax gain of $0.8 million and a decrease to the pre-tax gain of $2.8 million,
respectively, related to the resolution of the post-closing working capital adjustment obligation.

In connection with the transaction, the Company entered into certain ancillary agreements including a transition services agreement and a material
supply agreement, which are not material, as well as a licensing agreement for the use of certain of the Company’s brand names with an initial fair value of
$14.1 million.

During the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, the Company recognized $0.1 million and $1.6 million, respectively, as compared to $3.7
million and $7.6 million for the three and nine months ended July 1, 2017, respectively, in transaction related costs associated with the sale of the
International Business.
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Scotts LawnService®

On April 13, 2016, pursuant to the terms of the Contribution and Distribution Agreement (the “Contribution Agreement”) between the Company and
TruGreen Holding Corporation (“TruGreen Holdings”), the Company completed the contribution of the Scotts LawnService® business (the “SLS Business”)
to a newly formed subsidiary of TruGreen Holdings (the “TruGreen Joint Venture”) in exchange for a minority equity interest of approximately 30% in the
TruGreen Joint Venture. As a result, effective in its second quarter of fiscal 2016, the Company classified its results of operations for all periods presented to
reflect the SLS Business as a discontinued operation and classified the assets and liabilities of the SLS Business as held for sale.

During the three and nine months ended July 1, 2017, the Company recognized $0.1 million and $0.8 million, respectively, in transaction related costs
associated with the divestiture of the SLS Business. In addition, during the nine months ended July 1, 2017, the Company recorded a reduction to the gain on
the contribution of the SLS Business of $0.3 million related to a post-closing working capital adjustment.

Wild Bird Food

During fiscal 2014, the Company completed the sale of its U.S. and Canadian wild bird food business. As a result, effective in fiscal 2014, the Company
classified its results of operations for all periods presented to reflect the wild bird food business as a discontinued operation. During the three and nine months
ended June 30, 2018, the Company recognized a pre-tax charge of $65.0 million for a probable loss related to the previously disclosed legal matter In re
Morning Song Bird Food Litigation. This matter relates to a pending class-action lawsuit filed in 2012 in connection with the sale of wild bird food products
that were the subject of a voluntary recall in 2008 by the Company’s previously sold wild bird food business. Refer to “NOTE 12. CONTINGENCIES” for
more information.

The following table summarizes the results of discontinued operations for each of the periods presented:

THREE MONTHS ENDED NINE MONTHS ENDED
JUNE 30, JULY 1, JUNE 30, JULY 1,
2018 2017 2018 2017
(In millions)

Net sales $ — 104.6 $ — 262.8
Operating and exit costs — 91.4 1.5 238.1
Impairment, restructuring and other 65.1 3.8 66.6 8.3
Other expense, net — — — 0.1
(Gain) loss on sale / contribution of business (0.8) — 2.8 0.3
Interest expense — — — 0.4
Income (loss) from discontinued operations before income taxes (64.3) 9.4 (70.9) 15.6
Income tax expense (benefit) from discontinued operations (21.6) 2.1 (23.3) 3.9
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax $ 42.7) $ 73 $ 47.6) $ 11.7
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The following table summarizes the major classes of assets and liabilities held for sale:

JULY 1,
2017

(In millions)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 31.2
Accounts receivable, net 102.2
Inventories 53.4
Prepaid and other current assets 7.6
Property, plant and equipment, net 24.3
Goodwill and intangible assets, net 61.1
Other assets 15.2

Assets held for sale $ 295.0
Accounts payable $ 48.4
Other current liabilities 68.0
Long-term debt 8.9
Other liabilities 20.0

Liabilities held for sale $ 145.3

The Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows do not present the cash flows from discontinued operations separately from cash flows from
continuing operations. Cash provided by (used in) operating activities related to discontinued operations totaled $2.1 million and $(16.0) million for the nine
months ended June 30, 2018 and July 1, 2017, respectively. Cash used in investing activities related to discontinued operations totaled $35.3 million and $4.2
million for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 and July 1, 2017, respectively.

NOTE 3. ACQUISITIONS AND INVESTMENTS
FISCAL 2018
Sunlight Supply

On June 4, 2018, the Company’s Hawthorne segment acquired substantially all of the assets and certain liabilities of Sunlight Supply, Inc., Sunlight
Garden Supply, Inc., Sunlight Garden Supply, ULC, and IP Holdings, LL.C, and all of the issued and outstanding equity interests of Columbia River Industrial
Holdings, LLC (collectively “Sunlight Supply”). Sunlight Supply, based in Vancouver, Washington, is a leading developer, manufacturer, marketer and
distributer of horticultural, organics, lighting, and hydroponics products. Prior to the transaction, Sunlight Supply served as a non-exclusive distributor of the
Company. The estimated purchase price of Sunlight Supply was $459.1 million, a portion of which was paid by the issuance of 0.3 million common shares of
Scotts Miracle-Gro (“Common Shares”), a non-cash investing and financing activity, with a fair value of $23.4 million based on the average share price at the
time of payment. The purchase price included contingent consideration, a non-cash investing activity, with an estimated fair value of $3.1 million and a
maximum payout of $20.0 million, which will be paid by the Company contingent on the achievement of certain performance metrics of the Company
through the one year anniversary of the closing date. The purchase price is also subject to a post-closing net working capital adjustment for which the
Company has accrued $7.4 million at June 30, 2018 in the “Other current liabilities” line in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets related to the
expected obligation for this net working capital adjustment.

The preliminary valuation of the acquired assets included (i) $7.9 million of cash, prepaid and other current assets, (ii) $20.5 million of accounts
receivable, (iii) $85.2 million of inventory, (iv) $65.2 million of fixed assets, (v) $13.3 million of accounts payable and other current liabilities, (vi) $164.4
million of finite-lived identifiable intangible assets, and (vii) $129.2 million of tax-deductible goodwill. Identifiable intangible assets included tradenames of
$64.6 million, customer relationships of $96.9 million and non-competes of $2.9 million with useful lives ranging between 5 and 25 years. The estimated fair
values of the identifiable intangible assets were determined using an income-based approach, which includes market participant expectations of cash flows
that an asset will generate over the remaining useful life discounted to present value using an appropriate discount rate. Certain estimated values for the
acquisition, including goodwill, intangible assets, and property, plant and equipment, are not yet finalized and are subject to revision as additional information
becomes available and more detailed analysis is completed. The contingent consideration related to the Sunlight Supply acquisition is required to be
accounted for as a derivative instrument and is recorded at fair value in the “Other current liabilities” line in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets,
with changes in fair value recognized in the “Other income, net” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. The estimated fair
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value of the contingent consideration was $3.1 million as of June 30, 2018 and the fair value measurement was classified in Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy.

The acquisition of Sunlight Supply also resulted in the settlement of certain previously acquired customer relationships, which resulted in a non-cash
impairment charge of $17.5 million recognized in the “Impairment, restructuring and other” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations to
reduce the carrying value of these previously acquired customer relationship intangible assets to an estimated fair value of $30.9 million. The estimated fair
value was determined using an income-based approach, which includes market participant expectations of cash flows that an asset will generate over the
remaining useful life discounted to present value using an appropriate discount rate, and has been included as part of goodwill at June 30, 2018. Additionally,
the Company reduced the value of deferred tax liabilities associated with the write-off of these previously acquired customer relationship intangible assets by
$7.3 million, which was recognized in the “Income tax expense from continuing operations” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations for
the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018.

Net sales for Sunlight Supply included within the Hawthorne segment for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018 were $23.5 million. The
following unaudited pro forma information presents the combined results of operations as if the acquisition of Sunlight Supply had occurred at the beginning
of fiscal 2017. Sunlight Supply’s pre-acquisition results have been added to the Company’s historical results. The pro forma results contained in the table
below include adjustments for (i) the elimination of intercompany sales, (ii) amortization of acquired intangibles, (iii) increased depreciation expense as a
result of acquisition date fair value adjustments, (iv) increased cost of good sold for fiscal 2017 and decreased cost of goods sold for fiscal 2018 related to the
acquisition date inventory fair value adjustment, (v) increased interest expense related to the financing of the acquisition, (vi) removal of non-cash impairment
charge of $17.5 million for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018 related to the write-off of previously acquired customer relationship intangible
assets due to the acquisition of Sunlight Supply, (vii) adjustments to tax expense based on condensed consolidated pro forma results, and (viii) the impact of
additional Common Shares issued as a result of the acquisition. The pro forma information does not reflect the realization of any potential cost savings or
other synergies from the acquisition as a result of restructuring activities and other cost savings initiatives. These pro forma results have been prepared for
comparative purposes only and are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations as they would have been had the acquisitions occurred on the
assumed dates, nor is it necessarily an indication of future operating results.

THREE MONTHS ENDED NINE MONTHS ENDED
Unaudited Consolidated Pro Forma Results s it s iy
(In millions, except per common share data)
Proforma net sales $ 1,048.7 $ 1,086.0 $ 2,4458 $ 2,561.0
Proforma net income attributable to controlling interest 100.7 159.2 229.9 258.8
Proforma diluted net income per common share 1.78 2.64 3.98 4.25
Gavita

On May 26, 2016, the Company’s Hawthorne segment acquired majority control and a 75% economic interest in Gavita. Gavita’s former ownership
group initially retained a 25% noncontrolling interest in Gavita consisting of ownership of 5% of the outstanding shares of Gavita and a loan with interest
payable based on distributions by Gavita. The loan was recorded at fair value in the “Long-term debt” line in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. On
October 2, 2017, the Company’s Hawthorne segment acquired the remaining 25% noncontrolling interest in Gavita, including Agrolux, for $69.2 million,
plus payment of contingent consideration of $3.0 million. The carrying value of the 25% noncontrolling interest consisted of long-term debt of $55.6 million
and noncontrolling interest of $7.9 million. The difference between purchase price and carrying value was recognized in the “Capital in excess of stated
value” line within “Total equity—controlling interest” in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. For the three months ended December 30, 2017 and
the six months ended March 31, 2018, this payment of $69.2 million was incorrectly classified as an investing activity within the “Investments in acquired
businesses, net of cash acquired” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. For the nine months ended June 30, 2018, this payment has
been classified as a financing activity within the “Acquisition of noncontrolling interests” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows in
accordance with GAAP.
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Can-Filters

On October 11, 2017, the Company’s Hawthorne segment completed the acquisition of substantially all of the U.S. and Canadian assets of Can-Filters
Group Inc. (“Can-Filters”) for $74.1 million. Based in British Columbia, Can-Filters is a leading wholesaler of ventilation products for indoor and hydroponic
gardening and industrial markets worldwide. The preliminary valuation of the acquired assets included (i) $2.1 million of cash, prepaid and other current
assets, (ii) $7.7 million of inventory and accounts receivable, (iii) $4.4 million of fixed assets, (iv) $0.7 million of accounts payable and other current
liabilities, (v) $39.7 million of finite-lived identifiable intangible assets, and (vi) $20.9 million of tax-deductible goodwill. Identifiable intangible assets
included tradenames and customer relationships with useful lives of 25 years. The estimated fair value of the identifiable intangible assets were determined
using an income-based approach, which includes market participant expectations of cash flows that an asset will generate over the remaining useful life
discounted to present value using an appropriate discount rate. Net sales for Can-Filters included within the Hawthorne segment for the three and nine months
ended June 30, 2018 were $2.7 million and $10.7 million, respectively.

FISCAL 2017

Agrolux

On May 26, 2017, the Company’s majority-owned subsidiary Gavita completed the acquisition of Agrolux for $21.8 million. Based in the Netherlands,
Agrolux is a worldwide supplier of horticultural lighting. The purchase price included contingent consideration, a non-cash investing activity, with a
maximum payout and estimated fair value of $5.2 million, which was paid during the third quarter of fiscal 2018. The valuation of the acquired assets
included (i) $8.0 million of cash, prepaid and other current assets, (ii) $10.1 million of inventory and accounts receivable, (iii) $0.5 million of fixed assets,
(iv) $8.6 million of accounts payable and other current liabilities, (v) $6.7 million of short term debt, (vi) $16.1 million of finite-lived identifiable intangible
assets, (vii) $6.4 million of non-deductible goodwill, and (viii) $4.0 million of deferred tax liabilities. Identifiable intangible assets included tradenames and
customer relationships with useful lives ranging between 10 and 20 years. The estimated fair values of the identifiable intangible assets were determined
using an income-based approach, which includes market participant expectations of cash flows that an asset will generate over the remaining useful life
discounted to present value using an appropriate discount rate. Net sales for Agrolux included within the Hawthorne segment for the three and nine months
ended June 30, 2018 were $2.3 million and $28.3 million, respectively, as compared to $3.5 million for the three and nine months ended July 1, 2017.

Botanicare

On October 3, 2016, the Company’s Hawthorne segment completed the acquisition of Botanicare, an Arizona-based leading producer of plant nutrients,
plant supplements and growing systems used for hydroponic gardening, for $92.6 million. The purchase price included contingent consideration, a non-cash
investing activity, of $15.5 million, which was paid during the third quarter of fiscal 2017. The valuation of the acquired assets included (i) $1.2 million of
cash, prepaid and other current assets, (ii) $8.4 million of inventory and accounts receivable, (iii) $1.4 million of fixed assets, (iv) $2.3 million of accounts
payable and other current liabilities, (v) $53.0 million of finite-lived identifiable intangible assets, and (vi) $30.9 million of tax-deductible goodwill.
Identifiable intangible assets included tradenames, customer relationships and non-compete arrangements with useful lives ranging between 5 and 25 years.
The estimated fair values of the identifiable intangible assets were determined using an income-based approach, which includes market participant
expectations of cash flows that an asset will generate over the remaining useful life discounted to present value using an appropriate discount rate.

Other

On August 11, 2017, the Company’s Hawthorne segment completed the acquisition of substantially all of the assets of the exclusive manufacturer and
formulator of branded Botanicare® products for $32.0 million. The valuation of the acquired assets included (i) $0.3 million of inventory, (ii) $5.0 million of
finite-lived identifiable intangible assets, and (iii) $26.7 million of tax-deductible goodwill. Identifiable intangible assets included manufacturing know-how
and non-compete agreements with useful lives ranging between 5 and 10 years. The estimated fair values of the identifiable intangible assets were determined
using an income-based approach, which includes market participant expectations of cash flows that an asset will generate over the remaining useful life
discounted to present value using an appropriate discount rate.

During the first quarter of fiscal 2017, the Company’s U.S. Consumer segment completed two acquisitions of companies whose products support the
Company’s focus on the emerging areas of water positive landscapes and internet-enabled technology for an aggregate purchase price of $3.2 million. The
valuation of the acquired assets for the transactions included finite-lived identifiable intangible assets and goodwill of $2.8 million. During the third quarter of
fiscal 2017, the Company’s Hawthorne segment completed the acquisition of a company focused on the technology supporting hydroponic growing systems
for an aggregate purchase price of $3.5 million, which included finite-lived identifiable intangible assets of $3.2 million.

The condensed consolidated financial statements include the results of operations for these business combinations from the date of each acquisition.
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NOTE 4. INVESTMENT IN UNCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES

As of June 30, 2018, the Company held a minority equity interest of approximately 30% in the TruGreen Joint Venture. In addition, the Company and
TruGreen Holdings are parties to a limited liability company agreement (the “LLC Agreement”) governing the management of the TruGreen Joint Venture, as
well as certain ancillary agreements including a transition services agreement. The LLC Agreement provides the Company with minority representation on
the board of directors of the TruGreen Joint Venture. The Company’s interest had an initial fair value of $294.0 million and was previously accounted for
using the equity method of accounting, with the Company’s proportionate share of the TruGreen Joint Venture earnings reflected in the Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Operations. In the first quarter of fiscal 2018, the Company’s net investment and advances were reduced to a liability and the
Company will no longer record its proportionate share of the TruGreen Joint Venture earnings until the Company’s net investment and advances are no longer
a liability. The Company does not have any contractual obligations to fund losses of the TruGreen Joint Venture.

In connection with the closing of the transactions contemplated by the Contribution Agreement on April 13, 2016, the Company invested $18.0 million
in second lien term loan financing to the TruGreen Joint Venture. The second lien term loan receivable had a carrying value of $18.1 million and $18.0
million at June 30, 2018 and July 1, 2017, respectively, and is recorded in the “Other assets” line in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. The
Company was reimbursed $0.3 million and $0.8 million during the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, respectively, and had accounts receivable of
$0.7 million at June 30, 2018 for expenses incurred pursuant to a short-term transition services agreement and for payments on claims associated with
insurance programs. The Company did not receive distributions from unconsolidated affiliates during the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018. The
Company was reimbursed $1.3 million and $35.0 million during the three and nine months ended July 1, 2017, respectively, and had accounts receivable of
$8.3 million at July 1, 2017 for expenses incurred pursuant to a short-term transition services agreement and an employee leasing agreement. The Company
received distributions from unconsolidated affiliates intended to cover required tax payments of $1.4 million and $3.6 million during the three and nine
months ended July 1, 2017, respectively. The Company also had an indemnification asset of $2.5 million and $6.6 million at June 30, 2018 and July 1, 2017,
respectively, for future payments on claims associated with insurance programs. The Company has received cumulative distributions from the TruGreen Joint
Venture in excess of its investment balance, which resulted in an amount recorded in the “Distributions in excess of investment in unconsolidated affiliate”
line in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets of $21.9 million at June 30, 2018. In accordance with the applicable accounting guidance, the Company
reclassified the negative balance to the liability section of the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2017, the Company made a $29.4 million investment in an unconsolidated subsidiary whose products support the
professional U.S. industrial, turf and ornamental market (the “IT&O Joint Venture”). At June 30, 2018, the Company had an investment in line of credit
financing to the IT&O Joint Venture of $5.0 million, which is recorded in the “Other assets” line in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. During the
three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, respectively, the Company received repayments of $2.4 million and invested $5.0 million in this line of credit
financing.

The following table presents summarized financial information of the Company’s unconsolidated affiliates:

THREE MONTHS ENDED NINE MONTHS ENDED
JUNE 30, JULY 1, JUNE 30, JULY 1,
2018 2017 2018 2017
(In millions)
Revenue $ 488.2 $ 4716 S 936.1 $ 878.5
Gross margin 195.2 180.1 279.6 250.9
Selling and administrative expenses 105.5 115.9 221.9 208.8
Amortization expense 19.5 7.9 41.9 49.8
Interest expense 19.2 18.5 54.7 52.0
Restructuring and other charges 0.8 13.6 12.7 40.2
Net income (loss) $ 502 $ 242 % (51.6) $ (99.9)

Due to the seasonal nature of the lawn, tree and shrub care business, the TruGreen Joint Venture anticipates a net loss during the Company’s first and
second fiscal quarters. Net income (loss) does not include income taxes, which are recognized and paid by the partners of the unconsolidated affiliates. The
income taxes associated with the Company’s share of net income (loss) have been recorded in the “Income tax expense from continuing operations” line in
the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The Company recognized equity in (income) loss of unconsolidated affiliates of $(1.1) million and $(3.3) million for the three and nine months ended
June 30, 2018, respectively, as compared to $(7.2) million and $30.1 million and for the three and nine months ended July 1, 2017, respectively. The
Company’s share of restructuring and other charges incurred by the TruGreen
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Joint Venture was $5.0 million and $16.7 million for the three and nine months ended July 1, 2017, respectively. For the three and nine months ended July 1,
2017, these charges included $1.1 million for transaction costs, $3.0 million and $10.9 million, respectively, for nonrecurring integration and separation costs
and $0.9 million and $4.7 million, respectively, for a non-cash purchase accounting fair value write-down adjustment related to deferred revenue and
advertising.

NOTE 5. IMPAIRMENT, RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER

Activity described herein is classified within the “Cost of sales—impairment, restructuring and other,” “Impairment, restructuring and other” and
“Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax” lines in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The following table details impairment, restructuring and other charges for each of the periods presented:

THREE MONTHS ENDED NINE MONTHS ENDED
JUNE 30, JULY 1, JUNE 30, JULY 1,
2018 2017 2018 2017

(In millions)

Cost of sales—impairment, restructuring and other:

Restructuring and other charges $ 52 % — 52§ —

Property, plant and equipment impairments 5.9 — 5.9 —
Operating expenses:

Restructuring and other charges 1.8 0.4 11.9 1.3

Intangible asset impairments 17.5 — 17.5 —
Impairment, restructuring and other charges from continuing operations $ 304 $ 04 $ 405 $ 1.3
Restructuring and other charges from discontinued operations 65.1 3.8 66.6 8.3
Total impairment, restructuring and other charges $ 955 $ 42 $ 107.1  $ 9.6

The following table summarizes the activity related to liabilities associated with restructuring and other, excluding insurance reimbursement recoveries,
during the nine months ended June 30, 2018 (in millions):

Amounts accrued for restructuring and other at September 30, 2017 $ 12.1
Restructuring and other charges from continuing operations 17.1
Restructuring and other charges from discontinued operations 66.6
Payments and other 94
Amounts accrued for restructuring and other at June 30, 2018 $ 86.4

Included in restructuring accruals, as of June 30, 2018, is $0.9 million that is classified as long-term. Payments against the long-term accruals will be
incurred as the employees covered by the restructuring plan retire or through the passage of time. The remaining amounts accrued will continue to be paid out
over the course of the next twelve months.

Project Catalyst

In connection with the acquisition of Sunlight Supply during the third quarter of fiscal 2018, the Company announced the launch of an initiative called
Project Catalyst. Project Catalyst is a company-wide restructuring effort to reduce operating costs throughout the U.S. Consumer, Hawthorne and Other
segments and drive synergies from recent acquisitions within Hawthorne. The Company recognized charges of $30.4 million related to Project Catalyst for
the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018. During the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, the Company’s Hawthorne segment executed facility
closures and consolidations, terminated employees in duplicate roles, and recognized employee termination benefits of $0.4 million, impairment of property,
plant and equipment of $2.4 million, and facility closure costs of $3.8 million in the “Cost of sales—impairment, restructuring and other” line in the
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. The Company’s U.S. Consumer segment, in connection with an announced facility closure, recognized
employee termination benefits of $1.0 million and impairment of property, plant and equipment of $3.5 million during the three and nine months ended
June 30, 2018 in the “Cost of sales—impairment, restructuring and other” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. The Company’s
Hawthorne segment also recognized a non-cash impairment charge of $17.5 million related to the write-off of previously acquired customer relationship
intangible assets due to the acquisition of Sunlight Supply, and employee termination benefits of $1.8 million during the three and nine months ended June 30,
2018 in the “Impairment, restructuring and other” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. Costs incurred to date since the inception of
Project Catalyst are $25.9 million for the Hawthorne segment and $4.5 million for the U.S. Consumer segment.
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Project Focus

In the first quarter of fiscal 2016, the Company announced a series of initiatives called Project Focus designed to maximize the value of its non-core
assets and focus on emerging categories of the lawn and garden industry in its core U.S. business. During the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, the
Company’s U.S. Consumer segment recognized adjustments of zero and $0.1 million, respectively, related to previously recognized termination benefits
associated with Project Focus in the “Impairment, restructuring and other” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. During the three and
nine months ended July 1, 2017, the Company’s U.S. Consumer segment recognized charges of $0.4 million and $1.3 million, respectively, related to
termination benefits associated with Project Focus in the “Impairment, restructuring and other” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Costs incurred to date since the inception of the current Project Focus initiatives are $9.9 million for the U.S. Consumer segment, $1.0 million for the
Hawthorne segment and $1.2 million for the Other segment, related to transaction activity, termination benefits and facility closure costs.

On April 13, 2016, as part of Project Focus, the Company completed the contribution of the SLS Business to the TruGreen Joint Venture. Refer to
“NOTE 2. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS” for more information. During the three and nine months ended July 1, 2017, the Company recognized $0.1
million and $0.8 million, respectively, in transaction related costs associated with the divestiture of the SLS Business in the “Income (loss) from discontinued
operations, net of tax” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.

On August 31, 2017, the Company completed the sale of the International Business. As a result, effective in its fourth quarter of fiscal 2017, the
Company classified its results of operations for all periods presented to reflect the International Business as a discontinued operation and classified the assets
and liabilities of the International Business as held for sale. Refer to “NOTE 2. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS” for more information. During the three
and nine months ended June 30, 2018, the Company recognized $0.1 million and $1.6 million, respectively, as compared to $3.7 million and $7.6 million for
the three and nine months ended July 1, 2017, respectively, in transaction related costs associated with the sale of the International Business in the “Income
(loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Other

The Company recognized a pre-tax charge of $65.0 million for a probable loss related to the previously disclosed legal matter In re Morning Song Bird
Food Litigation for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018 in the “Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax” line in the Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Operations. Refer to “NOTE 2. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS” and “NOTE 12. CONTINGENCIES” for more information.

During the second quarter of fiscal 2018, the Company recognized a charge of $10.2 million for a probable loss on a previously disclosed legal matter in
the “Impairment, restructuring and other” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. Refer to “NOTE 12. CONTINGENCIES” for more
information.

NOTE 6. INVENTORIES

Inventories consisted of the following for each of the periods presented:

JUNE 30, JULY 1, SEPTEMBER 30,
2018 2017 2017
(In millions)
Finished goods $ 3275 $ 2431 $ 210.6
Work-in-process 53.4 45.1 57.6
Raw materials 119.6 125.0 139.3
Total inventories $ 5005 $ 4132 $ 407.5

Adjustments to reflect inventories at net realizable values were $12.6 million at June 30, 2018, $10.3 million at July 1, 2017 and $10.5 million at
September 30, 2017.

NOTE 7. MARKETING AGREEMENT

The Scotts Company LLC (“Scotts LLC”) is the exclusive agent of Monsanto for the marketing and distribution of consumer Roundup® non-selective
weedkiller products in the consumer lawn and garden market in certain countries pursuant to an Amended and Restated Exclusive Agency and Marketing
Agreement (the “Original Marketing Agreement”). In consideration for the rights granted to the Company under the Original Marketing Agreement in 1998,
the Company paid a marketing fee of $32.0 million to Monsanto. The Company deferred this amount on the basis that the payment will provide a future
benefit through commissions that will be earned under the Marketing Agreement. The economic useful life over which the marketing fee is being amortized is
20 years, with a remaining unamortized amount of $0.2 million and remaining amortization period of less than one year. On May
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15, 2015, the Company and Monsanto entered into an Amendment to the Original Marketing Agreement (the “Marketing Agreement Amendment”), a Lawn
and Garden Brand Extension Agreement (the “Brand Extension Agreement”) and a Commercialization and Technology Agreement (the “Commercialization
and Technology Agreement”). In consideration for these agreements, the Company paid $300.0 million to Monsanto and recorded this amount as intangible
assets for which the related economic useful life is indefinite.

On August 31, 2017, in connection with and as a condition to the consummation of the Company’s sale of its International Business, the Company
entered into the Second Amended and Restated Agency and Marketing Agreement (the “Restated Marketing Agreement”) and the Amended and Restated
Lawn and Garden Brand Extension Agreement - Americas (the “Restated Brand Extension Agreement”) to reflect the Company’s transfer and assignment to
the purchaser of such business of the Company’s rights and responsibilities under the Original Marketing Agreement, as amended, and the Brand Extension
Agreement relating to those countries subject to the sale. The Company included $32.6 million of the carrying amount of the intangible asset associated with
the Marketing Agreement Amendment with the International Business disposal unit on the basis of the asset’s historical carrying amount and this amount was
disposed of as part of the sale of the International Business.

From 1998 until May 15, 2015, the Original Marketing Agreement covered the United States and other specified countries, including Australia, Austria,
Belgium, Canada, France, Germany, the Netherlands and the United Kingdom. The Marketing Agreement Amendment expanded the covered territories and
countries to include all countries other than Japan and countries subject to a comprehensive U.S. trade embargo or certain other embargoes and trade
restrictions. The Restated Marketing Agreement further revised the covered territories and countries to only include Israel, China and every country
throughout the Caribbean and the continents of North America and South America that is not subject to a comprehensive U.S. trade embargo or certain other
embargoes and trade restrictions.

Under the terms of the Restated Marketing Agreement, the Company is entitled to receive an annual commission from Monsanto as consideration for
the performance of the Company’s duties as agent. The annual commission payable under the Restated Marketing Agreement is equal to (1) 50% of the actual
earnings before interest and income taxes of the consumer Roundup® business in the markets covered by the Restated Marketing Agreement for program
years 2017 and 2018 and (2) 50% of the actual earnings before interest and income taxes of the consumer Roundup® business in the markets covered by the
Restated Marketing Agreement in excess of $40.0 million for program years 2019 and thereafter. The Restated Marketing Agreement also requires the
Company to make annual payments of $18.0 million to Monsanto as a contribution against the overall expenses of the consumer Roundup® business. Unless
Monsanto terminates the Restated Marketing Agreement due to an event of default by the Company, the Restated Marketing Agreement requires a
termination fee payable to the Company equal to the greater of (1) $175.0 million or (2) four times (A) the average of the program earnings before interest
and income taxes for the three trailing program years prior to the year of termination, minus (B) $186.4 million. The term of the Restated Marketing
Agreement will continue indefinitely for all included markets unless and until otherwise terminated in accordance therewith.

The Restated Brand Extension Agreement provides the Company an exclusive license in every country throughout the North American continent, South
American continent, Central America, the Caribbean, Israel and China (in each case that is not subject to a comprehensive U.S. trade embargo or certain other
embargoes and trade restrictions) to use the Roundup® brand on additional products offered by the Company outside of the non-selective weed category
within the residential lawn and garden market. The application of the Roundup® brand to these additional products is subject to a product review and approval
process developed between the Company and Monsanto. Monsanto will maintain oversight of its brand, the handling of brand registrations covering these
new products and new territories, as well as primary responsibility for brand enforcement. The Restated Brand Extension Agreement has a term of twenty
years, which will automatically renew for additional successive twenty year terms, at the Company’s sole option, for no additional monetary consideration.

The Commercialization and Technology Agreement provides for the Company and Monsanto to further develop and commercialize new products and
technology developed at Monsanto and intended for introduction into the residential lawn and garden market. Under the Commercialization and Technology
Agreement, the Company receives an exclusive first look at new Monsanto technology and products and an annual review of Monsanto’s developing products
and technologies. The Commercialization and Technology Agreement has a term of thirty years (subject to early termination upon a termination event under
the Restated Marketing Agreement or the Restated Brand Extension Agreement).

Under the terms of the Restated Marketing Agreement, the Company performs sales, merchandising, warehousing and other selling and marketing
services, on behalf of Monsanto in the conduct of the consumer Roundup® business. The Company performs other services, including manufacturing
conversion services, pursuant to ancillary agreements. The actual costs incurred for these activities are charged to and reimbursed by Monsanto. The
Company records costs incurred for which the Company is the primary obligor on a gross basis, recognizing such costs in the “Cost of sales” line and the
reimbursement of these costs in the “Net sales” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations, with no effect on gross profit dollars or net
income.
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The gross commission earned under the Restated Marketing Agreement, the contribution payments to Monsanto and the amortization of the initial
marketing fee paid to Monsanto in 1998 are included in the calculation of net sales in the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. The
elements of the net commission and reimbursements earned under the Marketing Agreement and included in “Net sales” are as follows:

THREE MONTHS ENDED NINE MONTHS ENDED
JUNE 30, JULY 1, JUNE 30, JULY 1,
2018 2017 2018 2017
(In millions)
Gross commission $ 36.1 % 358 $ 70.7 $ 78.1
Contribution expenses 4.5) 4.5) (13.5) (13.5)
Amortization of marketing fee 0.2) 0.2) (0.6) (0.6)
Net commission 314 31.1 56.6 64.0
Reimbursements associated with Marketing Agreement 12.5 14.8 45.0 48.4
Total net sales associated with Marketing Agreement $ 439 $ 459 $ 1016 $ 112.4
NOTE 8. DEBT

The components of debt are as follows:

JUNE 30, JULY 1, SEPTEMBER 30,
2018 2017 2017

(In millions)
Credit Facilities:

Revolving loans $ 1,0845 $ 4648 $ 300.5

Term loans 262.5 277.5 273.8
Senior Notes — 5.250% 250.0 250.0 250.0
Senior Notes — 6.000% 400.0 400.0 400.0
Receivables facility 285.0 250.0 80.0
Other 15.5 66.5 105.4
Total debt 2,297.5 1,708.8 1,409.7
Less current portions 314.5 289.1 143.1
Less unamortized debt issuance costs 7.6 8.9 8.6
Long-term debt $ 1,975.4 $ 1,410.8 $ 1,258.0

Credit Facilities

On October 29, 2015, the Company entered into the fourth amended and restated credit agreement (the “former credit agreement”), which provided the
Company and certain of its subsidiaries with five-year senior secured loan facilities in the aggregate principal amount of $1.9 billion that were comprised of a
revolving credit facility of $1.6 billion and a term loan in the original principal amount of $300.0 million (the “former credit facilities”). The former credit
agreement also provided the Company with the right to seek additional committed credit under the agreement in an aggregate amount of up to $500.0 million
plus an unlimited additional amount, subject to certain specified financial and other conditions. Under the former credit agreement, the Company had the
ability to obtain letters of credit up to $100.0 million. Borrowings under the former credit facilities could be made in various currencies, including U.S.
dollars, euro, British pounds, Australian dollars and Canadian dollars. The terms of the former credit agreement included customary representations and
warranties, affirmative and negative covenants, financial covenants and events of default.

Under the terms of the former credit agreement, loans bore interest, at the Company’s election, at a rate per annum equal to either the ABR or Adjusted
LIBO Rate (both as defined in the former credit agreement) plus the applicable margin. The former credit facilities were guaranteed by substantially all of the
Company’s domestic subsidiaries, and were secured by (i) a perfected first priority security interest in all of the accounts receivable, inventory and equipment
of the Company and the Company’s domestic subsidiaries that are guarantors and (ii) the pledge of all of the capital stock of the Company’s domestic
subsidiaries that are guarantors.
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At June 30, 2018, the Company had letters of credit outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of $22.2 million, and $493.3 million of availability
under the former credit agreement. The weighted average interest rates on average borrowings under the former credit agreement were 4.0% and 3.8% for the
nine months ended June 30, 2018 and July 1, 2017, respectively.

On July 5, 2018, the Company entered into a fifth amended and restated credit agreement (the “Fifth A&R Credit Agreement”), providing the Company
and certain of its subsidiaries with five-year senior secured loan facilities in the aggregate principal amount of $2.3 billion, comprised of a revolving credit
facility of $1.5 billion and a term loan in the original principal amount of $800.0 million (the “Fifth A&R Credit Facilities”). The Fifth A&R Credit
Agreement also provides the Company with the right to seek additional committed credit under the agreement in an aggregate amount of up to $500.0
million plus an unlimited additional amount, subject to certain specified financial and other conditions. The Fifth A&R Credit Agreement replaces the former
credit agreement, and will terminate on July 5, 2023. The revolving credit facility will be available for issuance of letters of credit up to $75.0 million.
Borrowings under the Fifth A&R Credit Facilities may be made in various currencies, including U.S. dollars, euro, British pounds and Canadian dollars. The
terms of the Fifth A&R Credit Agreement include customary representations and warranties, customary affirmative and negative covenants, customary
financial covenants, and customary events of default. The proceeds of borrowings under the Fifth A&R Credit Facilities may be used: (i) to finance working
capital requirements and other general corporate purposes of the Company and its subsidiaries; and (ii) to refinance the amounts outstanding under the former
credit agreement. The former credit agreement would have terminated on October 29, 2020, if it had not been amended and restated pursuant to the Fifth
A&R Credit Agreement. As of June 30, 2018, the Company classified borrowings under the former credit facilities as long-term debt on the Condensed
Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Under the terms of the Fifth A&R Credit Agreement, loans made under the Fifth A&R Credit Facilities bear interest, at the Company’s election, at a rate
per annum equal to either (i) the Alternate Base Rate plus the Applicable Spread (each, as defined in the Fifth A&R Credit Agreement) or (ii) the Adjusted
LIBO Rate for the Interest Period in effect for such borrowing plus the Applicable Spread (all as defined in the Fifth A&R Credit Agreement). Swingline
Loans bear interest at the applicable Swingline Rate set forth in the Fifth A&R Credit Agreement. The Fifth A&R Credit Facilities are guaranteed by and
among the Company and certain of its domestic subsidiaries. The Fifth A&R Credit Agreement is secured by (i) a perfected first priority security interest in
all of the accounts receivable, inventory and equipment of the Company and certain of the Company’s domestic subsidiaries and (ii) the pledge of all of the
capital stock of certain of the Company’s domestic subsidiaries and a portion of the capital stock of certain of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries. The
collateral does not include any of the Company’s or the Company’s subsidiaries’ intellectual property.

The Fifth A&R Credit Agreement contains, among other obligations, an affirmative covenant regarding the Company’s leverage ratio on the last day of
each quarter ending on and after June 30, 2018 calculated as average total indebtedness, divided by the Company’s earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”), as adjusted pursuant to the terms of the Fifth A&R Credit Agreement (“Adjusted EBITDA”). The maximum
leverage ratio is: (i) 5.25 for the quarter ending June 30, 2018 through the second quarter of fiscal 2019, (ii) 5.00 for the third quarter of fiscal 2019 through
the first quarter of fiscal 2020, (iii) 4.75 for the second quarter of fiscal 2020 through the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020 and (iv) 4.50 for the first quarter of
fiscal 2021 and thereafter. The Company’s leverage ratio was 3.96 at June 30, 2018. The Fifth A&R Credit Agreement also contains an affirmative covenant
regarding the Company’s interest coverage ratio determined as of the end of each of its fiscal quarters ending on and after June 30, 2018. The interest
coverage ratio is calculated as Adjusted EBITDA divided by interest expense, as described in the Fifth A&R Credit Agreement, and excludes costs related to
refinancings. The minimum interest coverage ratio was 3.00 for the twelve months ended June 30, 2018. The Company’s interest coverage ratio was 5.81 for
the twelve months ended June 30, 2018. The Fifth A&R Credit Agreement allows the Company to make unlimited restricted payments (as defined in the Fifth
A&R Credit Agreement), including increased or one-time dividend payments and Common Share repurchases, as long as the leverage ratio resulting from the
making of such restricted payments is 4.00 or less. Otherwise the Company may only make restricted payments in an aggregate amount for each fiscal year
not to exceed the amount set forth in the Fifth A&R Credit Agreement for such fiscal year ($200.0 million for fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2019 and $225.0 million
for fiscal 2020 and thereafter).

Senior Notes - 5.250%

On December 15, 2016, Scotts Miracle-Gro issued $250.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.250% senior notes due 2026 (the “5.250% Senior
Notes”). The net proceeds of the offering were used to repay outstanding borrowings under the former credit facilities. The 5.250% Senior Notes represent
general unsecured senior obligations and rank equal in right of payment with the Company’s existing and future unsecured senior debt. The 5.250% Senior
Notes have interest payment dates of June 15 and December 15 of each year. The 5.250% Senior Notes may be redeemed, in whole or in part, on or after
December 15, 2021 at applicable redemption premiums. The 5.250% Senior Notes contain customary covenants and events of default and mature on
December 15, 2026. Substantially all of Scotts Miracle-Gro’s domestic subsidiaries serve as guarantors of the 5.250% Senior Notes.
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Senior Notes - 6.000%

On October 13, 2015, Scotts Miracle-Gro issued $400.0 million aggregate principal amount of 6.000% senior notes due 2023 (the “6.000% Senior
Notes”). The net proceeds of the offering were used to repay outstanding borrowings under a prior credit agreement. The 6.000% Senior Notes represent
general unsecured senior obligations and rank equal in right of payment with the Company’s existing and future unsecured senior debt. The 6.000% Senior
Notes have interest payment dates of April 15 and October 15 of each year. The 6.000% Senior Notes may be redeemed, in whole or in part, on or after
October 15, 2018 at applicable redemption premiums. The 6.000% Senior Notes contain customary covenants and events of default and mature on October
15, 2023. Substantially all of Scotts Miracle-Gro’s domestic subsidiaries serve as guarantors of the 6.000% Senior Notes.

Receivables Facility

On September 25, 2015, the Company entered into an amended and restated master accounts receivable purchase agreement (the “MARP Agreement”).
The MARP Agreement provided for the discretionary sale by the Company, and the discretionary purchase by the participating banks, on a revolving basis, of
accounts receivable generated by sales to three specified debtors in an aggregate amount not to exceed $400.0 million. The MARP Agreement terminated
effective October 14, 2016 in accordance with its terms upon the Company’s repayment of its outstanding obligations thereunder using $133.5 million
borrowed under the former credit agreement.

On April 7, 2017, the Company entered into a Master Repurchase Agreement (including the annexes thereto, the “Repurchase Agreement”) and a
Master Framework Agreement (the “Framework Agreement” and, together with the Repurchase Agreement, the “Receivables Facility”). Under the
Receivables Facility, the Company may sell a portfolio of available and eligible outstanding customer accounts receivable to the purchasers and
simultaneously agrees to repurchase the receivables on a weekly basis. The eligible accounts receivable consist of up to $250.0 million in accounts receivable
generated by sales to three specified customers. The Receivables Facility is considered a secured financing with the customer accounts receivable, related
contract rights and proceeds thereof (and the collection accounts into which the same are deposited) constituting the collateral therefor. The repurchase price
for customer accounts receivable bears interest at LIBOR (with a zero floor), as defined in the Repurchase Agreement, plus 0.90%.

On August 25, 2017, the Company entered into Amendment No. 1 to Master Framework Agreement (the “Amendment”). The Amendment (i) extends
the expiration date of the Receivables Facility from August 25, 2017 to August 24, 2018, (ii) defines the seasonal commitment period of the Receivables
Facility as beginning on February 23, 2018 and ending on June 15, 2018, (iii) increases the eligible amount of customer accounts receivable which may be
sold from up to $250.0 million to up to $400.0 million and (iv) increases the commitment amount of the Receivables Facility during the seasonal commitment
period from up to $100.0 million to up to $160.0 million.

The Company accounts for the sale of receivables under the Receivables Facility as short-term debt and continues to carry the receivables on its
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet, primarily as a result of the Company’s requirement to repurchase receivables sold. There were $285.0 million in
borrowings on receivables pledged as collateral under the Receivables Facility as of June 30, 2018. The carrying value of the receivables pledged as collateral
was $316.7 million as of June 30, 2018. As of June 30, 2018, there was $0.7 million of availability under the Receivables Facility.

Other

In connection with the acquisition of a controlling interest in Gavita during fiscal 2016, the Company recorded a loan to the noncontrolling ownership
group of Gavita. On October 2, 2017, the Company’s Hawthorne segment acquired the remaining 25% noncontrolling interest in Gavita, which included
extinguishment of the loan to the noncontrolling ownership group of Gavita with a fair value and carrying value of $55.6 million. The fair value of the loan
was $40.5 million and $55.6 million at July 1, 2017 and September 30, 2017, respectively.

Interest Rate Swap Agreements

The Company has outstanding interest rate swap agreements with major financial institutions that effectively convert a portion of the Company’s
variable-rate debt to a fixed rate. The swap agreements had a maximum total U.S. dollar equivalent notional amount of $1,000.0 million at June 30, 2018,
$1,150.0 million at July 1, 2017 and $1,100.0 million at September 30, 2017, respectively. Interest payments made between the effective date and expiration
date are hedged by the swap agreements, except as noted below.
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The notional amount, effective date, expiration date and rate of each of these swap agreements outstanding at June 30, 2018 are shown in the table
below:

Notional Amount Effective Expiration Fixed
(in millions) Date (a) Date Rate
$ 200 ® 11/7/2016 8/7/2018 0.84%
150 © 2/7/2017 5/7/2019 2.12%
50 © 2/7/2017 5/7/2019 2.25%
50 2/28/2018 5/28/2019 2.01%
200 @ 12/20/2016 6/20/2019 2.12%
250 ® 1/8/2018 6/8/2020 2.09%
100 6/20/2018 10/20/2020 2.15%
(a) The effective date refers to the date on which interest payments were first hedged by the applicable swap agreement.
(b) Notional amount adjusts in accordance with a specified seasonal schedule. This represents the maximum notional amount at any point in time.
(o) Interest payments made during the three-month period of each year that begins with the month and day of the effective date are hedged by the swap
agreement.
(d) Interest payments made during the six-month period of each year that begins with the month and day of the effective date are hedged by the swap
agreement.

Estimated Fair Values

The methods and assumptions used to estimate the fair values of the Company’s debt instruments are described below:

Credit Facilities

The interest rate currently available to the Company fluctuates with the applicable LIBO rate, prime rate or Federal Funds Effective Rate and thus the
carrying value is a reasonable estimate of fair value. The fair value measurement for the credit facilities was classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

5.250% Senior Notes

The fair value of the 5.250% Senior Notes was determined based on the trading of the 5.250% Senior Notes in the open market. The difference between
the carrying value and the fair value of the 5.250% Senior Notes represents the premium or discount on that date. Based on the trading value on or around
June 30, 2018, the fair value of the 5.250% Senior Notes was approximately $239.1 million. The fair value measurement for the 5.250% Senior Notes was
classified in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

6.000% Senior Notes

The fair value of the 6.000% Senior Notes was determined based on the trading of the 6.000% Senior Notes in the open market. The difference between
the carrying value and the fair value of the 6.000% Senior Notes represents the premium or discount on that date. Based on the trading value on or around
June 30, 2018, the fair value of the 6.000% Senior Notes was approximately $413.5 million. The fair value measurement for the 6.000% Senior Notes was
classified in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

Accounts Receivable Pledged

The interest rate on the short-term debt associated with accounts receivable pledged under the Receivables Facility fluctuated with the applicable
LIBOR and thus the carrying value is a reasonable estimate of fair value. The fair value measurement for the Receivables Facility was classified in Level 2 of
the fair value hierarchy.

Weighted Average Interest Rate

The weighted average interest rates on the Company’s debt were 4.3% and 4.4% for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 and July 1, 2017, respectively.
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NOTE 9. RETIREMENT AND RETIREE MEDICAL PLANS

The following summarizes the components of net periodic benefit (income) cost for the retirement and retiree medical plans sponsored by the
Company:

THREE MONTHS ENDED
JUNE 30, 2018 JULY 1, 2017
u.s. International u.s. U.S. International u.s.
Pension Pension Medical Pension Pension Medical

(In millions)

Service cost $ — 02 $ 0.1 $ — 5 02 $ —
Interest cost 0.8 1.0 0.2 0.7 0.9 0.2
Expected return on plan assets 1.2) (2.0) — 1.2) (2.0) —
Net amortization 0.3 0.3 (0.3) 0.4 0.5 (0.1)
Net periodic benefit (income) cost $ 0.1) $ 0.5 $ — % 0.1) $ 04 $ 0.1

NINE MONTHS ENDED

JUNE 30, 2018 JULY 1, 2017
u.s. International u.s. u.s. International U.s.
Pension Pension Medical Pension Pension Medical

(In millions)

Service cost $ — % 0.7 $ 03 $ — 3 06 $ 0.2
Interest cost 2.3 3.1 0.5 2.1 2.8 0.5
Expected return on plan assets 3.5) (6.1) — 3.6) (5.9) —
Net amortization 1.1 0.9 (0.8) 1.2 1.4 (0.5)
Net periodic benefit (income) cost $ 0.1 $ a4 $ — % 03) $ 11 s 0.2
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NOTE 10. EQUITY

The following table provides a summary of the changes in total equity, equity attributable to controlling interest, and equity attributable to
noncontrolling interests for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 and July 1, 2017 (in millions):

Common Shares

and Capital in Accumulated Other Total Equity -
Excess of Stated Retained Treasury Comprehensive Controlling Non-controlling Total
Value Earnings Shares Loss Interest Interest Equity
Balance at September 30, 2016 $ 401.7 $ 881.8 $ (451.4) $ (1169) $ 7152  $ 191 $ 734.3
Net income (loss) — 251.8 — 251.8 0.5 252.3
Other comprehensive income (loss) — — — 8.6 8.6 0.1 8.7
Share-based compensation 25.2 — — — 25.2 — 25.2
Dividends declared ($1.500 per share) — (90.5) — (90.5) — (90.5)
Treasury share purchases — — (184.3) — (184.3) — (184.3)
Treasury share issuances (20.2) — 25.6 — 5.4 — 5.4
Adjustment to noncontrolling interest due to
ownership change (1.0) — — — (1.0) 1.0 —
Distribution declared by AeroGrow — — — — 8.1) 8.1)
Balance at July 1, 2017 $ 405.7 $ 1,043.1 $ (610.1) $ (108.3) $ 7304 $ 126 $ 743.0
Balance at September 30, 2017 $ 4076  $ 978.2 $ (667.8) $ 69.2) $ 6488 $ 129 $ 661.7
Net income (loss) — 210.7 — — 210.7 (0.1) 210.6
Other comprehensive income (loss) — — — 14.2 14.2 — 14.2
Share-based compensation 30.0 — — — 30.0 — 30.0
Dividends declared ($1.590 per share) — (91.4) — (91.4) — (91.4)
Treasury share purchases — — (313.3) — (313.3) — (313.3)
Treasury share issuances (20.5) — 53.6 — 33.1 — 33.1
Acquisition of remaining noncontrolling
interest in Gavita (5.7) — — — (5.7) (7.9) (13.6)
Balance at June 30, 2018 $ 411.4 $ 1,097.5 $ (927.5) $ (55.00 $ 5264 $ 49 $ 531.3

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

During the second quarter of fiscal 2018, the Company repatriated cash from a foreign subsidiary resulting in the liquidation of substantially all of the
assets of the subsidiary and the write-off of accumulated foreign currency translation loss adjustments of $11.7 million within the “Other non-operating
(income) expense, net” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Share Repurchases

In August 2014, the Scotts Miracle-Gro Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $500.0 million of Common Shares over a five-year period
(effective November 1, 2014 through September 30, 2019). On August 3, 2016, Scotts Miracle-Gro announced that its Board of Directors authorized a $500.0
million increase to the share repurchase authorization ending on September 30, 2019. The amended authorization allows for repurchases of Common Shares
of up to $1.0 billion through September 30, 2019. The authorization provides the Company with flexibility to purchase Common Shares from time to time in
open market purchases or through privately negotiated transactions. All or part of the repurchases may be made under Rule 10b5-1 plans, which the Company
may enter into from time to time and which enable the repurchases to occur on a more regular basis, or pursuant to accelerated share repurchases. The share
repurchase authorization, which expires September 30, 2019, may be suspended or discontinued at any time, and there can be no guarantee as to the timing or
amount of any repurchases. During the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, Scotts Miracle-Gro repurchased 0.6 million and 3.3 million Common
Shares for $53.5 million and $310.3 million, respectively. From the inception of this share repurchase program in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014 through
June 30, 2018, Scotts Miracle-Gro repurchased approximately 8.1 million Common Shares for $701.8 million.
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On June 4, 2018, Scotts Miracle-Gro issued 0.3 million Common Shares, which represented a carrying value of $20.7 million, out of its treasury shares
for payment of a portion of the purchase price for the acquisition of Sunlight Supply.

Gavita

On October 2, 2017, the Company’s Hawthorne segment acquired the remaining 25% noncontrolling interest in Gavita, including Agrolux, for $69.2
million, plus payment of contingent consideration of $3.0 million. The carrying value of the 25% noncontrolling interest consisted of long-term debt of $55.6
million and noncontrolling interest of $7.9 million. The difference between purchase price and carrying value was recognized in the “Capital in excess of
stated value” line within “Total equity—controlling interest” in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Exercise of Outstanding AeroGrow Warrants

On November 29, 2016, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary SMG Growing Media, Inc. fully exercised its outstanding warrants to acquire
additional shares of common stock of AeroGrow for an aggregate warrant exercise price of $47.8 million in exchange for the issuance of 21.6 million shares
of common stock of AeroGrow, which increased the Company’s percentage ownership of AeroGrow’s outstanding shares of common stock (on a fully diluted
basis) from 45% to 80%. The financial results of AeroGrow have been consolidated into the Company’s consolidated financial statements since the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2014, when the Company obtained control of AeroGrow’s operations through increased involvement, influence and a working capital loan
provided to AeroGrow. Following the exercise of the warrants, the Board of Directors of AeroGrow declared a $40.5 million distribution ($1.21 per share)
payable on January 3, 2017 to shareholders of record on December 20, 2016. On January 3, 2017, AeroGrow paid a distribution of $8.1 million to its
noncontrolling interest holders.

Share-Based Awards

Scotts Miracle-Gro grants share-based awards annually to officers and certain other employees of the Company and non-employee directors of Scotts
Miracle-Gro. The share-based awards have consisted of stock options, restricted stock units, deferred stock units and performance-based awards. All of these
share-based awards have been made under plans approved by the shareholders of Scotts Miracle-Gro. If available, Scotts Miracle-Gro will typically use
treasury shares, or if not available, newly-issued Common Shares, in satisfaction of its share-based awards.

On October 30, 2017, the Company issued 0.2 million upfront performance-based award units, covering a four-year performance period, with an
estimated fair value of $20.2 million on the date of grant to certain Hawthorne segment employees as part of its Project Focus initiative. These awards vest
after approximately four years subject to the achievement of specific performance goals aligned with the strategic objectives of the Company’s Project Focus
initiatives. Based on the extent to which the performance goals are achieved, vested shares may range from 50 to 250 percent of the target award amount. The
performance goals are based on cumulative Hawthorne non-GA AP adjusted earnings. These performance-based award units accrue cash dividend equivalents
that are payable upon vesting of the awards.

The following is a summary of the share-based awards granted during each of the periods indicated:

NINE MONTHS ENDED
JUNE 30, JULY 1,
2018 2017

Employees

Restricted stock units 187,779 109,661

Performance units 246,430 487,809
Board of Directors

Deferred stock units 23,558 23,853
Total share-based awards 457,767 621,323
Aggregate fair value at grant dates (in millions) $ 424 $ 57.7

26



Total share-based compensation was as follows for each of the periods indicated:

THREE MONTHS ENDED NINE MONTHS ENDED
JUNE 30, JULY 1, JUNE 30, JULY 1,
2018 2017 2018 2017
(In millions)
Share-based compensation $ 144 $ 54 $ 300 $ 20.5
Tax benefit recognized 4.1 2.1 7.7 7.8
Stock Options

Aggregate stock option activity was as follows:

Wtd.
Avg.
No. of Exercise
Options Price
Awards outstanding at September 30, 2017 1,517,310 $ 53.05
Granted — —
Exercised (290,437) 29.24
Forfeited (4,303) 58.57
Awards outstanding at June 30, 2018 1,222,570 58.69
Exercisable 808,657 $ 53.57

At June 30, 2018, the total pre-tax compensation cost, net of estimated forfeitures, related to nonvested stock options not yet recognized was $0.4
million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 0.6 years. The intrinsic value of stock options exercised for the nine months
ended June 30, 2018 was $17.1 million. At June 30, 2018, the Company expects 0.4 million of the remaining unexercisable stock options (after forfeitures),
with a weighted-average exercise price of $68.68, intrinsic value of $5.9 million and average remaining term of 7.6 years, to vest in the future. The following
summarizes certain information pertaining to stock option awards outstanding and exercisable at June 30, 2018 (options in millions):

Awards Outstanding Awards Exercisable
witd. witd. witd. witd.
Avg. Avg. Avg. Avg.
No. of Remaining Exercise No. of Remaining Exercise

Range of Exercise Price Options Life Price Options Life Price
$38.81 — $49.19 0.4 268 $ 45.22 0.4 268 $ 45.22
$63.43 — $68.68 0.8 7.12 66.25 0.4 6.59 63.53
1.2 552 $ 58.69 0.8 447 $ 53.57

The intrinsic values of the stock option awards outstanding and exercisable at June 30, 2018 were as follows (in millions):

Outstanding $ 29.9
Exercisable 23.9

Restricted share-based awards

Restricted share-based award activity (including restricted stock units and deferred stock units) was as follows:

Witd. Avg.
Grant Date
No. of Fair Value
Units per Unit
Awards outstanding at September 30, 2017 291,519 $ 81.15
Granted 211,337 87.67
Vested (92,851) 67.63
Forfeited (729) 68.68
Awards outstanding at June 30, 2018 409,276  $ 87.60

At June 30, 2018, the total pre-tax compensation cost, net of estimated forfeitures, related to nonvested restricted share units not yet recognized was
$13.0 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.2 years.
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Performance-based awards

Performance-based award activity was as follows (based on target award amounts):

Witd. Avg.
Grant Date
No. of Fair Value
Units per Unit
Awards outstanding at September 30, 2017 596,933 $ 88.01
Granted 246,430 97.04
Vested (53,644) 63.43
Forfeited (3,037) 98.81
Awards outstanding at June 30, 2018 786,682 $ 92.47

At June 30, 2018, the total pre-tax compensation cost, net of estimated forfeitures, related to nonvested performance-based units not yet recognized was
$30.6 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.0 years.

NOTE 11. INCOME TAXES

On December 22, 2017, H.R.1 (the “Act,” formerly known as the “Tax Cuts and Jobs Act”) was signed into law and provides for significant changes to
the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). The Act has widespread applicability to companies, including impacting corporate tax
rates, business-related exclusions, deduction and credits, and international taxability. Among other items important to the Company, the Act implements a
territorial tax system, imposes a one-time transition tax on deemed repatriated earnings of foreign subsidiaries, and permanently reduces the federal corporate
tax rate to 21% effective January 1, 2018. As the Company’s fiscal year end falls on September 30, the statutory federal corporate tax rate for fiscal 2018 will
be prorated to 24.5%, with the statutory rate for fiscal 2019 and beyond at 21%.

The effective tax rates related to continuing operations for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 and July 1, 2017 were 8.3% and 35.1%, respectively.
The effective tax rate used for interim reporting purposes is based on management’s best estimate of factors impacting the effective tax rate for the full fiscal
year and includes the impact of discrete items recognized in the quarter. There can be no assurance that the effective tax rate estimated for interim financial
reporting purposes will approximate the effective tax rate determined at fiscal year end.

At September 30, 2017, the Company had a net deferred tax liability of $157.5 million. Under GAAP, the Company uses the asset and liability method
of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences
between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or
settled. The Company’s net deferred tax liability of $157.5 million was determined based on the current enacted federal tax rate of 35% prior to the passage of
the Act. As a result of the reduction in the corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21% under the Act, the Company estimates the value of its net deferred tax
liability has been reduced by $45.9 million, which has been recorded in the “Income tax expense from continuing operations” line in the Condensed
Consolidated Statement of Operations for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018. The Company’s actual write-down may vary from the current
estimate due to a number of uncertainties and factors, including the completion of the Company’s consolidated financial statements as of and for the year
ending September 30, 2018, and further clarifications of the Act which cannot be anticipated at this time. In accordance with SAB 118, any necessary
measurement adjustments will be recorded and disclosed within one year from the enactment date within the period the adjustments are determined.

The Act also provides for a one-time transition tax on “deemed repatriation” of accumulated foreign earnings for the year ended September 30, 2018.
The Company estimates U.S. federal tax on the deemed repatriation of $14.0 million. However, after the application of $10.7 million of foreign tax credits
generated from the repatriation, plus utilization of $3.8 million of foreign tax credit carryovers previously reserved under a full valuation allowance, partially
offset by other reserve needs, no cash payment is expected to be due. Additionally, state tax expense is expected to increase by $0.1 million as a result of the
deemed repatriation in the current fiscal year. These amounts have been recorded in the “Income tax expense from continuing operations” line in the
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018. While the Company believes this is a reasonable
estimate of the effects of the transition tax, it is subject to further analysis which cannot be completed until after the end of the fiscal year. The additional
information and analysis may cause the actual liability to differ from the current estimate. In accordance with SAB 118, any necessary measurement
adjustments will be recorded and disclosed within one year from the enactment date within the period the adjustments are determined. During the second
quarter of fiscal 2018, the Company repatriated cash from a foreign subsidiary resulting in the liquidation of substantially all of the assets of the subsidiary
and the

28



write-off of accumulated foreign currency translation loss adjustments of $11.7 million within the “Other non-operating (income) expense, net” line in the
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The Company does not currently have the information necessary to determine a reasonable estimate of the current or deferred impacts of certain aspects
of the Act including those related to executive compensation and international taxation that are not effective until the Company's fiscal year ended September
30, 2019. These include the potential impacts of the limitation on tax deductions for performance-based compensation of certain individuals and the so-called
“Global Intangible Low-Tax Income (GILTI)” and “Foreign Derived Intangible Income (FDII)” per the Act. Because of the complexity of the new GILTT tax
rules, the Company continues to evaluate this provision of the Act and the application of ASC 740. Under GAAP, the Company is permitted to make an
accounting policy election of either (1) treating taxes due on future U.S. inclusions in taxable income related to GILTI as a current-period expense when
incurred (the “period cost method”) or (2) factoring such amounts into a company’s measurement of its deferred taxes (the “deferred method”). The
Company’s selection of an accounting policy with respect to the new GILTI tax rules will depend, in part, on analyzing its global income to determine
whether it expects to have future U.S. inclusions in taxable income related to GILTI and, if so, what the impact is expected to be. Because whether the
Company expects to have future U.S. inclusions in taxable income related to GILTI depends on not only its current structure and estimated future results of
global operations but also its intent and ability to modify its structure and/or its business, the Company is not yet able to reasonably estimate the effect of this
provision of the Act. Therefore, in accordance with SAB 118, the Company has not made any adjustments related to potential GILTI tax in its financial
statements and has not made a policy election decision regarding whether to record deferred taxes on GILTI. Similarly, in accordance with SAB 118, the
Company has not adjusted its current or deferred taxes for the tax effects of FDII or the limitation on tax deductions for performance-based compensation in
the current period. Estimates of these amounts will be recorded in the first reporting period in which a reasonable estimate can be determined.

The Company reduced the value of deferred tax liabilities associated with the write-off of previously acquired customer relationship intangible assets by
$7.3 million, which was recognized in the “Income tax expense from continuing operations” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations for
the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018.

Scotts Miracle-Gro or one of its subsidiaries files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state, local and foreign jurisdictions.
Subject to the following exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to examination by these tax authorities for fiscal years prior to 2015. The Company is
currently under examination by certain U.S. state and local tax authorities. The tax periods under examination are limited to fiscal years 2012 through 2016.
In addition to the aforementioned audits, certain other tax deficiency notices and refund claims for previous years remain unresolved.

The Company currently anticipates that few of its open and active audits will be resolved within the next twelve months. The Company is unable to
make a reasonably reliable estimate as to when or if cash settlements with taxing authorities may occur. Although audit outcomes and the timing of audit
payments are subject to significant uncertainty, the Company does not anticipate that the resolution of these tax matters or any events related thereto will
result in a material change to its consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

NOTE 12. CONTINGENCIES

Management regularly evaluates the Company’s contingencies, including various lawsuits and claims which arise in the normal course of business,
product and general liabilities, workers’ compensation, property losses and other liabilities for which the Company is self-insured or retains a high exposure
limit. Self-insurance accruals are established based on actuarial loss estimates for specific individual claims plus actuarially estimated amounts for incurred
but not reported claims and adverse development factors applied to existing claims. Legal costs incurred in connection with the resolution of claims, lawsuits
and other contingencies generally are expensed as incurred. In the opinion of management, the assessment of contingencies is reasonable and related accruals,
in the aggregate, are adequate; however, there can be no assurance that final resolution of these matters will not have a material effect on the Company’s
financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Regulatory Matters

At June 30, 2018, $4.4 million was accrued in the “Other liabilities” line in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets for environmental actions, the
majority of which are for site remediation. The amounts accrued are believed to be adequate to cover such known environmental exposures based on current
facts and estimates of likely outcomes. Although it is reasonably possible that the costs to resolve such known environmental exposures will exceed the
amounts accrued, any variation from accrued amounts is not expected to be material.
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Other

The Company has been named as a defendant in a number of cases alleging injuries that the lawsuits claim resulted from exposure to asbestos-
containing products, apparently based on the Company’s historic use of vermiculite in certain of its products. In many of these cases, the complaints are not
specific about the plaintiffs’ contacts with the Company or its products. The cases vary, but complaints in these cases generally seek unspecified monetary
damages (actual, compensatory, consequential and punitive) from multiple defendants. The Company believes that the claims against it are without merit and
is vigorously defending against them. No accruals have been recorded in the Company’s consolidated financial statements as the likelihood of a loss is not
probable at this time; and the Company does not believe a reasonably possible loss would be material to, nor the ultimate resolution of these cases will have a
material adverse effect on, the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. There can be no assurance that future developments related
to pending claims or claims filed in the future, whether as a result of adverse outcomes or as a result of significant defense costs, will not have a material
effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

In connection with the sale of wild bird food products that were the subject of a voluntary recall in 2008, the Company, along with its Chief Executive
Officer, have been named as defendants in four actions filed on and after June 27, 2012, which have been consolidated, and, on March 31, 2017, certified as a
class action in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California as In re Morning Song Bird Food Litigation, Lead Case No. 3:12-cv-
01592-JAH-AGS. The plaintiffs allege various statutory and common law claims associated with the Company’s sale of wild bird food products and a plea
agreement entered into in previously pending government proceedings associated with such sales. The plaintiffs allege, among other things, a class action on
behalf of all persons and entities in the United States who purchased certain bird food products. The plaintiffs assert: (i) hundreds of millions of dollars in
monetary damages (actual, compensatory, consequential, and restitution); (ii) punitive and treble damages; (iii) injunctive and declaratory relief; (iv) pre-
judgment and post-judgment interest; and (v) costs and attorneys’ fees. The Company and its Chief Executive Officer dispute the plaintiffs’ assertions and
intend to vigorously defend the consolidated action. As a result of recent developments, the Company recognized a pre-tax charge of $65.0 million for a
probable loss related to this matter for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018 in the “Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax” line in
the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. There can be no assurance that future developments with respect to this action, whether as a result of
an adverse outcome or as a result of significant defense costs, will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows.

The Company has been named as a defendant in In re Scotts EZ Seed Litigation, Case No. 12-cv-4727 (VB), a New York and California class action
lawsuit filed August 9, 2012 in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York that asserts claims under false advertising and other
legal theories based on a marketing statement on the Company’s EZ Seed grass seed product from 2009 to 2012. The plaintiffs seek, on behalf of themselves
and purported class members, various forms of monetary and non-monetary relief, including statutory damages that they contend could amount to hundreds of
millions of dollars. The Company has defended the action vigorously, and disputes the plaintiffs’ claims and theories, including the recoverability of statutory
damages. In 2017, the Court eliminated certain claims, narrowed the case in certain respects, and permitted the case to continue proceeding as a class
action. On August 7, 2017, the Court requested briefs on the Company’s request for interlocutory review of issues relating to the recoverability of statutory
damages in a class action by the United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit and, on August 31, 2017, approved that request. On January 8, 2018,
however, the Second Circuit denied the interlocutory appeal request. The parties engaged in mediation on April 9, 2018 and agreed in principle to a
preliminary settlement of the outstanding claims on April 10, 2018. The preliminary settlement would require the Company to pay certain attorneys’ and
administrative fees and provide certain payments to the class members. The preliminary settlement will not be finalized until after the court approves the
settlement and a claims process determines the payments to be provided to the class members. During the second quarter of fiscal 2018, the Company
recognized a charge of $10.2 million for a probable loss related to this matter within the “Impairment, restructuring and other” line in the Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Operations. The resolution of the claims process may result in additional losses in excess of the amount accrued, however, the
Company does not believe a reasonably possible loss in excess of the amount accrued would be material to, nor have a material adverse effect on, the
Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

The Company is involved in other lawsuits and claims which arise in the normal course of business. These claims individually and in the aggregate are
not expected to result in a material effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
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NOTE 13. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

The Company is exposed to market risks, such as changes in interest rates, currency exchange rates and commodity prices. To manage a portion of the
volatility related to these exposures, the Company enters into various financial transactions. The utilization of these financial transactions is governed by
policies covering acceptable counterparty exposure, instrument types and other hedging practices. The Company does not hold or issue derivative financial
instruments for speculative trading purposes.

Exchange Rate Risk Management

The Company uses currency forward contracts to manage the exchange rate risk associated with intercompany loans with foreign subsidiaries that are
denominated in local currencies. At June 30, 2018, the notional amount of outstanding currency forward contracts was $244.0 million, with a fair value of
$0.7 million. At July 1, 2017, the notional amount of outstanding currency forward contracts was $266.2 million, with a negative fair value of $2.1 million.
At September 30, 2017, the notional amount of outstanding currency forward contracts was $268.3 million, with a fair value of $1.8 million. The fair value of
currency forward contracts is determined using forward rates in commonly quoted intervals for the full term of the contracts. The outstanding contracts will
mature over the next fiscal quarter.

Interest Rate Risk Management

The Company enters into interest rate swap agreements as a means to hedge its variable interest rate risk on debt instruments. Net amounts to be
received or paid under the swap agreements are reflected as adjustments to interest expense. Since the interest rate swap agreements have been designated as
hedging instruments, unrealized gains or losses resulting from adjusting these swaps to fair value are recorded as elements of accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) (“AOCI”) within the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. The fair value of the swap agreements is determined based on
the present value of the estimated future net cash flows using implied rates in the applicable yield curve as of the valuation date.

The Company has outstanding interest rate swap agreements with major financial institutions that effectively convert a portion of the Company’s
variable-rate debt to a fixed rate. The swap agreements had a maximum total U.S. dollar equivalent notional amount of $1,000.0 million at June 30, 2018,
$1,150.0 million at July 1, 2017 and $1,100.0 million at September 30, 2017. Refer to “NOTE 8. DEBT” for the terms of the swap agreements outstanding at
June 30, 2018. Included in the AOCI balance at June 30, 2018 was a gain of $1.3 million related to interest rate swap agreements that is expected to be
reclassified to earnings during the next twelve months, consistent with the timing of the underlying hedged transactions.

Commodity Price Risk Management

The Company enters into hedging arrangements designed to fix the price of a portion of its projected future urea requirements. The contracts are
designated as hedges of the Company’s exposure to future cash flow fluctuations associated with the cost of urea. The objective of the hedges is to mitigate
the earnings and cash flow volatility attributable to the risk of changing prices. Since the contracts have been designated as hedging instruments, unrealized
gains or losses resulting from adjusting these contracts to fair value are recorded as elements of AOCI within the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Realized gains or losses remain as a component of AOCI until the related inventory is sold. Upon sale of the underlying inventory, the gain or loss is
reclassified to cost of sales. Included in the AOCI balance at June 30, 2018 was a gain of $1.3 million related to urea derivatives that is expected to be
reclassified to earnings during the next twelve months, consistent with the timing of the underlying hedged transactions.

The Company also uses derivatives to partially mitigate the effect of fluctuating diesel costs on operating results. These financial instruments are carried
at fair value within the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. Changes in the fair value of derivative contracts that qualify for hedge accounting are
recorded in AOCI. The effective portion of the change in fair value remains as a component of AOCI until the related fuel is consumed, at which time the
accumulated gain or loss on the derivative contract is reclassified to cost of sales. Changes in the fair value of derivatives that do not qualify for hedge
accounting are recorded as an element of cost of sales. At June 30, 2018, there were no amounts included within AOCI.

The Company had the following outstanding commodity contracts that were entered into to hedge forecasted purchases:

JUNE 30, JULY 1, SEPTEMBER 30,
COMMODITY 2018 2017 2017
Urea 60,000 tons 78,000 tons 76,500 tons
Diesel 5,040,000 gallons 5,082,000 gallons 5,586,000 gallons
Heating Oil 1,092,000 gallons 1,302,000 gallons 1,386,000 gallons
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FEair Values of Derivative Instruments

The fair values of the Company’s derivative instruments were as follows:

ASSETS / (LIABILITIES)
DERIVATIVES DESIGNATED AS HEDGING JUNE 30, JULY 1, SEPTEMBER 30,
INSTRUMENTS BALANCE SHEET LOCATION 2018 2017 2017
(In millions)
Interest rate swap agreements Prepaid and other current assets $ 19 § 12 $ 1.3
Other assets 1.8 0.2 —
Other current liabilities — (1.1) (0.8)
Other liabilities — (0.5) 0.4)
Commodity hedging instruments Prepaid and other current assets 1.8 — 3.2
Other current liabilities — 1.7) —
Total derivatives designated as hedging instruments $ 55 $ 19 $ 3.3
DERIVATIVES NOT DESIGNATED AS HEDGING
INSTRUMENTS BALANCE SHEET LOCATION
Currency forward contracts Prepaid and other current assets $ 09 $ 04 $ 2.0
Other current liabilities (0.2) (2.5) 0.2)
Commodity hedging instruments Prepaid and other current assets 1.4 — 0.6
Other current liabilities — (0.6) —
Total derivatives not designated as hedging instruments 2.1 2.7) 2.4
Total derivatives $ 76 $ “46) $ 5.7

The effect of derivative instruments on AOCI and the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations was as follows:

AMOUNT OF GAIN / (LOSS) RECOGNIZED IN AOCI

THREE MONTHS ENDED NINE MONTHS ENDED
JUNE 30, JULY 1, JUNE 30, JULY 1,
DERIVATIVES IN CASH FLOW HEDGING RELATIONSHIPS 2018 2017 2018 2017
(In millions)
Interest rate swap agreements $ 08 $ 03) $ 33 § 2.2
Commodity hedging instruments 1.4 (0.9) 1.7 0.4)
Total $ 22 % 12 $ 50 $ 1.8
AMOUNT OF GAIN/ (LOSS)
RECLASSIFIED FROM AOCI THREE MONTHS ENDED NINE MONTHS ENDED
INTO JUNE 30, JULY 1, JUNE 30, JULY 1,
DERIVATIVES IN CASH FLOW HEDGING RELATIONSHIPS ~ STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS 2018 2017 2018 2017
(In millions)
Interest rate swap agreements Interest expense $ 06 $ 0.5 $ 08 $ 1.7)
Commodity hedging instruments Cost of sales 0.5 0.1 1.5 0.2)
Total $ 11 8 04) $ 23 $ (1.9)
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AMOUNT OF GAIN/ (LOSS)

THREE MONTHS ENDED NINE MONTHS ENDED
DERIVATIVES NOT DESIGNATED AS HEDGING RECOGNIZED IN JUNE 30, JULY 1, JUNE 30, JULY 1,
INSTRUMENTS STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS 2018 2017 2018 2017
(In millions)
Currency forward contracts Other income / expense, net  $ 123 % @7 $ 71 % 5.3
Commodity hedging instruments Cost of sales 1.0 (0.6) 2.5 (0.6)
Total $ 133 % 23) $ 96 $ 4.7

NOTE 14. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. A three-level fair value hierarchy
prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value. The hierarchy requires entities to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of
unobservable inputs. The three levels of inputs used to measure fair value are as follows:

Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets;
quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market
data.

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities. This
includes pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques that use significant unobservable inputs.

The following describes the valuation methodologies used for financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis, as well as the
general classification within the valuation hierarchy.

Derivatives

Derivatives consist of currency, interest rate and commodity derivative instruments. Currency forward contracts are valued using observable forward
rates in commonly quoted intervals for the full term of the contracts. Interest rate swap agreements are valued based on the present value of the estimated
future net cash flows using implied rates in the applicable yield curve as of the valuation date. Commodity contracts are measured using observable
commodity exchange prices in active markets.

These derivative instruments are classified within Level 2 of the valuation hierarchy and are included within other assets and other liabilities in the
Company’s Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, except for derivative instruments expected to be settled within the next 12 months, which are included
within prepaid and other current assets and other current liabilities.

Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid financial instruments with original maturities of three months or less. The carrying value of these cash
equivalents approximates fair value due to their short-term maturities.

Other

Other assets includes investment securities in non-qualified retirement plan assets and the Company’s option to increase its economic interest in Bonnie
Plants, Inc. (the “Bonnie Option”). Other liabilities includes the contingent consideration related to the acquisition of Sunlight Supply. Investment securities
in non-qualified retirement plan assets are valued using observable market prices in active markets and are classified within Level 1 of the valuation
hierarchy. The fair value of the Bonnie Option is determined using a simulation approach, whereby the total value of the loan receivable and optional
exchange for additional equity was estimated considering a distribution of possible future cash flows discounted to present value using an appropriate
discount rate, and is classified in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Long-Term Debt

In connection with the acquisition of a controlling interest in Gavita during fiscal 2016, the Company recorded a loan to the noncontrolling ownership
group of Gavita. On October 2, 2017, the Company’s Hawthorne segment acquired the remaining 25% noncontrolling interest in Gavita, which included
extinguishment of the loan to the noncontrolling ownership group of Gavita with
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a fair value and carrying value of $55.6 million. The fair value of the loan was $40.5 million and $55.6 million at July 1, 2017 and September 30, 2017,
respectively. The estimate required subjective assumptions to be made, including those related to future business results and discount rates. The fair value
measurement was based on significant inputs unobservable in the market and thus represented a Level 3 measurement.

The following table presents the Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at June 30, 2018:

Quoted Prices in Active

Markets for Significant Other Unobservable
Identical Assets Observable Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(In millions)

Assets
Cash equivalents $ 1.1 3 — — 1.1
Derivatives

Interest rate swap agreements — 3.7 — 3.7

Currency forward contracts — 0.9 — 0.9

Commodity hedging instruments — 3.2 — 3.2
Other 18.6 — 11.8 30.4
Total $ 19.7  $ 78 § 118 $ 39.3
Liabilities
Derivatives

Currency forward contracts $ —  $ 0.2) $ —  $ (0.2)
Other — — 3.1 3.1
Total $ — 3 02 $ 31 $ (3.3)

The following table presents the Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at July 1, 2017:

Quoted Prices in Active

Markets for Significant Other Unobservable
Identical Assets Observable Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(In millions)

Assets
Cash equivalents $ 221 $ — 5 — 5 22.1
Derivatives

Interest rate swap agreements — 1.4 — 1.4

Currency forward contracts — 0.4 — 0.4
Other 15.2 — 11.8 27.0
Total $ 373 $ 1.8 $ 11.8 §$ 50.9
Liabilities
Derivatives

Interest rate swap agreements $ — % (16) $ — % (1.6)

Currency forward contracts — (2.5) — (2.5)

Commodity hedging instruments — 2.3) — 2.3)
Long-term debt — — (40.5) (40.5)
Total $ —  § 64) $ (405 $ (46.9)
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The following table presents the Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at September 30, 2017:

Quoted Prices in Active

Markets for Significant Other Unobservable
Identical Assets Observable Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(In millions)

Assets
Cash equivalents $ 262 $ — 3 — % 26.2
Derivatives

Interest rate swap agreements — 1.3 — 1.3

Currency forward contracts — 2.0 — 2.0

Commodity hedging instruments — 3.8 — 3.8
Other 15.7 — 11.8 27.5
Total $ 419 % 71§ 118 $ 60.8
Liabilities
Derivatives

Interest rate swap agreements $ — 3 12 $ — 3 1.2)

Currency forward contracts — 0.2) — 0.2)
Long-term debt — — (55.6) (55.6)
Total $ — 5 14) $ (55.6) $ (57.0)

NOTE 15. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company divides its business into three reportable segments: U.S. Consumer, Hawthorne and Other. U.S. Consumer consists of the Company’s
consumer lawn and garden business located in the geographic United States. Hawthorne consists of the Company’s indoor, urban and hydroponic gardening
business. Other consists of the Company’s consumer lawn and garden business in geographies other than the U.S. and the Company’s product sales to
commercial nurseries, greenhouses and other professional customers. Corporate consists of general and administrative expenses and certain other
income/expense items not allocated to the business segments. This identification of reportable segments is consistent with how the segments report to and are
managed by the chief operating decision maker of the Company. These segments differ from those used in prior periods due to the change in the Company’s
internal organizational structure resulting from the Company’s divestiture of the International Business on August 31, 2017. As a result, effective in its fourth
quarter of fiscal 2017, the Company classified its results of operations for all periods presented to reflect the International Business as a discontinued
operation and classified the assets and liabilities of the International Business as held for sale. The prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform
with the new segments.

Segment performance is evaluated based on several factors, including income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes, amortization,
impairment, restructuring and other charges (“Segment Profit (Loss)”). Senior management uses this measure of profit (loss) to evaluate segment performance
because the Company believes this measure is indicative of performance trends and the overall earnings potential of each segment.
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The following tables present financial information for the Company’s reportable segments for the periods indicated:

Net sales:
U.S. Consumer
Hawthorne
Other
Consolidated

Segment Profit (Loss):
U.S. Consumer
Hawthorne
Other
Total Segment Profit (Loss)
Corporate
Intangible asset amortization
Impairment, restructuring and other
Equity in income (loss) of unconsolidated affiliates
Interest expense
Other non-operating income (expense), net

Income from continuing operations before income taxes

Total assets:
U.S. Consumer
Hawthorne
Other
Corporate
Assets held for sale
Consolidated
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THREE MONTHS ENDED NINE MONTHS ENDED
JUNE 30, JULY 1, JUNE 30, JULY 1,
2018 2017 2018 2017
(In millions)
$ 8109 $ 8014 § 11,8571 § 1,902.5
74.2 72.4 192.8 195.2
109.5 99.6 179.6 167.7
$ 9946 $ 9734 $ 2,2295 $ 2,265.4
$ 2431 % 2464 $ 4914 % 521.8
(3.6) 103 (6.6) 26.5
13.1 12.9 10.6 14.3
252.6 269.6 495.4 562.6
(29.2) (27.7) (87.8) (85.4)
(7.3) (5.4) (21.0) (16.4)
(30.4) (0.4) (40.5) (1.3)
1.1 7.2 3.3 (30.1)
(23.2) (21.8) (63.6) (58.5)
2.6 — (4.2) _
$ 166.2 $ 2215  $ 2816 $ 370.9
JUNE 30, JULY 1, SEPTEMBER 30,
2018 2017 2017
(In millions)
$ 2,0541 $ 2,0404 $ 1,650.3
1,099.5 558.8 648.0
208.0 219.6 150.7
202.3 188.3 298.0
— 295.0 —
$ 3,563.9 $ 3,302.1  $ 2,747.0




NOTE 16. FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR SUBSIDIARY GUARANTORS AND NON-GUARANTORS

The 6.000% and 5.250% Senior Notes were issued on October 13, 2015 and December 15, 2016, respectively, and are guaranteed by certain of the
Company’s domestic subsidiaries and, therefore, the Company reports condensed consolidating financial information in accordance with SEC Regulation S-X
Rule 3-10, Financial Statements of Guarantors and Issuers of Guaranteed Securities Registered or Being Registered. The guarantees are “full and
unconditional,” as those terms are used in Regulation S-X Rule 3-10, except that a subsidiary’s guarantee will be released in certain customary circumstances,
such as (1) upon any sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the subsidiary (including by way of merger or consolidation) to any
person other than Scotts Miracle-Gro or any “restricted subsidiary” under the indentures governing the 6.000% and 5.250% Senior Notes; (2) if the subsidiary
merges with and into Scotts Miracle-Gro, with Scotts Miracle-Gro surviving such merger; (3) if the subsidiary is designated an “unrestricted subsidiary” in
accordance with the indentures governing the 6.000% and 5.250% Senior Notes or otherwise ceases to be a “restricted subsidiary” (including by way of
liquidation or dissolution) in a transaction permitted by such indenture; (4) upon legal or covenant defeasance; (5) at the election of Scotts Miracle-Gro
following the subsidiary’s release as a guarantor under the new credit agreement, except a release by or as a result of the repayment of the new credit
agreement; or (6) if the subsidiary ceases to be a “restricted subsidiary” and the subsidiary is not otherwise required to provide a guarantee of the 6.000% and
5.250% Senior Notes pursuant to the indentures governing the 6.000% and 5.250% Senior Notes.

The following 100% directly or indirectly owned subsidiaries fully and unconditionally guarantee at June 30, 2018 the 6.000% and 5.250% Senior
Notes on a joint and several basis: Gutwein & Co., Inc.; Hyponex Corporation; Miracle-Gro Lawn Products, Inc.; OMS Investments, Inc.; Rod McLellan
Company; Sanford Scientific, Inc.; Scotts Temecula Operations, LLC; Scotts Manufacturing Company; Scotts Products Co.; Scotts Professional Products Co.;
Scotts-Sierra Investments LLC; SMG Growing Media, Inc.; Swiss Farms Products, Inc.; SMGM LLC; The Scotts Company LLC; The Hawthorne Gardening
Company; Hawthorne Hydroponics LLC; HGCI, Inc.; GenSource, Inc.; and SLS Holdings, Inc. (collectively, the “Guarantors”). Effective in the three-month
period ending July 1, 2017, American Agritech, L.L.C. was merged into Hawthorne Hydroponics LLC, and has been classified as a Guarantor for all periods
presented.

The following information presents Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018 and July 1,
2017, Condensed Consolidating Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018 and July 1, 2017, Condensed
Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 and July 1, 2017, and Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheets as of
June 30, 2018, July 1, 2017 and September 30, 2017. The condensed consolidating financial information presents, in separate columns, financial information
for: Scotts Miracle-Gro on a Parent-only basis, carrying its investment in subsidiaries under the equity method; Guarantors on a combined basis, carrying
their investments in subsidiaries which do not guarantee the debt (collectively, the “Non-Guarantors”) under the equity method; Non-Guarantors on a
combined basis; and eliminating entries. The eliminating entries primarily reflect intercompany transactions, such as interest expense, accounts receivable and
payable, short and long-term debt, and the elimination of equity investments, return on investments and income in subsidiaries. Because the Parent is
obligated to pay the unpaid principal amount and interest on all amounts borrowed by the Guarantors or Non-Guarantors under the credit facility (and was
obligated to pay the unpaid principal amount and interest on all amounts borrowed by the Guarantors and Non-Guarantors under the previous senior secured
five-year revolving loan facility), the borrowings and related interest expense for the loans outstanding of the Guarantors and Non-Guarantors are also
presented in the accompanying Parent-only financial information, and are then eliminated. Included in the Parent Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash
Flows for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 and July 1, 2017 are $1,087.3 million and $511.1 million, respectively, of dividends paid by the Guarantors
and Non-Guarantors to the Parent representing return of investments and as such are classified within cash flows from investing activities. Included in the
Parent Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 are $12.2 million of dividends paid by the Guarantors and
Non-Guarantors to the Parent representing return on investments and as such are classified within cash flows from operating activities.
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THE SCOTTS MIRACLE-GRO COMPANY
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations
for the three months ended June 30, 2018

(In millions)

(Unaudited)
Subsidiary Non- Eliminations/
Parent Guarantors Guarantors Consolidations Consolidated

Net sales $ — % 8724 $ 1222  $ — 3 994.6
Cost of sales — 543.0 92.9 — 635.9
Cost of sales—impairment, restructuring and other — 10.9 0.2 — 11.1
Gross profit — 318.5 29.1 — 347.6
Operating expenses:

Selling, general and administrative — 117.5 26.7 0.3 144.5

Impairment, restructuring and other — 4.9) 24.2 — 19.3

Other (income) expense, net 0.2) (1.0) (0.7) — (1.9)
Income (loss) from operations 0.2 206.9 (21.1) 0.3) 185.7
Equity (income) loss in subsidiaries (92.9) 5.4 — 87.5 —
Equity in (income) loss of unconsolidated affiliates — — (1.1) — (1.1)
Interest expense 21.1 15.0 0.8 (13.7) 23.2
Other non-operating (income) expense, net (8.0) (2.5) (5.8) 13.7 (2.6)
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes 80.0 189.0 (15.0) (87.8) 166.2
Income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations 3.1) 47.5 3.7) — 40.7
Income (loss) from continuing operations 83.1 141.5 (11.3) (87.8) 125.5
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax — (43.6) 0.9 — (42.7)
Net income (loss) $ 831 $ 979 $ (10.4) $ 87.8) $ 82.8
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interest — — — 0.1 0.1
Net income (loss) attributable to controlling interest $ 831 $ 979 $ (104) $ 87.7) $ 82.9
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THE SCOTTS MIRACLE-GRO COMPANY
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations
for the nine months ended June 30, 2018
(In millions)

(Unaudited)
Subsidiary Non- Eliminations/
Parent Guarantors Guarantors Consolidations Consolidated

Net sales $ — 5 1,9719 $ 2576 $ — 5 2,229.5
Cost of sales — 1,225.5 202.0 — 1,427.5
Cost of sales—impairment, restructuring and other — 10.9 0.2 — 11.1
Gross profit — 735.5 55.4 — 790.9
Operating expenses:

Selling, general and administrative — 358.0 59.7 1.0 418.7

Impairment, restructuring and other — 5.2 24.2 — 294

Other (income) expense, net 0.7) (1.2) (1.4) — 3.3)
Income (loss) from operations 0.7 373.5 (27.1) (1.0) 346.1
Equity (income) loss in subsidiaries (247.0) 11.1 — 235.9 —
Equity in (income) loss of unconsolidated affiliates — — (3.3) — (3.3)
Interest expense 58.8 36.9 2.9 (35.0) 63.6
Other non-operating (income) expense, net (19.8) (7.4) (3.6) 35.0 4.2
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes 208.7 332.9 (23.1) (236.9) 281.6
Income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations 3.2) 28.5 (1.9) — 23.4
Income (loss) from continuing operations 211.9 304.4 (21.2) (236.9) 258.2
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax — (47.5) (0.1) — (47.6)
Net income (loss) $ 2119 % 2569 $ (21.3) $ (236.9) $ 210.6
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interest — — — 0.1 0.1
Net income (loss) attributable to controlling interest $ 2119  $ 2569 $ (21.3) $ (236.8) $ 210.7
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THE SCOTTS MIRACLE-GRO COMPANY
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
for the three months ended June 30, 2018
(In millions)

(Unaudited)
Subsidiary Non- Eliminations/
Parent Guarantors Guarantors Consolidations Consolidated

Net income (loss) $ 831 §$ 979 $ (104) $ (87.8) $ 82.8
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

Net foreign currency translation adjustment (5.3) — (5.3) 5.3 (5.3)

Net change in derivatives 1.1 0.9 — (0.9) 1.1

Net change in pension and other post-retirement benefits 0.4 0.2 0.2 (0.4) 0.4
Total other comprehensive income (loss) (3.8) 1.1 (5.1) 4.0 (3.8)
Comprehensive income (loss) $ 793 $ 9.0 $ (15.5) $ (83.8) $ 79.0
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THE SCOTTS MIRACLE-GRO COMPANY

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

for the nine months ended June 30, 2018

Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

Net foreign currency translation adjustment

Net change in derivatives

Net change in pension and other post-retirement benefits
Total other comprehensive income (loss)

Comprehensive income (loss)

(In millions)

(Unaudited)

Subsidiary Non- Eliminations/

Parent Guarantors Guarantors Consolidations Consolidated
2119 $ 2569 $ (213) $ (236.9) $ 210.6
10.3 — 10.3 (10.3) 10.3
2.7 0.2 — (0.2) 2.7
12 0.5 0.7 (1.2) 1.2
14.2 0.7 11.0 (11.7) 14.2
2261 $ 2576 $ (10.3) $ (2486) $ 224.8
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THE SCOTTS MIRACLE-GRO COMPANY

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

for the nine months ended June 30, 2018

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) OPERATING
ACTIVITIES @

INVESTING ACTIVITIES @

Proceeds from sale of long-lived assets

Post-closing working capital payment related to sale of
International Business

Investments in property, plant and equipment
Investments in loans receivable

Investments in acquired businesses, net of cash acquired
Other investing, net

Return of investments from affiliates

Investing cash flows from (to) affiliates

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Borrowings under revolving and bank lines of credit and
term loans

Repayments under revolving and bank lines of credit and
term loans

Dividends paid

Purchase of Common Shares

Payments on seller notes

Cash received from the exercise of stock options
Acquisition of noncontrolling interests
Financing cash flows from (to) affiliates

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

(©)

(In millions)

(Unaudited)

Subsidiary Non- Eliminations/
Parent Guarantors Guarantors Consolidations Consolidated
$ (13.6) $ 22) $ 264 $ (14.0) $ (3.4)
— 0.7 0.5 — 1.2
— (35.3) — — (35.3)
— (36.1) (4.6) — (40.7)
— (5.0) (0.3) — (5.3)
— (458.6) (34.3) — (492.9)
— 10.2 0.5 — 10.7
1,087.3 — — (1,087.3) —
(679.2) (80.9) (80.0) 840.1 —
408.1 (605.0) (118.2) (247.2) (562.3)
— 1,427.6 189.4 — 1,617.0
— (530.0) (138.7) — (668.7)
(89.6) (1,087.3) (14.0) 1,101.3 (89.6)
(313.6) — — — (313.6)
— — (8.8) — (8.8)
8.7 — — — 8.7
— — (69.2) — (69.2)
— 759.2 80.9 (840.1) —
(394.5) 569.5 39.6 261.2 475.8
— — (1.0) — (1.0)
— (37.7) (53.2) — (90.9)
— 39.8 80.7 — 120.5
$ — 5 21 % 275 $ — 5 29.6

Cash received by the Parent from the Guarantors and Non-Guarantors in the form of dividends in the amount of $1,087.3 million represent return of investments and
are included in cash flows from investing activities. Cash received by the Parent from the Guarantors and Non-Guarantors in the form of dividends in the amount
of $12.2 million represent return on investments and are included in cash flows from operating activities. Cash received by the Guarantors from the Non-Guarantors
in the form of dividends in the amount of $1.8 million represent return on investments and are included in cash flows from operating activities.

42



THE SCOTTS MIRACLE-GRO COMPANY
Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet
As of June 30, 2018
(In millions)

(Unaudited)
Subsidiary Non- Eliminations/
Parent Guarantors Guarantors Consolidations Consolidated
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ — 2.1 275 $ — 29.6
Accounts receivable, net — 305.1 82.7 — 387.8
Accounts receivable pledged — 316.7 — — 316.7
Inventories — 415.3 85.2 — 500.5
Prepaid and other current assets 1.9 54.4 28.1 — 84.4
Total current assets 1.9 1,093.6 223.5 — 1,319.0
Investment in unconsolidated affiliates — — 344 — 344
Property, plant and equipment, net — 454.6 63.0 — 517.6
Goodwill — 477.6 132.0 11.6 621.2
Intangible assets, net — 777.7 94.1 7.8 879.6
Other assets 8.0 167.3 16.8 — 192.1
Equity investment in subsidiaries 1,404.9 — — (1,404.9) —
Intercompany assets 1,110.4 381.6 — (1,492.0) —
Total assets $ 25252 $ 3,352.4 5638 $ (2,877.5) $ 3,563.9
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Current portion of debt $ 150 $ 302.6 119 $ (15.0) $ 314.5
Accounts payable — 161.8 33.8 — 195.6
Other current liabilities 8.3 273.5 334 — 315.2
Total current liabilities 23.3 737.9 79.1 (15.0) 825.3
Long-term debt 1,974.5 1,201.4 131.5 (1,332.0) 1,975.4
Distributions in excess of investment in unconsolidated affiliate — 21.9 — — 21.9
Other liabilities 1.0 153.0 51.0 5.0 210.0
Equity investment in subsidiaries — 57.5 — (57.5) —
Intercompany liabilities — — 122.4 (122.4) —
Total liabilities 1,998.8 2,171.7 384.0 (1,521.9) 3,032.6
Total equity—controlling interest 526.4 1,180.7 179.8 (1,360.5) 526.4
Noncontrolling interest — — — 4.9 4.9
Total equity 526.4 1,180.7 179.8 (1,355.6) 531.3
Total liabilities and equity $ 2,5252 $ 3,352.4 5638 $ (2,877.5) $ 3,563.9

43



Net sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit

Operating expenses:

Selling, general and administrative
Impairment, restructuring and other
Other (income) expense, net

Income (loss) from operations

Equity (income) loss in subsidiaries

Other non-operating (income) loss

Equity in (income) loss of unconsolidated affiliates

Interest expense

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations
Income (loss) from continuing operations

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax

Net income (loss)

Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interest
Net income (loss) attributable to controlling interest

(In millions)

THE SCOTTS MIRACLE-GRO COMPANY
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations
for the three months ended July 1, 2017

(Unaudited)
Subsidiary Non- Eliminations/
Parent Guarantors Guarantors Consolidations Consolidated

— 8453 § 1281 $ — $ 973.4

— 492.1 97.9 — 590.0

— 353.2 30.2 — 383.4

— 132.2 20.9 0.3 153.4

— 0.4 — — 0.4
(0.2) (4.0) (2.3) — (6.5)

0.2 224.6 11.6 (0.3) 236.1
(160.6) (8.2) — 168.8 —
(6.6) — (3.7) 10.3 —
— (7.2) — — (7.2)

19.6 1.1 1.4 (10.3) 21.8
147.8 228.9 13.9 (169.1) 221.5
(4.4) 75.5 5.8 — 76.9
152.2 153.4 8.1 (169.1) 144.6
— 0.2) 7.5 — 7.3
1522 $ 1532 $ 156 $ (169.1) $ 151.9
152.2  $ 1532 $ 156 $ (169.1) $ 151.9

44



THE SCOTTS MIRACLE-GRO COMPANY

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations
for the nine months ended July 1, 2017

Net sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Operating expenses:

Selling, general and administrative

Impairment, restructuring and other

Other (income) expense, net
Income (loss) from operations
Equity (income) loss in subsidiaries
Other non-operating (income) loss
Equity in (income) loss of unconsolidated affiliates
Interest expense
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net income (loss)
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interest
Net income (loss) attributable to controlling interest

(In millions)

(Unaudited)
Subsidiary Non- Eliminations/
Parent Guarantors Guarantors Consolidations Consolidated

— 2,010.8 $ 2546 $ — $ 2,265.4

— 1,191.3 189.5 — 1,380.8

— 819.5 65.1 — 884.6

— 384.1 51.3 1.0 436.4

— 1.3 — — 1.3
(0.6) (10.4) (1.6) — (12.6)

0.6 444.5 15.4 (1.0) 459.5

(276.1) (14.0) — 290.1 —

(18.4) — (13.6) 32.0 —

— 30.0 0.1 — 30.1

54.9 32.3 3.3 (32.0) 58.5

240.2 396.2 25.6 (291.1) 370.9

(12.5) 132.5 10.3 — 130.3

252.7 263.7 15.3 (291.1) 240.6

— 0.1 11.6 — 11.7

252.7  § 263.8 $ 269 $ (291.1) $ 252.3
— — — (0.5) (0.5)

2527 $ 2638 $ 269 $ (291.6) $ 251.8
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THE SCOTTS MIRACLE-GRO COMPANY
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
for the three months ended July 1, 2017

(In millions)

(Unaudited)
Subsidiary Non- Eliminations/
Parent Guarantors Guarantors Consolidations Consolidated

Net income (loss) $ 1522 $ 1532 $ 156 $ (169.1) $ 151.9
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

Net foreign currency translation adjustment 5.8 — 5.8 (5.8) 5.8

Net change in derivatives (0.8) (1.0) — 1.0 (0.8)

Net change in pension and other post-retirement benefits 0.5 0.2 0.3 (0.5) 0.5
Total other comprehensive income (loss) 5.5 (0.8) 6.1 (5.3) 5.5
Comprehensive income (loss) $ 157.7  $ 1524 $ 21.7 % (174.4) $ 157.4
Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interest — — — 0.1) 0.1)
Comprehensive income attributable to controlling interest $ 157.7 $ 152.4 $ 21.7  $ (1745) $ 157.3
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THE SCOTTS MIRACLE-GRO COMPANY
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
for the nine months ended July 1, 2017
(In millions)

(Unaudited)
Subsidiary Non- Eliminations/
Parent Guarantors Guarantors Consolidations Consolidated

Net income (loss) $ 252.7  $ 2638 $ 269 $ (291.1) $ 252.3
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

Net foreign currency translation adjustment 3.6 — 3.6 (3.6) 3.6

Net change in derivatives 3.7 0.2) — 0.2 3.7

Net change in pension and other post-retirement benefits 1.4 0.4 1.0 1.4 1.4
Total other comprehensive income (loss) 8.7 0.2 4.6 (4.8) 8.7
Comprehensive income (loss) $ 261.4 $ 2640 $ 315 $ (295.9) $ 261.0
Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interest — — — (0.6) (0.6)
Comprehensive income attributable to controlling interest $ 261.4 $ 2640 $ 315 $ (296.5) $ 260.4
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THE SCOTTS MIRACLE-GRO COMPANY
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
for the nine months ended July 1, 2017
(In millions)

(Unaudited)
Subsidiary Non- Eliminations/
Parent Guarantors Guarantors Consolidations Consolidated

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ (28.2) $ 216.1  $ (95.8) $ 05) $ 91.6
INVESTING ACTIVITIES ©

Proceeds from sale of long-lived assets — 4.9 0.1 — 5.0

Investments in property, plant and equipment — (36.1) (5.9) — (42.0)

Net (investments in) distributions from unconsolidated affiliates — — 0.2) — 0.2)

Investments in acquired businesses, net of cash acquired — (80.5) (8.7) — (89.2)

Return of investments from affiliates 511.1 32.4 — (543.5) —

Investing cash flows from (to) affiliates (464.5) (248.2) — 712.7 —

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 46.6 (327.5) (14.7) 169.2 (126.4)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Borrowings under revolving and bank lines of credit and term

loans — 1,152.3 210.5 — 1,362.8

Repayments under revolving and bank lines of credit and term

loans — (973.6) (231.7) — (1,205.3)

Proceeds from issuance of 5.250% Senior Notes 250.0 — — — 250.0

Financing and issuance fees (3.8) (0.5) — — 4.3)

Dividends paid (89.4) (511.1) (0.5) 511.6 (89.4)

Distribution paid by Aerogrow to noncontrolling interest — — (40.5) 324 8.1

Purchase of Common Shares (183.0) — — = (183.0)

Payments on seller notes — (15.5) (13.2) — (28.7)

Excess tax benefits from share-based payment arrangements 45 — — — 4.5

Cash received from the exercise of stock options 3.3 — — — 3.3

Financing cash flows from (to) affiliates — 464.5 248.2 (712.7) —

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (18.4) 116.1 172.8 (168.7) 101.8

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash — — 2.0 — 2.0
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents — 4.7 64.3 — 69.0
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period excluding cash
classified within assets held for sale — 2.7 25.9 — 28.6
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period classified within
assets held for sale — — 21.5 — 21.5
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period — 2.7 47.4 — 50.1
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ —  $ 74 $ 1117  $ — 3 119.1
(a) Cash received by the Parent from the Guarantors and Non-Guarantors in the form of dividends in the amount of $511.1 million represent return of investments and

are included in cash flows from investing activities. Cash received by the Guarantors from the Non-Guarantors in the form of distributions in the amount of $32.4
million represent return of investments and are included in cash flows from investing activities. Cash received by the Guarantor from the Non-Guarantor in the form
of dividends in the amount of $0.5 million represent return on investments and are included in the cash flows from operating activities.
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Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Accounts receivable pledged
Inventories
Assets held for sale

Prepaid and other current assets

Total current assets

Investment in unconsolidated affiliates

Property, plant and equipment, net
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Other assets
Equity investment in subsidiaries
Intercompany assets

Total assets

Current liabilities:
Current portion of debt
Accounts payable
Liabilities held for sale
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Other liabilities
Equity investment in subsidiaries
Intercompany liabilities
Total liabilities
Total equity—controlling interest
Noncontrolling interest
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

THE SCOTTS MIRACLE-GRO COMPANY
Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet
As of July 1, 2017
(In millions)

(Unaudited)
Subsidiary Non- Eliminations/
Parent Guarantors Guarantors Consolidations Consolidated
ASSETS
$ — 5 7.4 805 $ — 87.9
— 283.7 88.4 — 372.1
— 277.8 — — 277.8
— 331.9 81.3 — 413.2
— — 295.0 — 295.0
1.2 38.0 39.2 — 78.4
1.2 938.8 584.4 — 1,524.4
— 65.0 0.7 — 65.7
— 382.4 54.1 — 436.5
— 294.0 101.8 11.6 407.4
— 605.8 131.8 9.2 746.8
9.1 109.8 2.5 0.1) 121.3
1,112.1 — — (1,112.1) —
1,008.9 58.4 — (1,067.3) —
$ 2,131.3  $ 2,454.2 8753 % (2,158.7) $ 3,302.1
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
$ 150 $ 265.8 233 $ (15.0) $ 289.1
— 134.8 40.8 = 175.6
— — 145.3 — 145.3
8.1 214.1 37.3 — 259.5
23.1 614.7 246.7 (15.0) 869.5
1,377.3 642.8 126.9 (736.2) 1,410.8
0.5 221.1 52.4 4.8 278.8
— 90.1 — (90.1) —
— — 299.7 (299.7) —
1,400.9 1,568.7 725.7 (1,136.2) 2,559.1
730.4 885.5 149.6 (1,035.1) 730.4
— — — 12.6 12.6
730.4 885.5 149.6 (1,022.5) 743.0
$ 2,1313 $ 2,454.2 8753 $ (2,158.7) $ 3,302.1
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THE SCOTTS MIRACLE-GRO COMPANY
Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

As of September 30, 2017
(In millions)
(Unaudited)
Subsidiary Non- Eliminations/
Parent Guarantors Guarantors Consolidations Consolidated
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ —  $ 39.8 80.7 $ — % 120.5
Accounts receivable, net — 137.6 60.1 — 197.7
Accounts receivable pledged — 88.9 — — 88.9
Inventories — 314.0 93.5 — 407.5
Prepaid and other current assets 1.3 43.4 22.4 — 67.1
Total current assets 1.3 623.7 256.7 — 881.7
Investment in unconsolidated affiliates — — 31.1 — 31.1
Property, plant and equipment, net — 406.4 61.3 — 467.7
Goodwill — 320.7 109.3 11.6 441.6
Intangible assets, net — 606.3 133.8 8.8 748.9
Other assets 8.1 158.3 9.6 — 176.0
Equity investment in subsidiaries 1,112.8 — — (1,112.8) —
Intercompany assets 759.7 — — (759.7) —
Total assets $ 1,881.9 $ 2,115.4 601.8 $ (1,852.1) $ 2,747.0
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Current portion of debt $ 15.0 $ 97.8 453 $ (15.0) $ 143.1
Accounts payable — 124.9 28.2 — 153.1
Other current liabilities 17.1 191.5 39.7 — 248.3
Total current liabilities 32.1 414.2 113.2 (15.0) 544.5
Long-term debt 1,200.7 508.6 108.0 (559.3) 1,258.0
Distributions in excess of investment in unconsolidated affiliate — 21.9 — — 21.9
Other liabilities 0.3 197.4 58.2 5.0 260.9
Equity investment in subsidiaries — 82.6 — (82.6) —
Intercompany liabilities — 17.1 152.7 (169.8) —
Total liabilities 1,233.1 1,241.8 432.1 (821.7) 2,085.3
Total equity—controlling interest 648.8 873.6 169.7 (1,043.3) 648.8
Noncontrolling interest — — — 12.9 12.9
Total equity 648.8 873.6 169.7 (1,030.4) 661.7
Total liabilities and equity $ 11,8819 $ 2,115.4 6018 $ (1,852.1) $ 2,747.0
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The purpose of this discussion is to provide an understanding of the financial condition and results of operations of The Scotts Miracle-Gro Company
(“Scotts Miracle-Gro”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, together with Scotts Miracle-Gro, the “Company,” “we” or “us”) by focusing on changes in certain
key measures from year-to-year. This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) is divided into the following sections:

*  Executive summary

*  Results of operations

*  Segment results

* Liquidity and capital resources
*  Regulatory matters

+  Critical accounting policies and estimates

This MD&A should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included in
Scotts Miracle-Gro’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017 (the “2017 Annual Report”).

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

We are dedicated to delivering strong, long-term financial results and outstanding shareholder returns by providing products of superior quality and
value to enhance users’ growing environments. We are a leading manufacturer and marketer of branded consumer lawn and garden products. We are the
exclusive agent of Monsanto for the marketing and distribution of consumer Roundup® non-selective weedkiller products within the United States and certain
other specified countries. Through Hawthorne, we are a leading manufacturer, marketer and distributor of nutrients, growing media, advanced indoor garden,
lighting and ventilation systems and accessories for hydroponic gardening.

In the first quarter of fiscal 2016, we announced a series of initiatives called Project Focus designed to maximize the value of our non-core assets and
focus on emerging categories of the lawn and garden industry in our core U.S. business. On August 31, 2017, we completed the divestiture of our consumer
lawn and garden businesses located in Australia, Austria, Belgium, Czech Republic, France, Germany, Luxembourg, Poland and the United Kingdom (the
“International Business”). As a result, effective in our fourth quarter of fiscal 2017, we classified our results of operations for all periods presented to reflect
the International Business as a discontinued operation and classified the assets and liabilities of the International Business as held for sale. On April 13, 2016,
we completed the contribution of the Scotts LawnService® business (the “SLS Business”) to a newly formed subsidiary of TruGreen Holdings (the “TruGreen
Joint Venture”) in exchange for a minority equity interest of approximately 30% in the TruGreen Joint Venture. We now participate in the residential and
commercial lawn care, tree and shrub care and pest control services segments in the United States and Canada through our interest in the TruGreen Joint
Venture. For additional information, see “NOTE 2. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in the
2017 Annual Report.

On June 4, 2018, we acquired substantially all of the assets of Sunlight Supply, Inc. and certain of its affiliates (“Sunlight Supply”). Sunlight Supply is
the largest distributor of hydroponic products in the United States, and is engaged in the business of developing, manufacturing, marketing and distributing
horticultural, organics, lighting and hydroponics products, including lighting fixtures, nutrients, seeds and growing media, systems, trays, fans, filters,
humidifiers and dehumidifiers, timers, instruments, water pumps, irrigation supplies and hand tools. The estimated purchase price of Sunlight Supply was
$459.1 million, a portion of which was paid by the issuance of 0.3 million common shares of Scotts Miracle-Gro (“Common Shares”) with a fair value of
$23.4 million. The purchase price included contingent consideration with an estimated fair value of $3.1 million and a maximum payout of $20.0 million,
which will be paid by the Company contingent on the achievement of certain performance metrics of the Company through the one year anniversary of the
closing date. In connection with the acquisition of Sunlight Supply, we announced the launch of an initiative called Project Catalyst. Project Catalyst is a
company-wide restructuring effort to reduce operating costs throughout our U.S. Consumer, Hawthorne and Other segments and drive synergies from recent
acquisitions within Hawthorne.

Our operations are divided into three reportable segments: U.S. Consumer, Hawthorne and Other. U.S. Consumer consists of our consumer lawn and
garden business located in the geographic United States. Hawthorne consists of our indoor, urban and hydroponic gardening business. Other consists of our
consumer lawn and garden business in geographies other than the U.S. and our product sales to commercial nurseries, greenhouses and other professional
customers. Corporate consists of general and administrative expenses and certain other income/expense items not allocated to the business segments. This
division of reportable segments is consistent with how the segments report to and are managed by our chief operating decision maker. These segments
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differ from those used in prior periods due to the change in our internal organizational structure resulting from our divestiture of the International Business on
August 31, 2017.

As a leading consumer branded lawn and garden company, our product development and marketing efforts are largely focused on providing innovative
and differentiated products and continually increasing brand and product awareness to inspire consumers to create retail demand. We have implemented this
model for a number of years by focusing on research and development and investing approximately 4-5% of our annual net sales in advertising to support and
promote our products and brands. We continually explore new and innovative ways to communicate with consumers. We believe that we receive a significant
benefit from these expenditures and anticipate a similar commitment to research and development, advertising and marketing investments in the future, with
the continuing objective of driving category growth and profitably increasing market share.

Our net sales in any one year are susceptible to weather conditions in the markets in which our products are sold and our services are offered. For
instance, periods of abnormally wet or dry weather can adversely impact the sale of certain products, while increasing demand for other products, or delay the
timing of the provision of certain services. We believe that our diversified product line and our geographic diversification reduce this risk, although to a lesser
extent in a year in which unfavorable weather is geographically widespread and extends across a significant portion of the lawn and garden season. We also
believe that weather conditions in any one year, positive or negative, do not materially impact longer-term category growth trends.

Due to the seasonal nature of the lawn and garden business, significant portions of our products ship to our retail customers during our second and third
fiscal quarters, as noted in the chart below. Our annual net sales are further concentrated in the second and third fiscal quarters by retailers who rely on our
ability to deliver products closer to when consumers buy our products, thereby reducing retailers’ pre-season inventories.

Percent of Net Sales from Continuing
Operations by Quarter

2017 2016 2015
First Quarter 7.8% 6.1% 5.2%
Second Quarter 41.1% 44.6% 39.8%
Third Quarter 36.8% 35.4% 41.7%
Fourth Quarter 14.3% 13.9% 13.3%

In August 2014, the Scotts Miracle-Gro Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $500.0 million of Common Shares over a five-year period
(effective November 1, 2014 through September 30, 2019). On August 3, 2016, Scotts Miracle-Gro announced that its Board of Directors authorized a $500.0
million increase to the share repurchase authorization ending on September 30, 2019. The amended authorization allows for repurchases of Common Shares
of up to $1.0 billion through September 30, 2019. During the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, Scotts Miracle-Gro repurchased 0.6 million and 3.3
million Common Shares for $53.5 million and $310.3 million, respectively. From the inception of this share repurchase program in the fourth quarter of fiscal
2014 through June 30, 2018, Scotts Miracle-Gro repurchased approximately 8.1 million Common Shares for $701.8 million.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Effective in our fourth quarter of fiscal 2017, we classified our results of operations for all periods presented to reflect the International Business as a
discontinued operation. As a result, unless otherwise specifically stated, all discussions regarding results for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018
and July 1, 2017 reflect results from our continuing operations.

The following table sets forth the components of income and expense as a percentage of net sales:

THREE MONTHS ENDED NINE MONTHS ENDED
JUNE 30, JULY 1, JUNE 30, JULY 1,
2018 2017 2018 2017
Net sales 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Cost of sales 63.9 60.6 64.0 61.0
Cost of sales—impairment, restructuring and other 1.1 — 0.5 —
Gross profit 34.9 394 35.5 39.0
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative 14.5 15.8 18.8 19.3
Impairment, restructuring and other 1.9 — 1.3 0.1
Other income, net (0.2) 0.7) 0.1) (0.6)
Income from operations 18.7 24.3 15.5 20.3
Equity in (income) loss of unconsolidated affiliates (0.1) 0.7) 0.1) 1.3
Interest expense 2.3 2.2 2.9 2.6
Other non-operating (income) expense, net (0.3) — 0.2 —
Income from continuing operations before income taxes 16.7 22.8 12.6 16.4
Income tax expense from continuing operations 4.1 7.9 1.0 5.8
Income from continuing operations 12.6 14.9 11.6 10.6
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax (4.3) 0.7 2.1) 0.5
Net income 8.3 % 15.6 % 9.4 % 11.1 %

The sum of the components may not equal due to rounding.

Net Sales

Net sales for the three months ended June 30, 2018 were $994.6 million, an increase of 2.2% from net sales of $973.4 million for the three months
ended July 1, 2017. Net sales for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 were $2,229.5 million, a decrease of 1.6% from net sales of $2,265.4 million for the
nine months ended July 1, 2017. These changes in net sales were attributable to the following:

THREE MONTHS ENDED NINE MONTHS ENDED
JUNE 30, 2018 JUNE 30, 2018
Acquisitions 2.9 % 2.7 %
Foreign exchange rates 0.4 0.5
Pricing 1.4 (1.1)
Volume 0.3 3.7)
Change in net sales 2.2% (1.6)%

The increase in net sales for the three months ended June 30, 2018 was primarily driven by:

+ the addition of net sales from acquisitions in our Hawthorne segment, primarily from Sunlight Supply, Agrolux Holding B.V., and its
subsidiaries (collectively, “Agrolux”), and Can-Filters Group Inc. (“Can-Filters”);

+  the favorable impact of foreign exchange rates as a result of the weakening of the U.S. dollar relative to the euro and the Canadian dollar; and

* increased sales volume driven by increased sales of soils and mulch products in our U.S. Consumer segment and increased sales in our Other
segment from our business in Canada, partially offset by decreased sales of grass seed and fertilizer products in our U.S. Consumer segment and
hydroponic gardening products in our Hawthorne segment excluding the impact of acquisitions;
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»  partially offset by decreased pricing in our U.S. Consumer segment driven by higher customer rebates and sales mix; and
» decreased net sales associated with the Restated Marketing Agreement for consumer Roundup®.
The decrease in net sales for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 was primarily driven by:

* decreased sales volume driven by decreased sales of fertilizer and controls products in our U.S. Consumer segment and hydroponic gardening
products in our Hawthorne segment, partially offset by increased sales of soils and mulch products in our U.S. Consumer segment and increased
sales in our Other segment from our business in Canada;

* decreased pricing in our U.S. Consumer segment driven by higher customer rebates and sales mix; and
« decreased net sales associated with the Restated Marketing Agreement for consumer Roundup®;

+ partially offset by the addition of net sales from acquisitions in our Hawthorne segment, primarily from Sunlight Supply, Agrolux and Can-
Filters; and

+  the favorable impact of foreign exchange rates as a result of the weakening of the U.S. dollar relative to the euro and the Canadian dollar.
Cost of Sales

The following table shows the major components of cost of sales:

THREE MONTHS ENDED NINE MONTHS ENDED
JUNE 30, JULY 1, JUNE 30, JULY 1,
2018 2017 2018 2017
(In millions)

Materials $ 3586 $ 343.0 $ 7911  $ 784.8
Manufacturing labor and overhead 145.6 133.1 321.0 304.4
Distribution and warehousing 119.2 99.1 270.3 243.2
Roundup® reimbursements 12.5 14.8 45.1 48.4
$ 6359 $ 590.0 $ 11,4275 §$ 1,380.8
Impairment, restructuring and other 11.1 — 11.1 —
$ 647.0 $ 590.0 $ 1,4386 $ 1,380.8

Factors contributing to the change in cost of sales are outlined in the following table:

THREE MONTHS ENDED NINE MONTHS ENDED
JUNE 30, 2018 JUNE 30, 2018
(In millions)

Volume, product mix and other $ 442 % 41.9
Foreign exchange rates 2.6 8.7
Material costs 1.4 (0.6)
Roundup® reimbursements 2.3) 3.3)

$ 459 §$ 46.7
Impairment, restructuring and other 1.1 1.1
Change in cost of sales $ 570 $ 57.8

The increase in cost of sales for the three months ended June 30, 2018 was primarily driven by:
»  costs related to sales from acquisitions in our Hawthorne segment of $23.8 million, primarily from Sunlight Supply, Agrolux and Can-Filters;

» increased sales volume in our U.S. Consumer and Other segments, partially offset by decreased sales volume in our Hawthorne segment
excluding the impact of acquisitions;

* higher transportation costs included within “volume, product mix and other” associated with our U.S. Consumer, Hawthorne and Other
segments;
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the unfavorable impact of foreign exchange rates as a result of the weakening of the U.S. dollar relative to the euro and the Canadian dollar;
increased material costs in our U.S. Consumer segment; and

an increase in restructuring and other charges of $11.1 million related to charges incurred for facility closures, impairment of property, plant and
equipment and employee termination benefits associated with Project Catalyst;

partially offset by a decrease in net sales attributable to reimbursements under the Restated Marketing Agreement for consumer Roundup®.

The increase in cost of sales for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 was primarily driven by:

Gross Profit

costs related to sales from acquisitions in our Hawthorne segment of $49.8 million, primarily from Sunlight Supply, Agrolux and Can-Filters;

higher transportation costs included within “volume, product mix and other” associated with our U.S. Consumer, Hawthorne and Other
segments;

the unfavorable impact of foreign exchange rates as a result of the weakening of the U.S. dollar relative to the euro and the Canadian dollar; and

an increase in restructuring and other charges of $11.1 million related to charges incurred for facility closures, impairment of property, plant and
equipment and employee termination benefits associated with Project Catalyst;

partially offset by decreased sales volume in our U.S. Consumer and Hawthorne segments excluding the impact of acquisitions, partially offset
by increased sales volume in our Other segment; and

a decrease in net sales attributable to reimbursements under the Restated Marketing Agreement for consumer Roundup®.

As a percentage of net sales, our gross profit rate was 34.9% and 39.4% for the three months ended June 30, 2018 and July 1, 2017, respectively. As a
percentage of net sales, our gross profit rate was 35.5% and 39.0% for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 and July 1, 2017, respectively. Factors
contributing to the change in gross profit rate are outlined in the following table:

THREE MONTHS ENDED NINE MONTHS ENDED
JUNE 30, 2018 JUNE 30, 2018

Volume, product mix and other (1.6)% (1.5)%
Pricing (1.0) 0.8)
Acquisitions (0.6) (0.5)
Roundup® commissions and reimbursements — 0.2)
Material costs 0.1) —

(3.3)% (3.0)%
Impairment, restructuring and other 1.2) (0.5)
Change in gross profit rate (4.5)% (3.5)%

The decrease in gross profit rate for the three months ended June 30, 2018 was primarily driven by:

higher transportation costs included within “volume, product mix and other” associated with our U.S. Consumer, Hawthorne and Other
segments;

unfavorable product mix in our U.S. Consumer segment due to increased sales of mulch products and decreased sales of grass seed and fertilizer
products;

decreased pricing in our U.S. Consumer segment driven by higher customer rebates and sales mix;

an unfavorable net impact from acquisitions in our Hawthorne segment, primarily from Sunlight Supply, Agrolux and Can-Filters;

higher material costs in our U.S. Consumer segment; and

an increase in restructuring and other charges related to charges incurred for facility closures, impairment of property, plant and equipment and

employee termination benefits associated with Project Catalyst.
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The decrease in gross profit rate for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 was primarily driven by:

» higher transportation costs included within “volume, product mix and other” associated with our U.S. Consumer, Hawthorne and Other
segments;

» unfavorable leverage of fixed costs such as warehousing driven by lower sales volumes in our U.S. Consumer and Hawthorne segments;

» unfavorable product mix in our U.S. Consumer segment due to increased sales of mulch products and decreased sales of fertilizer products;
*  decreased pricing in our U.S. Consumer segment driven by higher customer rebates and sales mix;

» anunfavorable net impact from acquisitions in our Hawthorne segment, primarily from Sunlight Supply, Agrolux and Can-Filters;

» adecrease in net sales associated with the Restated Marketing Agreement for consumer Roundup®; and

* an increase in restructuring and other charges related to charges incurred for facility closures, impairment of property, plant and equipment and
employee termination benefits associated with Project Catalyst.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

The following table sets forth the components of selling, general and administrative expenses (“SG&A”):

THREE MONTHS ENDED NINE MONTHS ENDED
JUNE 30, JULY 1, JUNE 30, JULY 1,
2018 2017 2018 2017
(In millions)

Advertising $ 33.7 % 417 $ 91.1 § 107.4
Research and development 10.9 10.1 30.7 28.7
Share-based compensation 14.4 5.4 30.0 20.5
Amortization of intangibles 7.4 5.3 20.7 16.1
Other selling, general and administrative 78.1 90.9 246.2 263.7
$ 1445 $ 1534 $ 418.7 % 436.4

SG&A decreased $8.9 million during the three months ended June 30, 2018 compared to the three months ended July 1, 2017. Advertising expense
decreased $8.0 million, or 19.2%, during the three months ended June 30, 2018 compared to the three months ended July 1, 2017, driven by decreased media
spending in our U.S. Consumer segment. Share-based compensation increased $9.0 million during the three months ended June 30, 2018 compared to the
three months ended July 1, 2017 due to an increase in the expected payout percentage on long-term performance-based awards as a result of strong cash flow
performance over the last two years and expectations in future periods. Amortization expense increased $2.1 million during the three months ended June 30,
2018 compared to the three months ended July 1, 2017 primarily due to the impact of recent acquisitions. The decrease in other SG&A expenses of $12.8
million is due to lower short-term variable cash incentive compensation expense as a result of lower current fiscal year operating income performance versus
expectations, partially offset by the impact of recent acquisitions of $3.1 million.

SG&A decreased $17.7 million during the nine months ended June 30, 2018 compared to the nine months ended July 1, 2017. Advertising expense
decreased $16.3 million, or 15.2%, during the nine months ended June 30, 2018 compared to the nine months ended July 1, 2017, driven by decreased media
spending in our U.S. Consumer segment. Share-based compensation increased $9.5 million during the nine months ended June 30, 2018 compared to the nine
months ended July 1, 2017 due to an increase in the expected payout percentage on long-term performance-based awards as a result of strong cash flow
performance over the last two years and expectations in future periods. Amortization expense increased $4.6 million during the nine months ended June 30,
2018 compared to the nine months ended July 1, 2017 primarily due to the impact of recent acquisitions. The decrease in other SG&A expenses of $17.5
million is due to lower short-term variable cash incentive compensation expense as a result of lower current fiscal year operating income performance versus
expectations, partially offset by the impact of recent acquisitions of $5.2 million and increased headcount and integration costs for our hydroponic businesses.
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Impairment, Restructuring and Other

The following table sets forth the components of impairment, restructuring and other charges recorded in the “Cost of sales—impairment, restructuring
and other,” “Impairment, restructuring and other” and “Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax” lines in the Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Operations:

THREE MONTHS ENDED NINE MONTHS ENDED
JUNE 30, JULY 1, JUNE 30, JULY 1,
2018 2017 2018 2017

(In millions)

Cost of sales—impairment, restructuring and other:

Restructuring and other charges $ 52 % — 5 52 % —

Property, plant and equipment impairments 5.9 — 5.9 —
Operating expenses:

Restructuring and other charges 1.8 0.4 11.9 1.3

Intangible asset impairments 17.5 — 17.5 —
Impairment, restructuring and other charges from continuing operations $ 304 $ 04 $ 405 $ 1.3
Restructuring and other charges from discontinued operations 65.1 3.8 66.6 8.3
Total impairment, restructuring and other charges $ 955 §$ 42 $ 107.1  $ 9.6

In connection with the acquisition of Sunlight Supply during the third quarter of fiscal 2018, we announced the launch of an initiative called Project
Catalyst. Project Catalyst is a company-wide restructuring effort to reduce operating costs throughout our U.S. Consumer, Hawthorne and Other segments and
drive synergies from recent acquisitions within Hawthorne. We recognized charges of $30.4 million related to Project Catalyst for the three and nine months
ended June 30, 2018. During the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, our Hawthorne segment recognized employee termination benefits of $0.4
million, impairment of property, plant and equipment of $2.4 million, and facility closure costs of $3.8 million in the “Cost of sales—impairment,
restructuring and other” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. Our U.S. Consumer segment recognized employee termination
benefits of $1.0 million and impairment of property, plant and equipment of $3.5 million during the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018 in the “Cost
of sales—impairment, restructuring and other” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. Our Hawthorne segment also recognized a non-
cash impairment charge of $17.5 million related to the write-off of previously acquired customer relationship intangible assets due to the acquisition of
Sunlight Supply, and employee termination benefits of $1.8 million during the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018 in the “Impairment, restructuring
and other” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. Costs incurred to date since the inception of Project Catalyst are $25.9 million for
the Hawthorne segment and $4.5 million for the U.S. Consumer segment.

During the second quarter of fiscal 2018, we recognized a charge of $10.2 million for a probable loss on a previously disclosed legal matter in the
“Impairment, restructuring and other” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. Refer to “NOTE 12. CONTINGENCIES” for more
information.

In the first quarter of fiscal 2016, we announced a series of initiatives called Project Focus designed to maximize the value of our non-core assets and
focus on emerging categories of the lawn and garden industry in our core U.S. business. During the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, our U.S.
Consumer segment recognized adjustments of zero and $0.1 million, respectively, related to previously recognized termination benefits associated with
Project Focus in the “Impairment, restructuring and other” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. During the three and nine months
ended July 1, 2017, our U.S. Consumer segment recognized charges of $0.4 million and $1.3 million, respectively, related to termination benefits associated
with Project Focus in the “Impairment, restructuring and other” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. Costs incurred to date since the
inception of the current Project Focus initiatives are $9.9 million for the U.S. Consumer segment, $1.0 million for the Hawthorne segment and $1.2 million
for the Other segment, related to transaction activity, termination benefits and facility closure costs.

During the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, we recognized a pre-tax charge of $65.0 million for a probable loss related to the previously
disclosed legal matter In re Morning Song Bird Food Litigation in the “Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax” line in the Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Operations. Refer to “NOTE 2. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS” and “NOTE 12. CONTINGENCIES” for more information.
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Other Income, net

Other income is comprised of activities outside our normal business operations, such as royalty income from the licensing of certain of our brand
names, foreign exchange gains/losses and gains/losses from the disposition of non-inventory assets. Other income was $1.9 million and $6.5 million for the
three months ended June 30, 2018 and July 1, 2017, respectively. The decrease was due to interest income of $3.0 million on loans receivable that was
classified in the “Other income, net” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months ended July 1, 2017 but was classified
in the “Other non-operating (income) expense, net” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months ended June 30, 2018,
and a decrease in gains on long-lived asset disposals.

Other income was $3.3 million and $12.6 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 and July 1, 2017, respectively. The decrease was due to
interest income of $7.8 million on loans receivable that was classified in the “Other income, net” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of
Operations for the nine months ended July 1, 2017 but was classified in the “Other non-operating (income) expense, net” line in the Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Operations for the nine months ended June 30, 2018, as well as a decrease in royalty income earned from the TruGreen Joint Venture related to
its use of our brand names following the divestiture of the SLS Business, partially offset by an increase in royalty income earned from Exponent Private
Equity LLP (“Exponent”) related to its use of our brand names following the divestiture of the International Business.

Income from Operations

Income from operations was $185.7 million and $236.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2018 and July 1, 2017, respectively, a decrease of
$50.4 million, or 21.3%. The decrease was driven by a decrease in gross profit, a decrease in other income and higher impairment, restructuring and other
charges, partially offset by lower SG&A.

Income from operations was $346.1 million and $459.5 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 and July 1, 2017, respectively, a decrease of
$113.4 million, or 24.7%. The decrease was driven by a decrease in gross profit, a decrease in other income and higher impairment, restructuring and other
charges, partially offset by lower SG&A.

Equity in (Income) Loss of Unconsolidated Affiliates

In the first quarter of fiscal 2018, we discontinued applying the equity method of accounting for the TruGreen Joint Venture as our investment and
advances were reduced to zero. We do not have any contractual obligation to fund further losses of the TruGreen Joint Venture. During the fourth quarter of
fiscal 2017, we made a $29.4 million investment in an unconsolidated subsidiary whose products support the professional U.S. industrial, turf and ornamental
market.

Equity in (income) loss of unconsolidated affiliates was $(1.1) million and $(3.3) million for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018,
respectively, as compared to $(7.2) million and $30.1 million for the three and nine months ended July 1, 2017, respectively. Our share of restructuring and
other charges incurred by the TruGreen Joint Venture was $5.0 million and $16.7 million for the three and nine months ended July 1, 2017, respectively. For
the three and nine months ended July 1, 2017, these charges included $1.1 million for transaction costs, $3.0 million and $10.9 million, respectively, for
nonrecurring integration and separation costs and $0.9 million and $4.7 million, respectively, for a non-cash purchase accounting fair value write-down
adjustment related to deferred revenue and advertising.

Interest Expense

Interest expense was $23.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2018 compared to $21.8 million for the three months ended July 1, 2017. The
increase of $1.4 million was driven by an increase in average borrowings of $336.3 million, partially offset by a decrease in our weighted average interest rate
of 37 basis points. The increase in average borrowings was driven by recent acquisition activity and an increase in repurchases of our Common Shares. The
decrease in weighted average interest rate was driven by additional borrowings on the Receivables Facility during the three months ended June 30, 2018.

Interest expense was $63.6 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 compared to $58.5 million for the nine months ended July 1, 2017. The
increase of $5.1 million was driven by an increase in average borrowings of $186.3 million, partially offset by a decrease in our weighted average interest rate
of 10 basis points. The increase in average borrowings was driven by recent acquisition activity and an increase in repurchases of our Common Shares. The
decrease in weighted average interest rate was driven by additional borrowings on the Receivables Facility during the nine months ended June 30, 2018.
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Other Non-Operating (Income) Expense, net

Other non-operating (income) expense was $(2.6) million and $4.2 million for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018. As a result of the
enactment of the Act on December 22, 2017, we repatriated cash from a foreign subsidiary during the second quarter of fiscal 2018 resulting in the liquidation
of substantially all of the assets of the subsidiary and the write-off of accumulated foreign currency translation loss adjustments of $11.7 million during the
second quarter of fiscal 2018 within the “Other non-operating (income) expense, net” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. This was
partially offset by interest income on loans receivable of $2.6 million and $7.5 million that was classified in the “Other non-operating (income) expense, net”
line in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, respectively, but was classified in the “Other
income, net” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and nine months ended July 1, 2017, respectively.

Income Tax Expense

The Act provides for significant changes to the Code. Among other items, the Act implements a territorial tax system, imposes a one-time transition tax
on deemed repatriated earnings of foreign subsidiaries, and permanently reduces the federal corporate tax rate to 21% effective January 1, 2018. As our fiscal
year end falls on September 30, the statutory federal corporate tax rate for fiscal 2018 will be prorated to 24.5%, with the statutory rate for fiscal 2019 and
beyond at 21%.

The effective tax rates related to continuing operations for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 and July 1, 2017 were 8.3% and 35.1%, respectively.
Included in the effective tax rate for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 are one-time impacts related to the tax law change of $45.7 million. These impacts
include a one-time $45.9 million net tax benefit adjustment reflecting the revaluation of our net deferred tax liability at the lower tax rate. In addition, as
required by the Act, we recognized a one-time tax expense on deemed repatriated earnings and cash of foreign subsidiaries of $14.0 million, partially offset
by the recognition and application of foreign tax credits associated with these foreign subsidiaries of $13.9 million. We also reduced the value of deferred tax
liabilities associated with the write-off of previously acquired customer relationship intangible assets by $7.3 million, which was recognized in the “Income
tax expense from continuing operations” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018.

The effective tax rate used for interim purposes is based on our best estimate of factors impacting the effective tax rate for the full fiscal year, including
our reasonable estimates of the impacts of the Act. The ultimate impact of the Act may differ from our estimates due to changes in the interpretations and
assumptions made by us as well as additional regulatory guidance that may be issued. We will refine our calculations of the impact of the Act in future
periods.

Other factors affecting the estimated effective tax rate include assumptions as to income by jurisdiction (domestic and foreign), the availability and
utilization of tax credits and the existence of elements of income and expense that may not be taxable or deductible. The estimated effective tax rate is subject
to revision in later interim periods and at fiscal year end as facts and circumstances change during the course of the fiscal year. There can be no assurance that
the effective tax rate estimated for interim financial reporting purposes will approximate the effective tax rate determined at fiscal year end.

Income from Continuing Operations

Income from continuing operations was $125.5 million, or $2.23 per diluted share, for the three months ended June 30, 2018 compared to $144.6
million, or $2.41 per diluted share, for the three months ended July 1, 2017. The decrease was driven by a decrease in gross profit, an increase in impairment,
restructuring and other charges, a decrease in other income, a decrease in equity in income of unconsolidated affiliates and an increase in interest expense,
partially offset by the lower effective tax rate, a decrease in SG&A and an increase in other non-operating income.

Diluted average common shares used in the diluted income per common share calculation were 56.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2018
compared to 60.0 million for the three months ended July 1, 2017. The decrease was primarily the result of Common Share repurchase activity, partially
offset by the exercise and issuance of share-based compensation awards and the payment of a portion of the purchase price of Sunlight Supply in Common
Shares.

Income from continuing operations was $258.2 million, or $4.50 per diluted share, for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 compared to $240.6
million, or $3.96 per diluted share, for the nine months ended July 1, 2017. The increase was driven by the lower effective tax rate, an increase in equity in
income of unconsolidated affiliates and a decrease in SG&A, partially offset by a decrease in gross profit, an increase in impairment, restructuring and other
charges, a decrease in other income, an increase in interest expense and an increase in other non-operating expense.
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Diluted average common shares used in the diluted income per common share calculation were 57.4 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2018
compared to 60.6 million for the nine months ended July 1, 2017. The decrease was primarily the result of Common Share repurchase activity, partially offset
by the exercise and issuance of share-based compensation awards and the payment of a portion of the purchase price of Sunlight Supply in Common Shares.

Income (Loss) from Discontinued Operations, net of tax

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax, was $(42.7) million and $(47.6) million for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018,
respectively, as compared to $7.3 million and $11.7 million for the three and nine months ended July 1, 2017, respectively.

During the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, we recognized $0.1 million and $1.6 million, respectively, as compared to $3.7 million and $7.6
million for the three and nine months ended July 1, 2017, respectively, in transaction related costs associated with the sale of the International Business.
During the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, we recorded an increase to the gain of $0.8 million and a decrease to the gain of $2.8 million,
respectively, related to the resolution of the post-closing working capital adjustment obligation.

During the three and nine months ended July 1, 2017, we recognized $0.1 million and $0.8 million, respectively, in transaction related costs associated
with the divestiture of the SLS Business. In addition, during the nine months ended July 1, 2017, we recorded a reduction to the gain on the contribution of
the SLS Business of $0.3 million related to a post-closing working capital adjustment.

During the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018, we recognized a pre-tax charge of $65.0 million for a probable loss related to the previously
disclosed legal matter In re Morning Song Bird Food Litigation.

SEGMENT RESULTS

We divide our business into three reportable segments: U.S. Consumer, Hawthorne and Other. U.S. Consumer consists of our consumer lawn and
garden business located in the geographic United States. Hawthorne consists of our indoor, urban and hydroponic gardening business. Other consists of our
consumer lawn and garden business in geographies other than the U.S. and our product sales to commercial nurseries, greenhouses and other professional
customers. Corporate consists of general and administrative expenses and certain other income/expense items not allocated to the business segments. This
identification of reportable segments is consistent with how the segments report to and are managed by our chief operating decision maker. These segments
differ from those used in prior periods due to the change in our internal organizational structure resulting from our divestiture of the International Business on
August 31, 2017.

Segment performance is evaluated based on several factors, including income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes, amortization,
impairment, restructuring and other charges (“Segment Profit (Loss)”), which is a non-GAAP financial measure. Senior management uses this measure of
profit (loss) to evaluate segment performance because they believe this measure is indicative of performance trends and the overall earnings potential of each
segment.

The following table sets forth net sales by segment:

THREE MONTHS ENDED NINE MONTHS ENDED
JUNE 30, JULY 1, JUNE 30, JULY 1,
2018 2017 2018 2017
(In millions)

U.S. Consumer $ 8109 $ 8014 $ 1,857.1 $ 1,902.5
Hawthorne 74.2 72.4 192.8 195.2
Other 109.5 99.6 179.6 167.7
Consolidated $ 9946 $ 973.4 $ 2,2295 $ 2,265.4

60



The following table sets forth Segment Profit (Loss) as well as a reconciliation to the most directly comparable GAAP measure:

THREE MONTHS ENDED NINE MONTHS ENDED
JUNE 30, JULY 1, JUNE 30, JULY 1,
2018 2017 2018 2017
(In millions)
U.S. Consumer $ 2431  $ 246.4  $ 4914 % 521.8
Hawthorne (3.6) 10.3 (6.6) 26.5
Other 13.1 12.9 10.6 14.3
Total Segment Profit (Loss) (Non-GAAP) 252.6 269.6 495.4 562.6
Corporate (29.2) (27.7) (87.8) (85.4)
Intangible asset amortization (7.3) (5.4) (21.0) (16.4)
Impairment, restructuring and other (30.4) 0.4) (40.5) (1.3)
Equity in income (loss) of unconsolidated affiliates 1.1 7.2 3.3 (30.1)
Interest expense (23.2) (21.8) (63.6) (58.5)
Other non-operating income (expense), net 2.6 — 4.2) —
Income from continuing operations before income taxes (GAAP) $ 166.2 $ 2215 $ 2816 $ 370.9

U.S. Consumer

U.S. Consumer segment net sales were $810.9 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2018, an increase of 1.2% from the third quarter of fiscal 2017 net
sales of $801.4 million; and were $1,857.1 million in the first nine months of fiscal 2018, a decrease of 2.4% from the first nine months of fiscal 2017 net
sales of $1,902.5 million. For the third quarter of fiscal 2018, the increase was driven by the favorable impact of volume of 2.8%, partially offset by the
unfavorable impact of pricing of 1.6%. Increased sales volume for the third quarter of fiscal 2018 was driven by increased sales of soils and mulch products,
partially offset by decreased sales of grass seed and fertilizer products. Decreased pricing for the third quarter of fiscal 2018 was primarily driven by higher
customer rebates and sales mix. For the nine months ended June 30, 2018, the decrease was driven by the unfavorable impacts of volume and pricing of 1.1%
and 1.3%, respectively. Decreased sales volume for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 was driven by decreased sales of fertilizer and controls products,

partially offset by increased sales of soils and mulch products. Decreased pricing for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 was primarily driven by higher
customer rebates and sales mix.

U.S. Consumer Segment Profit decreased by $3.3 million, or 1.3%, in the third quarter of fiscal 2018, and decreased by $30.4 million, or 5.8%, in the
first nine months of fiscal 2018, as compared to the same periods in fiscal 2017. The decrease for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018 was
primarily due to a decrease in gross profit rate and interest income that was classified in the “Other non-operating (income) expense, net” line in the
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months ended June 30, 2018, partially offset by lower SG&A.

Hawthorne

Hawthorne segment net sales were $74.2 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2018, an increase of 2.5% from the third quarter of fiscal 2017 net sales of
$72.4 million; and were $192.8 million in the first nine months of fiscal 2018, a decrease of 1.2% from the first nine months of fiscal 2017 net sales of $195.2
million. For the third quarter of fiscal 2018, the increase was driven by the favorable impacts of acquisitions, pricing and changes in foreign exchange rates of
39.3%, 0.5% and 0.8%, respectively, partially offset by the unfavorable impact of volume of 38.2%. For the nine months ended June 30, 2018, the decrease
was driven by the unfavorable impact of volume of 36.4%, partially offset by the favorable impacts of acquisitions, pricing and changes in foreign exchange
rates of 32.0%, 0.3% and 2.8%, respectively.

Hawthorne Segment Profit decreased to a loss of $3.6 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2018 as compared to a profit of $10.3 million in the third
quarter of fiscal 2017; and decreased to a loss of $6.6 million in the first nine months of fiscal 2018 as compared to a profit of $26.5 million in first nine
months of fiscal 2017. The decrease for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018 was primarily due to a decrease in gross profit rate and higher SG&A.
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Other

Other segment net sales were $109.5 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2018, an increase of 9.9% from the third quarter of fiscal 2017 net sales of
$99.6 million; and were $179.6 million in the first nine months of fiscal 2018, an increase of 7.1% from the first nine months of fiscal 2017 net sales of
$167.7 million. For the third quarter of fiscal 2018, the increase was attributable to our business in Canada and was driven by the favorable impacts of volume
and changes in foreign exchange rates of 7.5% and 3.1%, respectively, partially offset by the unfavorable impact of pricing of 0.7% due to higher customer
rebates. For the nine months ended June 30, 2018, the increase was attributable to our business in Canada and was driven by the favorable impacts of volume
and changes in foreign exchange rates of 4.4% and 3.3%, respectively, partially offset by the unfavorable impact of pricing of 0.5% due to higher customer
rebates.

Other Segment Profit increased to $13.1 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2018 as compared to $12.9 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2017; and
decreased to $10.6 million in the first nine months of fiscal 2018 as compared to $14.3 million in first nine months of fiscal 2017. The increase for the three
months ended June 30, 2018 was primarily due to an increase in sales and lower SG&A, partially offset by a decrease in gross profit rate and other income.
The decrease for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 was primarily due to a decrease in gross profit rate, partially offset by higher net sales and lower
SG&A.

Corporate

Corporate expenses increased by $1.5 million, or 5.4%, in the third quarter of fiscal 2018 and increased by $2.4 million, or 2.8%, in the first nine
months of fiscal 2018, as compared to the same periods in fiscal 2017. The increase for the three months ended June 30, 2018 was primarily driven by higher
share-based compensation expense due to an increase in the expected payout percentage on long-term performance-based awards and interest income that was
classified in the “Other non-operating (income) expense, net” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months ended
June 30, 2018, partially offset by lower short-term variable cash incentive compensation expense. The increase for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 was
primarily due to higher share-based compensation expense due to an increase in the expected payout percentage on performance-based awards, a decrease in
royalty income earned from the TruGreen Joint Venture related to its use of our brand names following the divestiture of the SLS Business and interest
income that was classified in the “Other non-operating (income) expense, net” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the nine
months ended June 30, 2018, partially offset by lower variable incentive compensation expense and an increase in royalty income earned from Exponent
related to its use of our brand names following our divestiture of the International Business.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Operating Activities

Cash used in operating activities totaled $3.4 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 as compared to cash provided by operating activities of
$91.6 million for the nine months ended July 1, 2017. This decrease in cash provided by operating activities was driven by a decrease in gross profit, an
increase in payments related to restructuring activities, and an increase in interest paid, partially offset by a decrease in income taxes paid, lower SG&A and
cash used in operating activities associated with the International Business during the nine months ended July 1, 2017.

Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities totaled $562.3 million and $126.4 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 and July 1, 2017, respectively. Cash
used for investments in property, plant and equipment during the first nine months of fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2017 was $40.7 million and $42.0 million,
respectively. During the nine months ended June 30, 2018, we completed the acquisitions of Sunlight Supply and Can-Filters which included cash payments
of $492.9 million, paid the post-closing working capital obligation of $35.3 million related to sale of the International Business, received cash of $10.7
million associated with currency forward contracts and made a loan to an unconsolidated affiliate of $5.3 million. During the nine months ended July 1, 2017,
we completed the acquisition of American Agritech, L.L.C., d/b/a Botanicare (“Botanicare”), Agrolux and two other small acquisitions which included cash
payments of $89.2 million.
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Financing Activities

Financing activities provided cash of $475.8 million and $101.8 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 and July 1, 2017, respectively. The
increase was the result of an increase in net borrowings under our credit facilities of $790.8 million, a decrease in financing and issuance fees paid of $4.3
million, a decrease in payments on seller notes of $19.9 million and an $8.1 million distribution paid by AeroGrow to its noncontrolling interest holders
during the nine months ended July 1, 2017, partially offset by an increase in repurchases of our Common Shares of $130.6 million, the issuance of $250.0
million aggregate principal amount of 5.250% senior notes due 2026 (“5.250% Senior Notes”) during the nine months ended July 1, 2017 and the prospective
adoption of a new accounting pronouncement that requires excess tax benefits to be classified as an operating activity. Additionally, for the nine months
ended June 30, 2018, the $69.2 million payment related to the acquisition of the remaining 25% noncontrolling interest in Gavita Holdings, B.V., and its
subsidiaries (“Gavita”) has been classified as a financing activity within the “Acquisition of noncontrolling interests” line in the Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows. For the three months ended December 30, 2017 and the six months ended March 31, 2018, this payment was classified as an
investing activity within the “Investments in acquired businesses, net of cash acquired” line in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Our cash and cash equivalents were held in cash depository accounts with major financial institutions around the world or invested in short-term liquid
investments having original maturities of three months or less. The cash and cash equivalents balances, including cash and cash equivalents classified within
assets held for sale, of $29.6 million, $119.1 million and $120.5 million as of June 30, 2018, July 1, 2017 and September 30, 2017, respectively, included
$13.5 million, $73.8 million and $39.3 million, respectively, held by controlled foreign corporations.

We will continue to evaluate our position with respect to foreign subsidiaries as we analyze the full impact of the Act on our foreign operations. If we
repatriate these funds from foreign subsidiaries, or we sell or liquidate any of these foreign corporations, we may be required to pay associated taxes on the
repatriation, sale or liquidation.

Borrowing Agreements

Our primary sources of liquidity are cash generated by operations and borrowings under our credit facilities, which are guaranteed by substantially all
of Scotts Miracle-Gro’s domestic subsidiaries. On October 29, 2015, we entered into the fourth amended and restated credit agreement (the “former credit
agreement”), which provided us with five-year senior secured loan facilities in the aggregate principal amount of $1.9 billion that were comprised of a
revolving credit facility of $1.6 billion and a term loan in the original principal amount of $300.0 million (the “former credit facilities”). The former credit
agreement also provided us with the right to seek additional committed credit under the agreement in an aggregate amount of up to $500.0 million plus an
unlimited additional amount, subject to certain specified financial and other conditions. Under the former credit agreement, we had the ability to obtain letters
of credit up to $100.0 million. Borrowings under the former credit facilities could be made in various currencies, including U.S. dollars, euro, British pounds,
Australian dollars and Canadian dollars.

At June 30, 2018, we had letters of credit outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of $22.2 million, and $493.3 million of availability under the
former credit agreement, subject to our continued compliance with the covenants discussed below. The weighted average interest rates on average borrowings
under the former credit agreement were 4.0% and 3.8% for the nine months ended June 30, 2018 and July 1, 2017, respectively.

On July 5, 2018, we entered into a fifth amended and restated credit agreement (the “Fifth A&R Credit Agreement”), providing us with five-year senior
secured loan facilities in the aggregate principal amount of $2.3 billion, comprised of a revolving credit facility of $1.5 billion and a term loan in the original
principal amount of $800.0 million (the “Fifth A&R Credit Facilities”). The Fifth A&R Credit Agreement also provides us with the right to seek additional
committed credit under the agreement in an aggregate amount of up to $500.0 million plus an unlimited additional amount, subject to certain specified
financial and other conditions. The Fifth A&R Credit Agreement replaces the former credit agreement, and will terminate on July 5, 2023. The revolving
credit facility will be available for issuance of letters of credit up to $75.0 million. Borrowings under the Fifth A&R Credit Facilities may be made in various
currencies, including U.S. dollars, euro, British pounds and Canadian dollars. The former credit agreement would have terminated on October 29, 2020, if it
had not been amended and restated pursuant to the Fifth A&R Credit Agreement. As of June 30, 2018, we classified borrowings under the former credit
facilities as long-term debt on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet.

We maintained a Master Accounts Receivable Purchase Agreement (as amended, “MARP Agreement”), which provided for the discretionary sale by
us, and the discretionary purchase by the participating banks, on a revolving basis, of accounts receivable generated by sales to three specified debtors in an
aggregate amount not to exceed $400.0 million. The MARP Agreement terminated effective October 14, 2016 in accordance with its terms upon our
repayment of its outstanding obligations thereunder using $133.5 million borrowed under the former credit agreement.
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On April 7, 2017, we entered into a Master Repurchase Agreement (including the annexes thereto, the “Repurchase Agreement”) and a Master
Framework Agreement (the “Framework Agreement” and, together with the Repurchase Agreement, the “Receivables Facility”). Under the Receivables
Facility, we may sell a portfolio of available and eligible outstanding customer accounts receivable to the purchasers and simultaneously agree to repurchase
the receivables on a weekly basis. The eligible accounts receivable consist of up to $250.0 million in accounts receivable generated by sales to three specified
customers. The Receivables Facility is considered a secured financing with the customer accounts receivable, related contract rights and proceeds thereof (and
the collection accounts into which the same are deposited) constituting the collateral therefor. The repurchase price for customer accounts receivable bears
interest at LIBOR (with a zero floor) plus 0.90%.

On August 25, 2017, we entered into Amendment No. 1 to Master Framework Agreement (the “Amendment”). The Amendment (i) extends the
expiration date of the Receivables Facility from August 25, 2017 to August 24, 2018, (ii) defines the seasonal commitment period of the Receivables Facility
as beginning on February 23, 2018 and ending on June 15, 2018, (iii) increases the eligible amount of customer accounts receivable which may be sold from
up to $250.0 million to up to $400.0 million and (iv) increases the commitment amount of the Receivables Facility during the seasonal commitment period
from up to $100.0 million to up to $160.0 million. There were $285.0 million in borrowings on receivables pledged as collateral under the Receivables
Facility as of June 30, 2018. The carrying value of the receivables pledged as collateral was $316.7 million as of June 30, 2018. As of June 30, 2018, there
was $0.7 million of availability under the Receivables Facility.

On December 15, 2016, we issued $250.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.250% senior notes due 2026 (the “5.250% Senior Notes). The net
proceeds of the offering were used to repay outstanding borrowings under our former credit facilities. The 5.250% Senior Notes represent general unsecured
senior obligations and rank equal in right of payment with our existing and future unsecured senior debt. The 5.250% Senior Notes have interest payment
dates of June 15 and December 15 of each year. The 5.250% Senior Notes may be redeemed, in whole or in part, on or after December 15, 2021 at applicable
redemption premiums. The 5.250% Senior Notes contain customary covenants and events of default and mature on December 15, 2026. Substantially all of
our domestic subsidiaries serve as guarantors of the 5.250% Senior Notes.

On October 13, 2015, we issued $400.0 million aggregate principal amount of 6.000% senior notes due 2023 (the “6.000% Senior Notes”). The net
proceeds of the offering were used to repay outstanding borrowings under a prior credit agreement. The 6.000% Senior Notes represent general unsecured
senior obligations and rank equal in right of payment with our existing and future unsecured senior debt. The 6.000% Senior Notes have interest payment
dates of April 15 and October 15 of each year. The 6.000% Senior Notes may be redeemed, in whole or in part, on or after October 15, 2018 at applicable
redemption premiums. The 6.000% Senior Notes contain customary covenants and events of default and mature on October 15, 2023. Substantially all of our
domestic subsidiaries serve as guarantors of the 6.000% Senior Notes.

The Fifth A&R Credit Agreement contains, among other obligations, an affirmative covenant regarding our leverage ratio on the last day of each quarter
ending on and after June 30, 2018 calculated as average total indebtedness, divided by our earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization
(“EBITDA”), as adjusted pursuant to the terms of the Fifth A&R Credit Agreement (“Adjusted EBITDA”). The maximum leverage ratio is: (i) 5.25 for the
quarter ending June 30, 2018 through the second quarter of fiscal 2019, (ii) 5.00 for the third quarter of fiscal 2019 through the first quarter of fiscal 2020,
(iii) 4.75 for the second quarter of fiscal 2020 through the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020 and (iv) 4.50 for the first quarter of fiscal 2021 and thereafter. Our
leverage ratio was 3.96 at June 30, 2018. The Fifth A&R Credit Agreement also contains an affirmative covenant regarding our interest coverage ratio
determined as of the end of each of its fiscal quarters ending on and after June 30, 2018. The interest coverage ratio is calculated as Adjusted EBITDA
divided by interest expense, as described in the Fifth A&R Credit Agreement, and excludes costs related to refinancings. The minimum interest coverage ratio
was 3.00 for the twelve months ended June 30, 2018. Our interest coverage ratio was 5.81 for the twelve months ended June 30, 2018. The Fifth A&R Credit
Agreement allows us to make unlimited restricted payments (as defined in the Fifth A&R Credit Agreement), including increased or one-time dividend
payments and Common Share repurchases, as long as the leverage ratio resulting from the making of such restricted payments is 4.00 or less. Otherwise we
may only make restricted payments in an aggregate amount for each fiscal year not to exceed the amount set forth in the Fifth A&R Credit Agreement for
such fiscal year ($200.0 million for fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2019 and $225.0 million for fiscal 2020 and thereafter).

We continue to monitor our compliance with the leverage ratio, interest coverage ratio and other covenants contained in the Fifth A&R Credit
Agreement and, based upon our current operating assumptions, we expect to remain in compliance with the permissible leverage ratio and interest coverage
ratio throughout fiscal 2018. However, an unanticipated shortfall in earnings, an increase in net indebtedness or other factors could materially affect our
ability to remain in compliance with the financial or other covenants of our credit agreement, potentially causing us to have to seek an amendment or waiver
from our lending group which could result in repricing of our credit facilities. While we believe we have good relationships with our lending group, we can
provide no assurance that such a request would result in a modified or replacement credit agreement on reasonable terms, if at all.
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Judicial and Administrative Proceedings

We are party to various pending judicial and administrative proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business, including, among others, proceedings
based on accidents or product liability claims and alleged violations of environmental laws. We have reviewed these pending judicial and administrative
proceedings, including the probable outcomes, reasonably anticipated costs and expenses, and the availability and limits of our insurance coverage, and have
established what we believe to be appropriate accruals. We believe that our assessment of contingencies is reasonable and that the related accruals, in the
aggregate, are adequate; however, there can be no assurance that future quarterly or annual operating results will not be materially affected by these
proceedings, whether as a result of adverse outcomes or as a result of significant defense costs.

Contractual Obligations

Other than increased borrowings under our former credit facilities and receivables facility and acquisition activity during the first nine months of fiscal
2018, there have been no material changes outside of the ordinary course of business in our outstanding contractual obligations since the end of fiscal 2017
and through June 30, 2018. The following table summarizes the material contractual obligations associated with our fiscal 2018 acquisitions:

Payments Due by Period
More Than
Contractual Cash Obligations Total Less Than 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years
(In millions)
Operating lease obligations $ 206 $ 52 % 9.0 $ 64 $ =
REGULATORY MATTERS

We are subject to local, state, federal and foreign environmental protection laws and regulations with respect to our business operations and believe we
are operating in substantial compliance with, or taking actions aimed at ensuring compliance with, such laws and regulations. We are involved in several legal
actions with various governmental agencies related to environmental matters. While it is difficult to quantify the potential financial impact of actions
involving these environmental matters, particularly remediation costs at waste disposal sites and future capital expenditures for environmental control
equipment, in the opinion of management, the ultimate liability arising from such environmental matters, taking into account established accruals, should not
have a material effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. However, there can be no assurance that the resolution of these matters
will not materially affect our future quarterly or annual results of operations, financial condition or cash flows. Additional information on environmental
matters affecting us is provided in the 2017 Annual Report, under “ITEM 1. BUSINESS — Regulatory Considerations” and “ITEM 3. LEGAL
PROCEEDINGS.”

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

The preceding discussion and analysis of our consolidated results of operations and financial condition should be read in conjunction with our
condensed consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The 2017 Annual Report includes additional
information about us, our operations, our financial condition, our critical accounting policies and accounting estimates, and should be read in conjunction with
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risks have not changed materially from those disclosed in the 2017 Annual Report.
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ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The Scotts Miracle-Gro Company (the “Registrant”) maintains “disclosure controls and procedures,” as such term is defined under Exchange Act Rule
13a-15(e), that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the Registrant’s Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized
and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to the Registrant’s
management, including its principal executive officer and its principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, the Registrant’s management recognized that any controls and procedures, no
matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and in reaching a reasonable level
of assurance, the Registrant’s management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and
procedures.

With the participation of the principal executive officer and principal financial officer of the Registrant, the Registrant’s management has evaluated the
effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”)) as of the end of the fiscal quarter covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based upon that evaluation, the Registrant’s principal
executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of June 30, 2018.

In addition, there were no changes in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act)
that occurred during the Registrant’s fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2018 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In connection with the sale of wild bird food products that were the subject of a voluntary recall in 2008, the Company, along with its Chief Executive
Officer, have been named as defendants in four actions filed on and after June 27, 2012, which have been consolidated, and, on March 31, 2017, certified as a
class action in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California as In re Morning Song Bird Food Litigation, Lead Case No. 3:12-cv-
01592-JAH-AGS. The plaintiffs allege various statutory and common law claims associated with the Company’s sale of wild bird food products and a plea
agreement entered into in previously pending government proceedings associated with such sales. The plaintiffs allege, among other things, a class action on
behalf of all persons and entities in the United States who purchased certain bird food products. The plaintiffs assert: (i) hundreds of millions of dollars in
monetary damages (actual, compensatory, consequential, and restitution); (ii) punitive and treble damages; (iii) injunctive and declaratory relief; (iv) pre-
judgment and post-judgment interest; and (v) costs and attorneys’ fees. The Company and its Chief Executive Officer dispute the plaintiffs’ assertions and
intend to vigorously defend the consolidated action. As a result of recent developments, the Company recognized a pre-tax charge of $65.0 million for a
probable loss related to this matter for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2018 in the “Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax” line in
the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. There can be no assurance that future developments with respect to this action, whether as a result of
an adverse outcome or as a result of significant defense costs, will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The Company’s risk factors, as of June 30, 2018, have not changed materially from those described in “ITEM IA. RISK FACTORS” in the 2017 Annual
Report.

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including the exhibits hereto and the information incorporated by reference herein, contains “forward-looking
statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, which are subject to risks and uncertainties. Other than statements of historical fact, information regarding activities, events and developments that
we expect or anticipate will or may occur in the future, including, but not limited to, information relating to our future growth and profitability targets and
strategies designed to increase total shareholder value, are forward-looking statements based on management’s estimates, assumptions and projections.
Forward-looking statements also include, but are not limited to, statements regarding our future economic and financial condition and results of operations,
the plans and objectives of management and our assumptions regarding our performance and such plans and objectives, as well as the amount and timing of
repurchases of Common Shares. These forward-looking statements generally can be identified through the use of words such as “guidance,” “outlook,”
“projected,” “believe,” “target,” “predict,” “estimate,” “forecast, anticipate,” “intend,” “plan,” “foresee,” “likely,”
“will,” “should” and other similar words and variations.

» » <« » o« » »

strategy,” “may,” “goal,” “expect,

»

Forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are predictions only and actual results could differ materially from
management’s expectations due to a variety of factors, including those described in “ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS?” in the 2017 Annual Report. All forward-
looking statements attributable to us or persons working on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by such risk factors.

The forward-looking statements that we make in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are based on management’s current views and assumptions
regarding future events and speak only as of their dates. We disclaim any obligation to update developments of these risk factors or to announce publicly any
revisions to any of the forward-looking statements that we make, or to make corrections to reflect future events or developments, except as required by the
federal securities laws.
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ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

The payment of future dividends, if any, on the Common Shares will be determined by the Board of Directors in light of conditions then existing,
including the Company’s earnings, financial condition and capital requirements, restrictions in financing agreements, business conditions and other factors.
The Fifth A&R Credit Agreement allows the Company to make unlimited restricted payments (as defined in the Fifth A&R Credit Agreement), including
increased or one-time dividend payments and Common Share repurchases, as long as the leverage ratio resulting from the making of such restricted payments
is 4.00 or less. Otherwise the Company may only make restricted payments in an aggregate amount for each fiscal year not to exceed the amount set forth in
the Fifth A&R Credit Agreement for such fiscal year ($200.0 million for fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2019 and $225.0 million for fiscal 2020 and thereafter). The
Company’s leverage ratio was 3.96 at June 30, 2018.

(a) Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
The following table shows the purchases of Common Shares made by or on behalf of Scotts Miracle-Gro or any “affiliated purchaser” (as defined in

Rule 10b-18(a)(3) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) of Scotts Miracle-Gro for each of the three fiscal months in the quarter ended
June 30, 2018:

Total Number of
Common Shares Approximate Dollar
Purchased as Value of Common Shares
Total Number of Average Price Part of Publicly That May Yet be
Common Shares Paid per Announced Plans or Purchased Under the
Period Purchased(1) Common Share(2) Programs(3) Plans or Programs(3)
April 1 through April 28, 2018 207,235 $ 83.58 206,034 $ 334,479,520
April 29 through May 26, 2018 202,106 $ 83.33 202,043 $ 317,642,783
May 27 through June 30, 2018 235,270 $ 83.94 232,190 $ 298,152,523
Total 644,611 $ 83.63 640,267

(1)  All of the Common Shares purchased during the quarter were purchased in open market transactions. The total number of Common Shares purchased
during the quarter includes 4,343 Common Shares purchased by the trustee of the rabbi trust established by the Company as permitted pursuant to the
terms of The Scotts Company LLC Executive Retirement Plan (the “ERP”). The ERP is an unfunded, non-qualified deferred compensation plan
which, among other things, provides eligible employees the opportunity to defer compensation above specified statutory limits applicable to The
Scotts Company LLC Retirement Savings Plan and with respect to any Executive Management Incentive Pay (as defined in the ERP), Performance
Award (as defined in the ERP) or other bonus awarded to such eligible employees. Pursuant to the terms of the ERP, each eligible employee has the
right to elect an investment fund, including a fund consisting of Common Shares (the “Scotts Miracle-Gro Common Stock Fund”), against which
amounts allocated to such employee’s account under the ERP, including employer contributions, will be benchmarked (all ERP accounts are
bookkeeping accounts only and do not represent a claim against specific assets of the Company). Amounts allocated to employee accounts under the
ERP represent deferred compensation obligations of the Company. The Company established the rabbi trust in order to assist the Company in
discharging such deferred compensation obligations. When an eligible employee elects to benchmark some or all of the amounts allocated to such
employee’s account against the Scotts Miracle-Gro Common Stock Fund, the trustee of the rabbi trust purchases the number of Common Shares
equivalent to the amount so benchmarked. All Common Shares purchased by the trustee are purchased on the open market and are held in the rabbi
trust until such time as they are distributed pursuant to the terms of the ERP. All assets of the rabbi trust, including any Common Shares purchased by
the trustee, remain, at all times, assets of the Company, subject to the claims of its creditors. The terms of the ERP do not provide for a specified limit
on the number of Common Shares that may be purchased by the trustee of the rabbi trust.

(2) The average price paid per Common Share is calculated on a settlement basis and includes commissions.

(3) On August 11, 2014, Scotts Miracle-Gro announced that its Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $500 million of Common Shares
over a five-year period (effective November 1, 2014 through September 30, 2019). On August 3, 2016, Scotts Miracle-Gro announced that its Board of
Directors increased the then outstanding authorization by an additional $500 million for a total authorized amount of $1.0 billion through September
30, 2019. The dollar amounts indicated reflect the remaining amounts that were available for repurchase under the authorized repurchase program.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

See Index to Exhibits at page 70 for a list of the exhibits included herewith.
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THE SCOTTS MIRACLE-GRO COMPANY
QUARTERLY REPORT ON FORM 10-Q
FOR THE QUARTERLY PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

INDEX TO EXHIBITS
EXHIBIT
NO. DESCRIPTION LOCATION
10.1 Purchase Agreement, dated April 12, 2018, among Sunlight Supply, Inc., Sunlight *
Garden Supply, Inc., Sunlight Garden Supply, ULC, IP Holdings, LL.C, Craig R.
Hargreaves, Kim E. Hargreaves, Hawthorne Hydroponics LLC and The Scotts Miracle-
Gro Company,
10.2 Fifth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of July 5, 2018, by and among Incorporated herein by reference to the
The Scotts Miracle-Gro Company, as a Borrower;_the Subsidiary Borrowers (as defined Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July
therein); JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent; Wells Fargo Bank, 11, 2018 [Exhibit 10.1]
National Association, and Mizuho Bank, Ltd. as Co-Syndication Agents; CoBank,
ACB, Bank of America, N.A., Fifth Third Bank, Cotperatieve Rabobank U.A., New
York Branch, Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation and TD Bank N.A, as Co-
Documentation Agents; and the several other banks and other financial institutions
from time to time parties thereto
10.3 Fifth Amended and Restated Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, dated as of July 5, Incorporated herein by reference to the
2018, made by The Scotts Miracle-Gro Company, each domestic Subsidiary Borrower Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July
under the Fifth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, and certain of its and their 11, 2018 [Exhibit 10.2]
domestic subsidiaries,_in favor of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative
Agent
10.4 First Supplemental Indenture, dated as July 17, 2018, by and among The Scotts *
Miracle-Gro Company, the Guarantors (as defined therein)_.and U.S. Bank National
Association, as trustee
10.5 Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as July 17, 2018, by and among The Scotts *
Miracle-Gro Company, the Guarantors (as defined therein) and U.S. Bank National
Association,_as trustee
21 Subsidiaries of The Scotts Miracle-Gro Company. *
31.1 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)_Certifications (Principal Executive Officer) *
31.2 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)_Certifications (Principal Financial Officer) *
32 Section 1350 Certifications (Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial "
Officer)
101.INS XBRL Instance Document *
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema *
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase *
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase *
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase *
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase *
* Filed or furnished herewith
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the

undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: August 8, 2018
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Dated as of April 12, 2018

Exhibit 10.1



ARTICLE I

Section 1.1.

Section 1.2.
Section 1.3.

ARTICLE II

Section 2.1.
Section 2.2.
Section 2.3.

Section 2.4.

Section 2.5.

Section 2.6.

Section 2.7.

Section 2.8.

Section 2.9.

Section 2.10.
Section 2.11.
ARTICLE III

Section 3.1.
Section 3.2.
Section 3.3.
Section 3.4.
Section 3.5.
Section 3.6.
Section 3.7.
Section 3.8.
Section 3.9.
Section 3.10.
Section 3.11.
Section 3.12.

Section 3.13.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEFINITIONS AND RULES OF CONSTRUCTION

Definitions

Definitions defined in Agreement

Grammatical Constructions

PURCHASE AND SALE OF ASSETS AND CLOSING

Purchase and Sale
Excluded Assets
Assumed Liabilities

Excluded Liabilities
Purchase Price

Closing

Closing Deliveries by Sellers

Closing Deliveries by Buyer
Pre-Closing Delivery by Sellers; Adjustment

Closing Date Balance Sheet
Withholding

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLERS

Organization and Qualification; Capitalization
Authority; Non-Contravention; Approvals
Financial Statements; Inventory

Absence of Undisclosed Liabilities
Absence of Certain Changes or Events
Tax Matters

ERISA and Employee Benefits
Employment Matters

Litigation

No Violation of Law; Permits

Title to Purchased Assets; Encumbrances
Entire Business; Sufficiency

Solvency

Page

11
13
14

14
16
17
17

18
19
19

21
21

22
24
24

24
25
26
27
27
27
29
32
33
33
34
34
34



Section 3.14.
Section 3.15.
Section 3.16.
Section 3.17.
Section 3.18.
Section 3.19.
Section 3.20.
Section 3.21.
Section 3.22.
Section 3.23.
Section 3.24.
Section 3.25.
Section 3.26.
Section 3.27.
Section 3.28.
Section 3.29.
Section 3.30.
Section 3.31.
Section 3.32.
Section 3.33.
Section 3.34.
Section 3.35.
Section 3.36.
ARTICLE IV

Section 4.1.
Section 4.2.
Section 4.3.
Section 4.4.
Section 4.5.

Section 4.6.

TABLE OF CONTENTS
(continued)

Insurance

Material Contracts

Tangible Personal Property

Receivables; Disputed Accounts Payable
Intellectual Property

Real Property

Environmental Matters

Casualties

Product Warranties; Product Liability

Product Registrations; Universal Product Codes

Promotions and Allowances

Bank and Brokerage Accounts; Investment Purchased Assets

Absence of Certain Business Practices
Propriety of Past Payments

Customers and Suppliers

Removal of Excluded Assets

Brokers

Affiliate Transactions

Restrictions on Business Activities
Activities of Columbia River
Ownership by the Hargreaves

Full Disclosure

No Other Representation and Warranties

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER

Organization and Qualification

Authority; Non-Contravention; Approvals
Brokers

Sufficient Funds

Legal Proceedings

No Other Representations and Warranties

-ii-

Page

35
35
37
37
38
40
41
42
42
42
43
43
43
43
44
44
44
45
45
45
45
45
45
45

45
46
46
47
47
47



ARTICLE V

Section 5.1.
Section 5.2.
Section 5.3.
Section 5.4.
Section 5.5.
Section 5.6.
Section 5.7.
Section 5.8.

Section 5.9.

Section 5.10.
Section 5.11.
Section 5.12.
Section 5.13.
Section 5.14.
Section 5.15.
Section 5.16.

Section 5.17.

ARTICLE VI

Section 6.1.
Section 6.2.
Section 6.3.

ARTICLE VII

Section 7.1.
Section 7.2.

ARTICLE VIII

Section 8.1.
Section 8.2.
Section 8.3.

Section 8.4.

TABLE OF CONTENTS
(continued)

COVENANTS

Conduct of the Business

Use of Name

Tax Matters

Non-Competition; Non-Solicitation
Non-Assignable Assets

Employee Matters

Parties’ Obligations

Bulk Sale Filings

Escrow

Further Assurances; Post-Closing Cooperation
Access to Information

Publicity

Exclusivity

Notification of Certain Matters
Maintenance of Product Registrations
Reimbursement

Craig R. Hargreaves Post-Closing Support Obligations

CONDITIONS TO CLOSING

Conditions to Each Party’s Obligations
Conditions to Buyer’s Obligations

Conditions to Sellers’ Obligations

TERMINATION

Termination

Effect of Termination

SURVIVAL; INDEMNIFICATON

Survival of Representations, Warranties, Covenants and Agreements
Indemnification by Buyer
Indemnification by Sellers

Assertion of Claims

-iii-

Page
47

47
49
49
51
53
54
56
58
58
59
60
61
61
61
62
62
62
63

63
63
65
66

66
67
67

67
68
68
68



Section 8.5.
Section 8.6.
Section 8.7.
Section 8.8.
Section 8.9.
Section 8.10.

ARTICLE IX

Section 9.1.
Section 9.2.
Section 9.3.
Section 9.4.
Section 9.5.
Section 9.6.
Section 9.7.
Section 9.8.
Section 9.9.
Section 9.10.

Section 9.11.

Section 9.12.

Section 9.13.

TABLE OF CONTENTS
(continued)

Notice of and Right to Defend Third Party Claims
Indemnification Procedures

Limitations

Payment of Claims

Character of Indemnity Payments

Exclusive Remedy

MISCELLANEOUS

Notices

Entire Agreement

Expenses

Waiver

Amendment

No Third Party Beneficiary

Assignment; Binding Effect

Governing Law

Consent to Jurisdiction; Service of Process; Waiver of Jury Trial
Invalid Provisions

Counterparts
Attorney-Client Privilege

Interpretation

-iv-

Page

68
70
71
71
71
71
71

71
72
72
72
73
73
73
73
73
74
74

74

75



EXHIBITS

Form of Assignment and Assumption Agreement and Bill of Sale
Form of Escrow Agreement

Form of Trademark Assignment Agreement
Form of Copyright Assignment Agreement

Form of Domain Name Assignment Agreement
Form of Patent Assignment Agreement
Calculation of Net Working Capital

Key Employee Offer Letters

Non-Affiliated Real Property Lease Assignments
Employee Handbook

Contingent Payment Scale

Form of Lease Agreement

Persons with Access to Information

SCHEDULES

Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule

1. Section 1.1(KE) — Key Employees

2. Section 1.1(PE) — Prepaid Expense Categories

3. Section 1.1(RP) — Registered Products

4. Section 2.1(b) — Tangible Property

5. Section 2.1(f) — Asset Sellers’ UPC Codes

6. Section 2.1(h) — Purchased Contracts

7. Section 2.1(p) — Included Assets

8. Section 2.2(m) — Excluded Assets

9. Section 2.5(a) — Payment Instructions

10. Section 2.7(e) — Non-Affiliated Real Property Leases
11. Section 2.7(f) — Affiliated Real Property Leases

12. Section 2.7(k) — Pay-Off Letter Recipients

13. Section 2.7(m) — Intellectual Property Defects

14. Section 2.10 — Closing Date Balance Sheet Example
15. Section 3.1 — Membership Interest: Columbia River Industrial Holding, LLC
16. Section 3.2(a) — Authorization; Non-Contravention
17. Section 3.2(b) — Non-Contravention

18. Section 3.2(c) — Governmental Authority Authorization
19. Section 3.3 — Financial Statements

20. Section 3.4 — Undisclosed Liabilities

21. Section 3.5 — Absence of Certain Changes or Events
22. Section 3.6 — Tax Matters

23. Section 3.7 — ERISA and Employee Benefits

24, Section 3.8 — Employment Matters

25. Section 3.9 — Litigation

S r R «=TITOTMHOO®m >



26.
27.
28.
29.
30.
31.
32.
33.
34.
35.
36.
37.
38.
39.
40.
41.
42.
43.

Schedule CA

Section 3.10 — No Violation of Law; Permits

Section 3.14 — Insurance Policies

Section 3.15 — Material Contracts

Section 3.18 — Intellectual Property

Section 3.19 — Real Property

Section 3.21 — Casualties

Section 3.22(b)(i) — Product Warranties; Product Liability

Section 3.24 — Promotions and Allowances

Section 3.25 — Bank and Brokerage Accounts; Investment Purchased Assets
Section 3.28 — Customers and Suppliers

Section 3.30 — Brokers

Section 3.31 — Affiliate Transactions

Section 3.33 — Activities of Columbia River

Section 5.1 — Conduct of the Business

Section 5.3(b) — Allocation Principles

Section 5.3(c) — Tax Jurisdictions

Section 5.13 — Exclusivity

Section 6.2(c) — Closing Conditions; Required Consents and Approvals

CA



PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 12, 2018 (this “Agreement”), is by and among Sunlight Supply, Inc., a
Washington corporation (“Sunlight Supply”), Sunlight Garden Supply, Inc., a Washington corporation (“Sunlight Garden”),
Sunlight Garden Supply, ULC, a British Columbia unlimited liability company (“Sunlight UL.C”), IP Holdings, LLC, a
Washington limited liability company (“IP_Heldings”), Craig R. Hargreaves and Kim E. Hargreaves, husband and wife (the
“Hargreaves”, and together with Sunlight Supply, Sunlight Garden, Sunlight ULC and IP Holdings, “Sellers” and each, a
“Seller”), Hawthorne Hydroponics LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Buyer”) and, solely with respect to Section 2.5,
The Scotts Miracle-Gro Company, a Ohio corporation, (“Parent”). Each Seller and Buyer are referred to herein individually as a
“Party” and collectively as the “Parties™.

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Sellers are engaged in the business of developing, manufacturing, marketing and distributing
horticultural, organics, lighting, and hydroponics products, including, without limitation, lighting fixtures, nutrients, seeds and
growing media, systems, trays, fans, filters, humidifiers and dehumidifiers, timers, instruments, water pumps, irrigation supplies
and hand tools (the “Business”);

WHEREAS, Sellers desire to sell to Buyer, and Buyer desires to purchase or cause one or more of its Affiliates to
purchase, as applicable, from Sellers, substantially all of the assets and liabilities of the Business, subject to the terms and
conditions set forth herein; and

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements hereinafter set forth and for other
good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties, intending to be legally
bound hereby, agree as follows:

ARTICLE1

DEFINITIONS AND RULES OF CONSTRUCTION
Section 1.1. Definitions.

(@) Whenever used in this Agreement, the following words and phrases will, when capitalized, have the respective
meanings ascribed to them as follows:

“Action” means any demand, dispute, charge, claim, action, suit, countersuit, arbitration, mediation, hearing, inquiry,
proceeding, audit, review, complaint, litigation or investigation, sanction, summons, subpoena, examination, citation, audit, review
or proceeding of any Governmental Authority.

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the Person specified. The term “control” (including the
terms “controlling,” “controlled by”



and “under common control with”) means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the
management, policies and affairs of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by Contract or otherwise.

“Affiliated Real Property Leases” means any Real Property Lease between a Company, on the one hand, and any
other Company, the Hargreaves or any Affiliate thereof on the other hand.

“Asset Sellers” means Sunlight Supply, Sunlight Garden, Sunlight ULC and IP Holdings.

“Assumed Current Assets” means all Purchased Assets that are Current Assets.

“Assumed Current Liabilities” means all Assumed Liabilities that are Current Liabilities.

“Business Day” means any day, other than Saturday and Sunday, on which federally-insured commercial banks in
New York, New York are open for business (and not required or authorized to be closed) and capable of sending and receiving wire
transfers.

“Business Intellectual Property” means all of Sellers’ right, title and interests in Intellectual Property that is now,
and/or at the time of the Closing will be, used or held for use in or otherwise necessary for the conduct of the Business, including
all the Intellectual Property listed in Section 3.18 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule.

“Business Material Adverse Effect” means any event, change, development, effect, condition, circumstance,
matter, occurrence or state of facts that, individually or in the aggregate, has a material adverse effect on the business, operations or
financial condition of the Business taken as a whole; provided, that none of the following events, changes, developments, effects,
conditions, circumstances, matters, occurrences or states of facts shall be taken into account in determining whether there has been
or may be a Business Material Adverse Effect: (a) any change or development in United States financial or securities markets,
general economic or business conditions or political or regulatory conditions in the United States, (b) any act of war, armed
hostilities or terrorism, (c) any change or development in the industry in which the Business operates, (d) any change in Law or the
enforcement thereof or in GAAP or the interpretation thereof, (e) the public announcement or pendency of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement or the Transaction Documents, (f) any change resulting from any action taken or omitted to be
taken by or at the written request or consent of Buyer, or (g) any failure of the Business to meet, with respect to any period or
periods, any internal or external projections, forecasts, estimates of earnings or revenues or business plans, except (i) in the case of
clauses (a), (b), (c) or (d) to the extent such events, changes, developments, effects, conditions, circumstances, matters, occurrences
or states of facts have a disproportionate effect on the Business relative to other Persons engaged in the industry in which the
Business operates and (ii) in the case of clause (g), that the underlying reasons for such failure may be considered if such
underlying reasons do not arise out of any of the events set forth in clauses (a)-(e).



“Business Product Registrations” means all Product Registrations used or held for use or contemplated to be used
or held for use by any Company or any third party in connection with the marketing and sale of the Business Products to the end-
user.

“Business Products” means all of the products of the Business that have been or are currently sold, licensed,
distributed or otherwise made available to customers, as applicable, including the Registered Products and any products currently
under development or scheduled for commercial release within 180 days of the date of this Agreement or otherwise scheduled to be
provided to customers.

“Buyer Material Adverse Effect” means a material adverse effect on the ability of Buyer to consummate the
transactions contemplated hereby and fulfill its obligations under this Agreement.

“Closing Date Net Working Capital” means the Net Working Capital calculated as of the end of the Business Day
immediately preceding the Closing Date, calculated in accordance with Exhibit G.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986.
“Columbia River” means Columbia River Industrial Holdings, LL.C, a Washington limited liability company.
“Companies” means Sunlight Supply, Sunlight Garden, Sunlight ULC, Columbia River and IP Holdings.

“Company-Owned Business Product Registrations” means any Business Product Registration owned by any

Company.

“Confidential Information” has the meaning set forth in the Confidentiality Agreement.

“Confidentiality Agreement” means the confidentiality agreement, dated January 16, 2018, between Sunlight
Supply and Parent.

“Contract” means any agreement, contract, plan, undertaking, instrument, note, bond, mortgage, indenture, deed of
trust, loan, credit agreement, franchise concession, Permit, license, lease, purchase order, sales order or other similar commitment,
obligation, arrangement or understanding, whether written or oral.

“Copyright Assignment Agreement” means the agreement, substantially in the form attached as Exhibit D hereto.

“Current Assets” means, as of a particular date and without duplication, amounts which would, in conformity with
GAAP, be included under and classified as current assets on a consolidated balance sheet of Sellers, provided, however, that (a) the
amount of Receivables from Sellers’ consolidated balance sheet will be reduced to an amount equal to Eligible Receivables, (b)



Current Assets will exclude assets associated with Taxes, and (c) Current Assets will not include Inventory other than Inventory of
the supplier listed on Schedule CA. Current Assets will be calculated in accordance with Exhibit G.

“Current Liabilities” means, as of a particular date and without duplication, amounts which would, in conformity
with GAAP, be included under and classified as current liabilities on a consolidated balance sheet of Sellers, including (a) all of
Sellers’ obligations with respect to accounts payable associated with the corresponding Business obligations of any Seller and
(b) all accrued, but unpaid, expenses; provided, however, that Current Liabilities will exclude liabilities associated with Taxes.
Current Liabilities will be calculated in accordance with Exhibit G.

“Customer Orders” means all bona fide purchase orders that have been received by Asset Sellers for the shipment
of goods or services prior to and as of the Closing Date.

“Domain Name Assignment Agreement” means the agreement, substantially in the form attached as Exhibit E
hereto.

“Eligible Receivables” means Receivables less reserves established by Sellers in accordance with GAAP for
returns, allowances, chargebacks and discounts to, or taken by, customers for such Receivables.

“Employees” means each person who, immediately prior to the Closing, is an employee of any of the Asset Sellers,
other than Craig R. Hargreaves and Kim E. Hargreaves.

“Encumbrances” means any and all liens, charges, security interests, mortgages, pledges, options, preemptive
rights, rights of first refusal or first offer, proxies, levies, voting trusts or agreements, or other adverse claims or restrictions on, or
imperfections of, title or transfer of any nature whatsoever (including any Encumbrances arising from any Liability for Taxes).

nvironment” means soil, surface waters, groundwater, drinking water, natural resources, land, stream sediments,
“E t” 1, surf t dwater, drink t tural land, st d t
surface or subsurface strata, ambient air, indoor air, any material or substance used in the physical structure of any building or
improvement and any environmental medium.

“Environmental Condition” means any condition of the Environment that violates any Environmental Law or that
results in any Release, threat of Release, Loss or Liability with respect to (a) the Real Property arising, existing or occurring on or
prior to the Closing, (b) any Real Property previously owned, leased or operated by the Companies, the Hargreaves or any of their
respective Affiliates in connection with the Business to the extent such condition of the Environment existed or occurred at the time
of such ownership, lease or operation, or (c) any other real property at which any Hazardous Substance generated by the operation
of the Business prior to the Closing has been treated, stored, recycled, disposed of, or has otherwise come to be located.

“Environmental I.aw” means any Law relating to (a) human health or safety (including public or workplace health
and safety), (b) protection of the Environment, (c) Releases




of Hazardous Substances, (d) injury, harm or adverse health effects to Persons relating to exposure to Hazardous Substances, or (e)
the treatment, storage, recycling, handling, use, generation, manufacture, sale, distribution, importation, exportation, labeling or
reporting relating to Hazardous Substances.

“Environmental L.oss” means any Loss arising out of or relating to Environmental Laws, an Environmental
Condition or Release of Hazardous Substance.

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, as construed to include all
applicable regulations, orders, rules, judgments, rulings and other pronouncements issued thereunder.

“ERISA Affiliate” means a Person required at any particular time to be aggregated with any of Sellers under
Sections 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code or Section 4001 of ERISA.

“Excluded Taxes” means any (a) Taxes imposed on or payable by Sellers, including any and all Taxes of any Person
(other than Sellers) imposed on or payable by Sellers or any of Sellers’ predecessors in interest pursuant to any Law, as a transferee
or successor, under any Contract or otherwise, (b) Taxes imposed on or with respect to the Purchased Assets or the Business for all
periods ending prior to, and portions thereof through the end of, the Closing Date, and (c) all amounts for which Seller is
responsible under Section 2.11.

“FCPA” means the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977.
“GAAP” means United States generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied.

“Governmental Authority” means any international, supranational, national, provincial, regional, federal, state,
municipal or local government, any instrumentality, subdivision, court, tribunal, judicial or arbitral body, administrative or
regulatory agency or commission or other authority thereof, or any quasi-governmental or private body exercising any regulatory,
taxing, importing or other governmental or quasi-governmental authority.

“Hazardous Substance” means any pollutant, toxic substance, asbestos and asbestos-containing materials,
hazardous waste, hazardous material, hazardous substance, contaminant, petroleum and petroleum-containing materials, radiation
and radioactive materials, leaded paints, toxic mold, polychlorinated biphenyls and other substances or materials as defined in, the
subject of, or which could give rise to Liability under, any Environmental Law.

“Indebtedness” means, with respect to any Person, (a) all obligations of such Person for borrowed money
(including reimbursement and all other obligations with respect to surety bonds, letters of credit and bankers’ acceptances, whether
or not matured), (b) all obligations of such Person evidenced by notes, bonds, debentures or similar instruments, (c) all obligations
of such Person to pay the deferred purchase price of property or services, except trade accounts payable and accrued commercial or
trade Liabilities arising in the ordinary course of business, (d) all interest rate and currency swaps, caps, collars and similar
agreements or hedging devices under which payments are



obligated to be made by such Person, whether periodically or upon the happening of a contingency, (e) all indebtedness created or
arising under any conditional sale or other title retention agreement with respect to property acquired by such Person, (f) all
obligations of such Person under leases which have been or should be, in accordance with GAAP, recorded as capital leases, (g) all
indebtedness secured by any lien on any property or asset owned or held by such Person regardless of whether the indebtedness
secured thereby will have been assumed by such Person or is non-recourse to the credit of such Person, (h) all guarantees by such
Person of the indebtedness of any other Person, and (i) all other obligations that would be required to be reflected as debt in
accordance with GAAP.

“Information Systems” means computer systems, networks, hardware, Software, databases, internet web sites and
equipment used to process, store, maintain and operate data, information and functions used in connection with the Business.

“Intellectual Property” means all intellectual property, in any jurisdiction worldwide, whether registered or
unregistered, including (a) all trademarks, service marks, trade names, logos, artwork, designs, slogans and symbols, corporate
names, certification marks, collective marks, d/b/a’s, Internet domain names and websites, user names on social media websites,
business symbols, brand names and other indicia of origin, all applications and registration for the foregoing and all goodwill
associated therewith and symbolized thereby, including all renewals of same, (b) all patents, patent applications and inventions, if
any, including any provisional, utility, continuation, continuation-in-part or divisional applications filed in the United States or any
other jurisdiction and all reissues thereof and all reexamination certificates issuing therefrom, (c) all published and unpublished
works of authorship, if any, whether copyrightable or not (including data bases and other compilations of information), copyrights
therein and thereto, and registrations and applications therefor, and all renewals, extensions, restorations and reversions thereof, (d)
all confidential or proprietary information, trade secrets and know-how, if any, including processes, schematics, business methods,
formulae, drawings, prototypes, models, designs, customer and supplier lists, advertising materials and other industry information,
(e) the rights of privacy and publicity and to sue for and recover damages, assert, settle and/or release any claims or demands and
obtain all other remedies and relief at Law or equity for any past, present or future infringement or misappropriation of any of the
Intellectual Property, (f) all licenses, options to license and other contractual rights to use the Intellectual Property, (g) all UPC
Codes, and (h) all computer and electronic data processing programs and Software and related documentation, existing research
projects, Software presently under development, and all Software concepts owned and all proprietary information, processes,
formulae and algorithms, used in the ownership, marketing, development, maintenance, support and delivery of such Software,
subject to all applicable licenses and rights to use such Software.

“Intellectual Property Assignments” means the Trademark Assignment Agreement, Copyright Assignment
Agreement, Domain Name Assignment Agreement and Patent Assignment Agreement.

“Inventory” means all inventory, including finished goods, work-in-process, packaging, parts, supplies and raw
materials.



“IRS” means the United States Internal Revenue Service, or any successor Governmental Authority.
“Key Employee” means those persons identified on Section 1.1(KE) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule.
“Key Employee Offer I etters” means the agreements, substantially in the form attached as Exhibit H hereto.

“Law” means any federal, provincial, state, local, municipal, foreign, national, supranational, international,
multinational or other administrative order, constitution, law, ordinance, principle of common law, regulation, statute, treaty, rule,
code or other requirement imposed by a Governmental Authority.

“Liability” means any direct or indirect, primary or secondary, liability, Indebtedness, obligation, penalty, cost or
expense (including costs of investigation, collection and defense), claim, deficiency, guaranty or endorsement of or by any Person
of any type, secured or unsecured, whether accrued, fixed, absolute or contingent, direct or indirect, asserted or unasserted, due or
to become due, whenever or however arising (including contract, tort, negligence or strict liability), liquidated or unliquidated,
matured or unmatured, known or unknown or otherwise.

“Losses” means any and all damages, fines, fees, penalties, deficiencies, Liabilities, claims, losses (excluding any
diminution in value of the Inventory), demands, judgments, settlements, actions, obligations and costs and expenses (including
interest, court costs and fees and reasonable costs of attorneys, accountants and other experts or other expenses of litigation or other
proceedings or of any claim, default or assessment).

“Net Working Capital” means, as of a specified date, and calculated in accordance with Exhibit G, (a) the sum of
Assumed Current Assets less (b) Assumed Current Liabilities; provided, that such calculation will exclude (i) any intercompany
accounts and any balances owed between or among any of Sellers, (ii) any Tax Liabilities or Tax assets, (iii) any property or item of
value received in connection with any transfer of any Excluded Assets (other than any Assumed Current Assets or cash so received,
which will be included in the calculations), (iv) any gain or loss relating to or resulting from any hedging agreement; and (v) any
Inventory. Whenever the term “GAAP” is used in this Agreement in connection with a definition used in the calculation of Net
Working Capital, “GAAP” shall mean GAAP as applied in a manner consistent with the accounting practices used to prepare the
Exhibit G.

“Non-Affiliated Real Property Leases” means any Real Property Lease that is not an Affiliated Real Property
Lease.

“Non-Solicitation Agreement” means the mutual non-solicitation agreement, dated January 31, 2018, between
Sunlight Supply and Parent.

» <«

“Open_Source Materials” refers to any Software or other material that is distributed as “free software,
source software” or under similar licensing or distribution terms (including

open




the GNU General Public License (GPL), GNU Lesser General Public License (LGPL), Mozilla Public License (MPL), BSD
licenses, the Artistic License, the Netscape Public License, the Sun Community Source License (SCSL), the Sun Industry
Standards License (SISL), the Apache License, and any license identified as an open source license by the Open Source Initiative
(www.opensource.org)).

“Patent Assignment Agreement” means the agreement, substantially in the form attached as Exhibit F hereto.

“Permit” means any permit, license, franchise, approval, consent, registration, clearance, variance, exemption,
order, certificate or authorization by, of or to any Governmental Authority.

“Permitted Encumbrances” means (a) liens for Taxes not yet due and payable, (b) such non-monetary
imperfections of title, if any, which do not materially detract from the value or materially interfere with the present use of the
property subject thereto or affected thereby, (c) statutory liens to secure obligations to landlords, lessors or renters under leases or
rental agreements, (d) statutory liens in favor of carriers, warehousemen, mechanics and materialmen, to secure claims for labor,
materials or supplies and other like liens arising or incurred in the ordinary course of business for amounts which are not delinquent
and which are not, individually or in the aggregate, material and for which adequate reserves have been established, and (e) zoning,
entitlement, building and other land use regulations imposed by a Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over the Real
Property which are not violated by the current use and operation thereof.

“Person” means any natural person, corporation, general partnership, limited partnership, limited or unlimited
liability company, proprietorship, joint venture, other business organization, trust, union, association or Governmental Authority.

“Prepaid Expenses” means all prepaid expenses, deferred charges, advance payments, Security Deposits paid by or
on behalf of the Asset Sellers reserves in connection with any Permitted Encumbrances and similar items, excluding (i) any prepaid
Taxes, and (ii) any such items arising from, related to, or in connection with, any Excluded Assets. The Prepaid Expense categories
and amounts as of March 31, 2018 are set forth in Section 1.1(PE) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule.

“Product Registrations” means any and all pending applications or filings and all current registrations or
certifications issued under any federal or state statute or other Law or any other regulation, letters of authorization, and any and all
labels, data, including but not limited to toxicology, chemistry and efficacy data, studies, protocols, final reports and raw data, and
other documentation and information used and/or reasonably necessary to support such registrations and/or to support label or
advertising claims.

“Real Property” means any and all real property and interests in real property of the Companies (together with all
buildings, structures, fixtures and improvements thereon), including the Owned Real Property, the Leased Real Property, any real
property leaseholds and subleaseholds, purchase options, easements, licenses, rights to access and rights of way and any



other real property otherwise owned, occupied or used by the Companies in connection with the Business.

“Receivables” means all of the Companies’ accounts (including all health-care insurance receivables), Contract
rights, instruments (including promissory notes and other instruments evidencing Indebtedness owed to the Companies by any
Person other than any of their respective Affiliates), chattel paper (whether tangible or electronic), general intangible assets relating
to accounts, drafts and acceptances, and all other forms of obligation owing to any of the Companies arising out of, or in
connection with, the sale, lease or other disposition of Inventory or the rendition of services, and all guarantees and other security
therefor, whether secured or unsecured.

“Registered Products” means each of the end-user products sold by the Asset Sellers set forth on Section 1.1(RP)
of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule, which products are sold, as of the Closing, pursuant to Product Registrations.

“Release” means any releasing, spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying, discharging, injecting,
escaping, leaching, migrating, disposing, or dumping of a Hazardous Substance into the Environment (including the abandonment
or discarding of barrels, containers and other closed receptacles containing any Hazardous Substance).

“Representatives” with respect to any Person, means, collectively, such Person’s directors, officers, managers,
trustees, shareholders, members, partners, employees, agents, counsel, accountants, financial advisors, consultants and other
representatives.

“Security Deposit” means any security deposits, whether deposited with or paid by any of the Companies
(including any tenant security or other similar deposit held by or on behalf of a landlord in connection with any Leased Real
Property and any tenant security or other similar deposit held by or on behalf of any Seller in connection with any sub-lease
thereof).

“Seller Material Adverse Effect” means a material adverse effect on the ability of Sellers to consummate the
transactions contemplated hereby and fulfill their obligations under this Agreement.

“Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule” means that schedule of disclosures made by Sellers and annexed hereto as

Schedule 1.

“Sellers’ Knowledge” means, with respect to the Companies, the facts and circumstances that are known, after
reasonably inquiry, or reasonably should have been known, had such reasonably inquiry been undertaken, by Craig R. Hargreaves,
Kim E. Hargreaves, Doug Hargreaves and Ann Rivers, pursuant to the discharge of their duties in the ordinary course.

“Software” means all computer software and code, including assemblers, applets, compilers, source code, object
code, development tools, design tools, user interfaces, databases and data, in any form or format, however fixed, including any
related documentation.



“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person (a) of which the first Person owns directly or
indirectly 50% or more of the equity interest in the other Person, (b) of which the first Person or any other Subsidiary of the first
Person is a general partner or managing member, (c) of which securities or other ownership interests having ordinary voting power
to elect a majority of the board of directors or other persons performing similar functions with respect to the other Person are at the
time owned by the first Person and/or one or more of the first Person’s Subsidiaries, or (d) whose financial results are required by
GAAP to be consolidated with the financial results of the first Person.

“Tangible Property” means all machinery, tools, equipment, computers, computer equipment, servers, computer
disks and peripheral devices, appliances, fixtures, motor vehicles, trucks, forklifts and other rolling stock, spare parts and other
tangible personal property (other than Inventory, except for purposes of Section 3.16) including any assignable warranties related
thereto, in each case whether owned or leased by any of the Companies or the Hargreaves or any of their respective Affiliates, that
in the past 12 months has been, is now, or at the time of the Closing will be, used or held for use in or otherwise necessary for the
conduct of, the Business.

“Target Net Working Capital” means $6,568,545.

“Tax” and “Taxes” means all federal, state or local and all foreign taxes, including income, gross receipts, windfall
profits, value added, severance, property, production, sales, use, duty, license, excise, franchise, employment, withholding or
similar taxes, together with any interest, additions or penalties with respect thereto and any interest with respect to such additions or
penalties, and including any liability under state or local abandonment or unclaimed property, escheat or similar Law.

“Tax Return” means any return, declaration, report, claim for refund or information return or statement relating to
Taxes, including any schedule or attachment thereto, and including any amendment thereof.

“Taxing_Authority” means any Governmental Authority or any subdivision, agency, commission or authority
thereof having jurisdiction over the assessment, determination, collection or imposition of any Tax.

“Trademark Assignment Agreement” means the agreement, substantially in the form attached as Exhibit C

hereto.

“Transaction Documents” means this Agreement and each other agreement, document, instrument or certificate
contemplated hereby or thereby or to be executed by Sellers or Buyer in connection with the consummation of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement.

“UPC Code” means any Universal Product Code, including any International Article Numbers.
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Section 1.2. Definitions defined in Agreement.

“Agreement” Preamble
“Allocation Principles” 5.3(b)
“Asset Allocation Statement” 5.3(b)
“Assumed Liabilities” 2.3(a)
“Benefit Plans” 3.7()(1)
“Bill of Sale” 2.7(a)
“Business” Recitals
“Business Permits” 3.10(d)
“Buyer” Preamble
“Buyer Fundamental Representations” 8.1
“Buyer Parties” 8.3
“Buyer’s Closing Date Net Working Capital” 2.10(c)
“Cash Amount” 2.5(a)
“Claim” 8.4
“Closing” 2.6
“Closing Date” 2.6
“Closing Date Balance Sheet” 2.10(a)
“Consent” 3.2(b)
“Contingent Payment” 2.5(c)
“Deductible Amount” 8.7(a)
“Dispute Notice” 2.10(b)
“Employee Handbook” 3.18(c)
“Employment Commencement Date” 5.6(b)
“Escrow Accounts” 5.9
“Escrow Agent” 59
“Escrow Agreement” 5.9
“Escrow Amount” 2.8(b)
“Excluded Assets” 2.2(m)
“Excluded Liabilities” 24
“FF&E” 2.1(b)
“Final Closing Date Net Working Capital” 2.10(d)
“Final Release Date” 5.9
“Financial Statements” 3.3(a)
“First Release Date” 5.9
“Fundamental Representations” 8.1
“Governmental Antitrust Entity” 5.7(c)
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“Hargreaves”

“Highest 30-Day Share Price”
“HSR Act”
“Indemnitees”
“Indemnitor”
“Interests”

“Interim Balance Sheet”
“IP Holdings”

“Leased Real Property”
“Leave Employee”
“Maintenance Fees”

“Material Contract”

“Maximum Indemnity Amount”
“Non-Affiliated Real Property Lease Assignments”
“Officer’s Certificate”

“Orders”

“Owned Real Property”

“Parent”

“Parent Shares”

“Parties”

“Pay-Off Letters”

“Projected Closing Date Balance Sheet”
“Projected Closing Date Net Working Capital”
“Purchase Price”

“Purchased Assets”

“Purchased Contracts”

“Real Property I eases”

“Reviewing Accountant”

“Second Release Date”

“Seller Fundamental Representations”
“Seller Parties”

“Sellers”

“Sellers’ Closing Date Net Working Capital”
“Stock Consideration”

“Sunlight Garden”

“Sunlight Supply”

“Sunlight ULC”

“Tax Clearance Certificate”

“Terminating Breach”

“Termination Date”

12

Preamble
2.5(c)
3.2(c)

8.3

8.4
2.1(q)
3.3(a)
Preamble
3.19(b)
5.6(a)
5.15(c)
3.15(a)(xxiv)
8.7(a)
2.7(e)
8.6(a)

3.9
3.19(a)

Preamble
2.5(a)

Preamble
2.7(k)

2.9

2.9
2.5(a)

2.1
2.1(h)
3.15(a)(xx)
2.10(c)
5.9

8.1

8.2
Preamble
2.10(c)
2.5(a)

Preamble

Preamble

Preamble
5.3(c)
7.1(b)

7.1(d)(iii)



“Third-Party Claim” 8.5(a)

“Transfer Taxes” 5.3(a)
“Transferring Employee” 5.6(b)
“Valuation Expert” 5.3(b)
“WARN Act” 3.8(c)

Section 1.3.  Grammatical Constructions. As used in this Agreement, except to the extent that the context otherwise
requires:

(a) when a reference is made in this Agreement to an Article, Section, Exhibit or Schedule, such reference is to an
Article or Section of, or an Exhibit or Schedule to, this Agreement unless otherwise indicated, and any Schedule or Exhibit referred
to herein will be construed with, and as an integral part of, this Agreement to the same extent as if they were set forth verbatim;

(b) the table of contents and headings for this Agreement are for reference purposes only and do not affect in any
way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement;

(c)  whenever the words “include,” “includes” or “including” (or similar terms) are used in this Agreement,
irrespective of whether used in connection with the words “without limitation,” they are deemed in all cases to be followed by the
words “without limitation”;

(d) the words “hereof,” “herein” and “hereunder” and words of similar import, when used in this Agreement, refer
to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement;

(e) all terms defined in this Agreement have their defined meanings when used in any certificate or other
document made or delivered pursuant hereto, unless otherwise defined therein;

(f) the definitions contained in this Agreement are applicable to the singular as well as the plural forms of such
terms;

(g) if any action is to be taken by any Party hereto pursuant to this Agreement on a day that is not a Business Day,
such action will be taken on the next Business Day following such day, and any deadline shall be deemed to expire at 5:00 p.m.
Pacific Time;

(h) references to a Person are also to its permitted successors and assigns;
(i) the use of “or” is not intended to be exclusive unless expressly indicated otherwise;
(j) “ordinary course of business” (or similar terms) will be deemed followed by “consistent with past practice”;

(k) “assets” will include “rights,” including rights under Contracts, unless expressly indicated otherwise;
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(I) “reasonable efforts” or similar terms will not require the waiver of any rights under this Agreement;

(m) any reference to any Law will be deemed also to refer to all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder and
to include all statutory and regulatory provisions consolidating, amending or replacing the Law, unless the context requires
otherwise;

(n) any reference to a Contract or other document means such Contract or other document as amended,
supplemented and modified from time to time to the extent permitted by the provisions thereof; and

(o) all accounting terms used herein and not expressly defined herein will have the meanings given to them under
GAAP, and any references to “dollars,” “$” or other dollar amounts in this Agreement will mean the lawful currency of the United
States.

ARTICLE II

PURCHASE AND SALE OF ASSETS AND CLOSING

Section 2.1.  Purchase and Sale. At the Closing, upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, each
Seller will sell, transfer, assign, convey and deliver to Buyer, and Buyer will purchase from each Seller and acquire good, valid and
marketable title to, free and clear of all Encumbrances, other than Permitted Encumbrances, all of the assets, properties and rights
of each Seller that are now, in the past twelve (12) months have been, or at the time of the Closing are, used or held for use in or
otherwise necessary for the conduct of, the Business, including all assets reflected on the most recent balance sheet included in the
Financial Statements and not subsequently disposed of in the ordinary course of business without breach of any provision of this
Agreement, in each case other than the Excluded Assets described in Section 2.2 (collectively, the “Purchased Assets”). The
Purchased Assets will include:

(a) all Leased Real Property (including all rights of the Asset Sellers in any leases of Leased Real Property);

(b) all Tangible Property (including all rights of Asset Sellers in any leases of Tangible Property), including all of
the furniture, fixtures and equipment (“FF&E”) and including the items listed on Section 2.1(b) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule;

(c) all Inventory;
(d) Customer Orders;

(e) all Receivables and rights of any Asset Seller to receive payments arising out of, sales occurring in the conduct
of the Business and the security agreements related thereto, including all rights of any Asset Seller with respect to any third-party
collection proceedings or any other actions or proceedings that have been commenced in connection therewith;
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(f)  Asset Sellers’ UPC Codes used or held for use in or otherwise necessary for the conduct of the Business,
including the items set forth in Section 2.1(f) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule;

(g)  all Business Intellectual Property and all rights to sue and recover damages for past, present and future
infringement, dilution, misappropriation, violation, unlawful imitation or breach thereof;

(h) all interests, rights, claims and benefits of Asset Sellers under all Contracts that are now, or at the time of the
Closing are, used or useful in, or necessary for the conduct of the Business or relating to or arising out of the conduct of the
Business, including all Contracts under which any of Sellers have the right to protect the confidentiality of information relating to
the Business or to prevent third parties from competing with the Business or soliciting Employees, all customer and distributor
agreements, all of which Contracts, if material, are required to be listed either in Section 2.1(h), 3.15 or 3.19(b) of Sellers’
Disclosure Schedule (collectively, the “Purchased Contracts”™);

(i) all Permits that are now, or at the time of the Closing will be, used or held for use in or otherwise necessary for
the conduct of, the Business, including the Business Permits listed in Section 3.10(d) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule;

(j)  all files, documents, instruments, papers, books and records (whether in paper, digital or other tangible or
intangible form) that are now, or at the time of the Closing will be, used or held for use in or otherwise necessary for the conduct of,
the Business, the Purchased Assets or the Assumed Liabilities, (other than those set forth in Section 2.2), including copies of
financial records, copies of Tax records (other than income Tax records), all technical information, operating and production
records, quality control records, blueprints, research and development notebooks and files, customer credit data, manuals,
engineering and scientific data, sales and promotional literature, drawings, technical plans, business plans, budgets, price lists, lists
of customers and suppliers and human resources data (including copies of all files and records associated with Transferring
Employees);

(k) all rights, claims (other than those set forth in Section 2.2(k)) and causes of Action that are now, or at the time
of the Closing will be, used or held for use in or otherwise necessary for the conduct of, the Business or any of the Assumed
Liabilities or the Purchased Assets;

()  all Prepaid Expenses that are now, or at the time of the Closing will be, used or held for use in or otherwise
necessary for the conduct of the Business;

(m) all rights of any Seller under or pursuant to all warranties, representations, indemnities and guarantees made
by suppliers, manufacturers, intermediaries, distributors or contractors in connection with products sold or services provided to any
Seller for, or in connection with, the Business, or in respect of any Purchased Asset, but excluding any such rights with respect to
Excluded Assets;
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(n) all telephone numbers, websites and domain names and user names on social media websites that are now, or at
the time of the Closing will be, used or held for use in or otherwise necessary for the conduct of, the Business;

(o) all goodwill associated with the Business and the Purchased Assets, together with the right to represent to third
parties that Buyer is the successor to the Business;

(p) all other assets described in Section 2.1(p) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule, whether or not now, or at the time
of the Closing, used or held for use in or otherwise necessary for the conduct of, the Business; and

(@ all of the issued and outstanding membership interests or other equity interests of Columbia River (the
“Interests™).

Section 2.2. Excluded Assets. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement express or implied to the contrary, Buyer
will not acquire and the Purchased Assets will not include the following assets, properties and rights:

(@) the capital stock of, or any membership interest, partnership interest or any similar equity interest in, any
Person, other than the Interests;

(b) any Benefit Plan and all Contracts and refunds related thereto (including refunds of workers’ compensation
expenses, Contract premiums or payments);

(c)  insurance policies and all prepaid expenses or premiums, proceeds, rights and claims thereunder and all
insurance benefits;

(d) all rights to any refunds of Taxes imposed on or with respect to the Business and paid by any Seller prior to the
Closing;

(e) the minute books, charter documents, and transfer records of Asset Sellers and such other books and records as
pertain to the organization, existence or capitalization of Asset Sellers, any other books or records not related to the Business or the
Purchased Assets and financial records pertinent to Sellers’ operation of the Business (copies of which will be provided to Buyer);

(f) Sellers’ rights under this Agreement and the Transaction Documents to which it is a party;
(g) all assets owned or held in trust or otherwise associated with or used in connection with any Benefit Plan;

(h) all of Sellers’ rights, claims, causes of Action, rights of recovery and rights of set-off of any kind against third
parties which (i) may arise in connection with the discharge by Sellers of the Excluded Liabilities or (ii) are not related to the
Purchased Assets;

(i) any prepaid expenses made by or on behalf of Sellers other than Prepaid Expenses;
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(j) all cash held by the Asset Sellers;

(k)  the claims of any Seller including any award, settlement, judgment, or other proceeds arising out of or in
connection with the matters listed in Section 3.9 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule;

() all confidential communications, files, documents, papers, books and records (whether in paper, digital or other
tangible or intangible form) created by or on behalf of Sellers pertaining to the performance of this Agreement or the negotiations,
preparation, and investigation preceding this Agreement, and any other books and records which Sellers are prohibited from
disclosing or transferring under applicable Law and are required by applicable Law to retain; and

(m) each of the assets set forth in Section 2.2(m) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule (the assets, properties and rights
in this Section 2.2 collectively, the “Excluded Assets”).

Section 2.3. Assumed Liabilities.

(a) Buyer agrees that, on the Closing Date, Buyer will assume and thereafter pay, perform or discharge, as the case
may be only (i) the Liabilities of Sellers arising after the Closing Date that are either in respect of ownership of the Purchased
Assets as of and following the Closing Date or the conduct of the Business as of and following the Closing Date and (ii) the
Liabilities reflected in the calculation of the Final Closing Date Net Working Capital (collectively, the “Assumed Liabilities”).

(b) In the event of any claim against Buyer with respect to any of the Assumed Liabilities, Buyer will have, and
each Seller hereby assigns to Buyer, all defenses, counterclaims and rights of setoff that would have been available to any Seller or
the Business if such claim had been asserted against any Seller or the Business, except and to the only extent such defense,
counterclaim or right of setoff would give rise to a Loss for a Seller, in which event Seller will promptly notify Buyer in writing
that such claim is being retained by Seller and such claim shall be handled pursuant to Article VIII of this Agreement. The
assumption by Buyer of the Assumed Liabilities and the transfer of the Assumed Liabilities by any Seller will in no way expand the
rights or remedies of any Person against Buyer, Sellers, their respective Affiliates or any of their respective Representatives as
compared to the rights and remedies that such Person would have had against Buyer, any Seller, their respective Affiliates or any of
their respective Representatives had Buyer not assumed the Assumed Liabilities.

Section 2.4.  Excluded Liabilities. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement express or implied to the contrary
(and without any implication that Buyer is assuming any Liability of Sellers or the Business or any Liability related to any of the
Purchased Assets not expressly excluded), Buyer is not assuming or becoming obligated in any way in respect of, and will not be
required to pay, perform, undertake or discharge, any Liabilities that are not specifically included in the Assumed Liabilities,
including (a) any debt for borrowed money and all fees, accrued and unpaid interest, premiums or penalties relating to the
foregoing, (b) any Liabilities to the extent relating to, resulting from or arising out of any Environmental Law (including any
violation of Environmental Law), Environmental Condition, or any Release of Hazardous Substance on, under,
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at or migrating to or from any of the Companies’ or any of their predecessors current or former facilities, (c) any Liability arising
from facts or circumstances or underlying conditions or events or activities first occurring on or prior to the Closing, or relating to
the conduct or operation of the Business or any other conduct of Sellers and their Affiliates and their respective officers, directors,
employees, consultants, agents or advisors on or prior to the Closing, (d) any Liability for Excluded Taxes, or (e) all Liabilities
relating to any former employee or any Employees other than the Transferring Employees and with respect to the Transferring
Employees up to the Closing Date, including without limitation (i) under or relating to any Benefit Plan or any other employee
benefit arrangement of any of the Companies, (ii) all salaries, wages, commissions, contractual incentive payments, contractual
bonuses, employer insurance contributions, statutory holiday pay, overtime pay and similar obligations (including all related Taxes
and social insurance costs), relating to any Employee prior to the Closing Date, (iii) Liabilities under all applicable Laws or
statutory plans and related to any required notice of termination, termination, severance or similar obligation with respect to or
arising from the termination of employment with Sellers and its Affiliates of an Employee (including all related Taxes and social
insurance costs), (iv) all Liabilities relating to compliance with the requirements of Section 4980B of the Code, Part 6 of Subtitle B
of Title I or ERISA, or any similar state or local Law or applicable employment standards legislation, including the provision of
continuation coverage, with respect to all Employees who do not become Transferring Employees, and their spouses and
dependents, and with respect to Transferring Employees, and their spouses and dependents, for whom a qualifying event occurs
prior to or on the Closing Date, (v) long-term disability (whether long-term or short-term) coverage of Employees who do not
become Transferring Employees and of Transferring Employees for whom the incident or circumstance giving rise to such
coverage occurred prior to or on the Closing Date, (vi) any workers’ compensation, occupational disease or illness, state or other
disability or similar workers’ protection claims with respect to any Employee (including any Transferring Employee), to the extent
the injury or illness giving rise to such claim originated prior to the Closing Date, or (vii) any Liability relating to any
misclassification of individual independent contractors or consultants who perform all or substantially all of his or her services for
Sellers or any of its Subsidiaries on behalf of the Business (the “Excluded Liabilities”).

Section 2.5. Purchase Price.

(@) In full consideration for the transfer of the Purchased Assets, Buyer will deliver and pay to Sellers pursuant to
the instructions set forth on Section 2.5(a) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule or, at any Seller’s written direction certain other Persons,
a purchase price of $450,000,000, plus, to the extent payable pursuant to Section 2.5(c), the Contingent Payment (the “Purchase
Price”) subject to any adjustments required pursuant to Sections 2.9 and 2.10. The Purchase Price is payable as follows: (i) at the
Closing, (x) Buyer will pay to Sellers pursuant to the instructions set forth on Section 2.5(a) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule or, at
any Seller’s written direction, certain other Persons, a total of $425,000,000 (the “Cash Amount”) in immediately available funds
by bank wire transfer to such accounts designated in writing for this purpose by each Seller to Buyer at least two Business Days
prior to the Closing and (y) Parent will deliver to Sellers, pursuant to the instructions set forth on Section 2.5(a) of Sellers’
Disclosure Schedule or, at any Seller’s written direction, Craig R. Hargreaves, on behalf of Sellers, duly authorized, validly issued,
fully paid and nonassessable shares of common stock, no par value, of Parent (the “Parent Shares”) having an
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aggregate value (determined in accordance with Section 2.5(b)) of $25,000,000 (the “Stock Consideration”) and (ii) after the
Closing, Buyer will, if earned, deliver and pay the Contingent Payment in accordance with Section 2.5(c). Each Seller
acknowledges that (A) any payment made to a Person other than the applicable Seller pursuant to this Section 2.5(a) is at such
Seller’s direction and is in complete satisfaction of Buyer’s obligations under this Section 2.5(a) and (B) no Parent Share it receives
pursuant to this Section 2.5(a) may be transferred to another Person until the date that is one Business Day following the one year
anniversary of the Closing Date; provided, that any Seller may transfer Parent Shares to any of the Hargreaves, subject to the same
restriction or to any trust or other estate planning vehicle, so long as one or both of the Hargreaves are the trustee or beneficiary.
Dividends, distributions, splits, and other benefits of the Parent Shares during the restricted period shall inure to the benefit of
Sellers; provided, however, that to the extent any portion of the Stock Consideration is held in escrow pursuant to Section 5.9 of
this Agreement, any such dividends, distributions, splits or other benefits attributable to such Parent Shares will be deposited into
esCrow.

(b) For the purposes of Section 2.5(a), the value of one Parent Share will equal the average closing price of Parent
Shares for a period of 30 Trading Days ending three Trading Days prior to the date hereof. A “Trading Day” means a day on which
the New York Stock Exchange is open for the buying and selling of securities.

(c)  If the highest rolling average closing price of the Parent Shares for any continuous 30 Trading Days, for a
period starting on the six-month anniversary of the Closing Date and ending on the one year anniversary of the Closing Date, (the
“Highest 30-Day Share Price”) is equal to or greater than $101 per share, Sellers will be entitled to a contingent cash payment
(“Contingent Payment”). The value of the Contingent Payment will be based on the Highest 30-Day Share Price in accordance
with the Contingent Payment Scale attached hereto as Exhibit K. Within five Business Days following the one year anniversary of
the Closing Date, Buyer will deliver and pay to Sellers pursuant to the instruction set forth in Section 2.5(a) of Sellers’ Disclosure
Schedule, or at any Seller’s written direction, any other Persons, the Contingent Payment, if earned.

Section 2.6. Closing. Unless the Agreement is earlier terminated, the closing of the transactions contemplated hereby (the
“Closing”) will take place on the third Business Day following the satisfaction or waiver of all conditions set forth in Article VI
(other than conditions that, by their nature, are to be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or waiver of those
conditions) or at such other time and at such place as Buyer and Sellers mutually agree. The date on which the Closing actually
occurs is referred to herein as the “Cleosing Date.”

Section 2.7. Closing Deliveries by Sellers. At the Closing, Sellers will deliver or cause to be delivered to Buyer:

(a) a duly executed original copy of the Assignment and Assumption Agreement and Bill of Sale (the “Bill of
Sale”) in substantially the form of Exhibit A, duly executed by Sellers;

(b)  the Intellectual Property Assignments substantially in the forms attached hereto as Exhibit C, Exhibit D,
Exhibit E and Exhibit F, duly executed by Sellers;
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(c) the Escrow Agreement, duly executed by Sunlight Supply;
(d) the Key Employee Offer Letters, duly executed by each Key Employee, respectively;

(e) assignment in the form of Exhibit I hereto (the “Non-Affiliated Real Property Lease Assignments”), duly
executed by the applicable Seller, transferring all of such Seller’s right, title and interest in and to the Non-Affiliated Real Property
Leases set forth on Section 2.7(e) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule;

(f) evidence of termination of all Affiliated Real Property Leases set forth on Section 2.7(f) of Sellers’ Disclosure
Schedule, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Buyer and signed leases as required by Section 6.2(n);

(g) all Tax Clearance Certificates as provided under Section 5.3;

(h) a certificate described in Treasury Regulations Section 1.1445-2(b)(2) from each Seller, in a form reasonably
acceptable to Buyer and duly executed by each Seller, and an IRS Form W-9 form each Seller, properly completed and duly
executed by each Seller;

(i) alist of all Customers, together with their respective business addresses, as well as the telephone numbers and
electronic mail addresses for those individuals employed by those Customers responsible for U.S. state and local sales and use Tax
matters, to the extent known to Sellers;

(j) evidence of termination of all agreements pursuant to which any Seller is granted any right to use, or other
interest in, any Intellectual Property owned or purported to be owned by another Seller, including that certain Intellectual Property
License Agreement dated April 19, 2002 between IP Holdings and Sunlight Supply, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to
Buyer;

(k) the pay-off letters (the “Pay-Off Letters”) in a form reasonably satisfactory to Buyer, with respect to the pay-
off amounts of the Indebtedness of each Company from each of the Person listed on Section 2.7(k) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule,
which Pay-Off Letters shall specify that all liens and guarantees related to such Indebtedness shall be terminated and released after
satisfaction of the conditions specified therein;

(1) such further instruments and documents as may be required to be delivered by Sellers pursuant to the terms of
this Agreement or as may be reasonably requested by Buyer in connection with the Closing of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement and the Transaction Documents to complete the transfer of the Purchased Assets and the Business to Buyer, including
good and sufficient instruments of assignment with respect to the Intellectual Property, endorsements, consents, assignments and
other good and sufficient instruments of conveyance and assignment necessary or appropriate to vest in Buyer all right, title and
interest in, to and under the Purchased Assets; and
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(m) copies of documents filed by or on behalf of Sellers with the applicable Government Authority correcting the
defects in the chain of title relating to certain Business Intellectual Property set forth on Section 2.7(m) of Sellers’ Disclosure
Schedule, along with receipts or other documents evidencing that such documents have been filed with the applicable
Governmental Authority, in each case, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Buyer.

Section 2.8. Closing Deliveries by Buyer. At the Closing, Buyer will deliver or cause to be delivered:

(a) to Sellers, the Parent Shares in accordance with Section 2.5(a);

(b) to Sellers, in accordance with Section 2.5(a) an amount in cash equal to the Cash Amount less (i) the Escrow
Amount and (ii) the amounts payable pursuant to Section 2.8(d);

(0 to the Escrow Agent, an amount equal to [INTENTIONALLY OMITTED] (the “Escrow Amount”);
[INTENTIONALLY OMITTED] of which will be delivered by wire transfer of immediately-available funds, and [INTENTIONALLY
OMITTED] of which will be delivered by transfer of the beneficial ownership of Stock Consideration to the Escrow Agent in
accordance with the Escrow Agreement;

(d) to each Person listed on Section 2.7(k) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule, the amount set forth opposite such
Person’s name as the amount necessary, as set forth and in accordance with the applicable Pay-Off Letters, to fully discharge the
Indebtedness undertaken by each Company to such Person and outstanding as of immediately prior to the Closing, which amount
will be paid by wire transfer of immediately available funds in accordance with the instructions set forth in such schedule opposite
such Person’s name;

(e) to Sellers, the Bill of Sale, duly executed by Buyer;

(f) to Sellers, the Escrow Agreement, duly executed by Buyer;

(g) to Sellers, the Intellectual Property Assignments, duly executed by HGCI, Inc.;
(h) to Sellers, the Key Employee Offer Letters, duly executed by Buyer;

(i) and signed leases as required by Section 6.2(n); and

(j) such further instruments and documents as may be required to be delivered by Buyer pursuant to the terms of
this Agreement or as may be reasonably requested by Buyer in connection with the Closing of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement and the Transaction Documents.

Section 2.9.  Pre-Closing Delivery by Sellers; Adjustment. At least six Business Days prior to the Closing Date, Sellers
will deliver to Buyer the projected, unaudited consolidated balance sheet of Sellers as of the end of the Business Day immediately
preceding the Closing Date (the “Projected Closing Date Balance Sheet”), together with a statement based on the Projected

Closing
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Date Balance Sheet setting forth Sellers’ calculation of projected Net Working Capital as of the end of the Business Day
immediately preceding the Closing Date (the “Projected Closing Date Net Working Capital”). The Projected Closing Date
Balance Sheet and the Projected Closing Date Net Working Capital will be prepared in accordance with GAAP, applied in a manner
consistent with the accounting practices used to prepare the Financial Statements as of and for the 12-month period ended
December 31, 2017. Buyer will as promptly as practicable review the Projected Closing Date Balance Sheet and such statement of
Projected Closing Date Net Working Capital, and the Parties will promptly discuss in good faith all comments and questions Buyer
may have with respect to the Projected Closing Date Balance Sheet and such statement of Projected Closing Date Net Working
Capital. If, following such discussions, (a) the Projected Closing Date Net Working Capital is an amount greater than the Target Net
Working Capital, the Purchase Price and the Closing Payment will be increased by the amount of such excess, or (b) the Target Net
Working Capital is an amount greater than the Projected Closing Date Net Working Capital, the Purchase Price and the Closing
Payment will be decreased by the amount of such excess.

Section 2.10. Closing Date Balance Sheet.

(@) Promptly following the Closing Date, but in no event more than 90 days following the Closing Date, Buyer
will prepare and deliver to Sellers (i) a pro forma balance sheet as of the end of the Business Day immediately preceding the
Closing Date, which will be prepared in accordance with GAAP and consistently with the example provided in Section 2.10 of
Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule (the “Closing Date Balance Sheet”), and (ii) a statement based on the Closing Date Balance Sheet
setting forth Buyer’s calculation of the Closing Date Net Working Capital. Buyer will permit an agent for Sellers to review and to
have reasonable access solely to the financial records of the Business necessary for such agent’s calculation of the Closing Date
Balance Sheet and, during normal business hours, to Ann Rivers and any other employees responsible for the Closing Date Balance
Sheet, and the Purchased Assets for purposes of reviewing the Closing Date Balance Sheet and the Closing Date Net Working
Capital determination during the 60-calendar day period set forth in Section 2.10(b); provided, however, that such investigation
shall not unreasonably disrupt the Companies’ or the Business’ operations.

(b) Unless within 60 calendar days after delivery of the Closing Date Balance Sheet an agent for Sellers delivers to
Buyer a notice setting forth, in reasonable detail, any good faith dispute as to the Closing Date Net Working Capital and the basis
for such dispute (a “Dispute Notice”), Buyer’s calculation of the Closing Date Net Working Capital will be deemed accepted by
Sellers and will be final and binding.

(c) For 30 days after Buyer’s receipt of any Dispute Notice, an agent for Sellers and Buyer will endeavor in good
faith to resolve by mutual agreement all matters in the Dispute Notice to reach definitive agreement on the disputed items or
amounts in order to determine, as may be required, the amount of Closing Date Net Working Capital, which amount will not be
more than the amount thereof shown in Sellers’ calculations delivered pursuant to Section 2.10(b) (“Sellers’ Closing Date Net
Working Capital”) nor less than the amount thereof shown in Buyer’s calculation delivered pursuant to Section 2.10(a) (“Buyer’s
Closing Date Net Working Capital”). If the Parties are unable to resolve any matter in the Dispute Notice within such 30-calendar
day
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period, Buyer and Sellers will engage KPMG LLP or another nationally recognized, independent accounting firm to be mutually
agreed upon (the “Reviewing Accountant”). For the avoidance of doubt, no Party to this Agreement has a material relationship
with KPMG, LLP. The fees and expenses of the Reviewing Accountant will be allocated and borne by Buyer, on the one hand, and
Sellers, on the other hand, based on the inverse of the percentage that the Reviewing Accountant’s determination (before such
allocation) bears to the total amount of the total items in dispute as originally submitted to the Reviewing Accountant.

(d) Buyer and Sellers will instruct the Reviewing Accountant to resolve the disputed matters as promptly as
practicable. The Reviewing Accountant will act as an expert, and not an arbitrator, and will resolve the amounts disputed in the
Dispute Notice only, based solely on written submissions by Buyer and Sellers and not by independent review or audit, and
applying only the principles set forth in this Agreement. The Parties will cooperate with each other and the Reviewing Accountant
in connection with the matters set forth in this Section 2.10, including by furnishing such information as may be reasonably
requested. Each Party will afford the other Party the reasonable and unrestricted opportunity to participate in all communications
with the Reviewing Accountant. The Reviewing Accountant will give to Buyer and Sellers its written determination of its
calculation of the Closing Date Net Working Capital (the “Final Closing Date Net Working Capital”), which determination will
be made, to the extent practicable, within 30 days of the Reviewing Accountant’s engagement; provided, that, in no event will the
Final Closing Date Net Working Capital be greater than the amount of Sellers’ calculation of the Closing Date Net Working Capital
or less than the amount of Buyer’s calculation of the Closing Date Net Working Capital. The Reviewing Accountant’s
determination will be final and binding and no Party will seek recourse to any Governmental Authority, arbitral body or otherwise,
other than to collect any amounts due under this Section 2.10. Judgment may be entered to enforce the Reviewing Accountant’s
determination in any court having jurisdiction over the Party against which such determination is to be enforced.

(e) (i) If the Final Closing Date Net Working Capital is an amount greater than the Projected Closing Date Net
Working Capital, Buyer will pay in cash to Sellers, as an adjustment to the Purchase Price, an amount by which the Final Closing
Date Net Working Capital exceeds the Projected Closing Date Net Working Capital, within five Business Days after the Final
Closing Date Net Working Capital has been determined in accordance with this Section 2.10, by wire transfer of immediately-
available funds;

(ii) If the Final Closing Date Net Working Capital is an amount less than the Projected Closing Date Net
Working Capital, Sellers will pay in cash to Buyer, as an adjustment to the Purchase Price, an amount by which the Projected
Closing Date Net Working Capital exceeds the Final Closing Date Net Working Capital within five Business Days after the Final
Closing Date Net Working Capital has been determined in accordance with this Section 2.10, by wire transfer of immediately-
available funds; and

(iii) If the Final Closing Date Net Working Capital equals the Projected Closing Date Net Working Capital,
then no adjustment will be made to the Purchase Price.
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Section 2.11.  Withholding. Sellers shall be responsible for all amounts required to be deducted and withheld from any
amount payable by Buyer or any of its Affiliates pursuant to this Agreement (including payment of the Purchase Price, including
the Contingent Payment, if any, and releases of amounts held in escrow and the Escrow Amount) under any applicable Tax Laws.

ARTICLE III

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
OF SELLERS

Each Seller, jointly and severally, represents and warrants to Buyer as to itself and as to the Purchased Assets only as
to which such Seller has right, title and interest, as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date as set forth in this Article III.

Section 3.1. Organization and Qualification; Capitalization.

(@) Each of Sunlight Supply and Sunlight Garden is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good
standing under the Laws of the State of Washington, Sunlight ULC is an unlimited liability company duly organized, validly
existing and in good standing under the Laws of the province of British Columbia and each of Columbia River and IP Holdings is a
limited liability company duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State of Washington. Each
Company has all requisite power and authority to own, license, use, lease and operate its assets and properties (including any
Purchased Assets owned by Sellers) and to carry on its business as it is now being conducted. Each Company is duly licensed or
qualified to do business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the assets and properties owned or leased by it or the
operation of its business as currently conducted (including any Purchased Assets and the Business) makes such licensing or
qualification necessary, except where the failure to be so licensed, qualified or in good standing would not, individually or in the
aggregate, be material to the Business. Craig R. Hargreaves is the sole equity holder of Sunlight Supply and IP Holdings. The
Hargreaves are the sole equity holders of Columbia River. Sunlight Supply is the sole equity holder of Sunlight Garden and
Sunlight Garden is the sole equity holder of Sunlight ULC.

(b)  Each of the Hargreaves owns the Interests set forth opposite the name of such Seller on Section 3.1(a) of
Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule. The Interests constitute all the issued and outstanding equity interests of Columbia River, all of which
are duly authorized, validly issued and outstanding, fully paid up and nonassessable, free of any Encumbrances and any agreement,
obligation or commitment to create, grant, give or permit to subsist any Encumbrances whatsoever and are held of record by the
Hargreaves. There is no security, option, warrant, right, call, subscription, agreement, commitment or understanding of any nature
whatsoever, fixed or contingent, that directly or indirectly (i) calls for the issuance, sale, pledge or other disposition by Columbia
River of any of its equity interests or any securities convertible into, or other rights to acquire, any such equity interests, (ii) relates
to the voting or control of such equity interests or rights, or (iii) obligates Columbia River to grant, offer or enter into any of the
foregoing. Except as set forth in Section 3.1(b) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule, Columbia River has not created any “phantom
equity,” equity appreciation rights, profit participation rights or other similar rights with respect to Columbia River. Columbia River
has not granted to any Person the right to demand or

24



request that Columbia River effect a registration under the Securities Act of 1933, of any securities held by such Person or to
include any securities of such Person in any such registration by Columbia River. The Hargreaves have good, legal, valid, and
marketable title to the Interests, free and clear of all Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances. Buyer will acquire, at
Closing, good, legal, valid, and marketable title to the Interests, free and clear of all Encumbrances other than Permitted
Encumbrances. Other than the Interests, no other Person owns any equity interest in Columbia River and no right of any kind to
have any such equity interest issued. Columbia River does not own and has not owned, of record or beneficially, or control and has
not controlled any direct or indirect equity or other interest, or any right (contingent or otherwise) to acquire the same, in any
corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, association or other entity. Columbia River is not a party to or
bound by any Contract to acquire any direct or indirect equity or ownership interest in any other Person or business. Columbia
River is not obligated to provide funds or make any investment (whether in the form of a loan, capital contribution, or otherwise) in
any other Person.

Section 3.2. Authority; Non-Contravention; Approvals.

(@) Each Seller has all requisite power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Transaction
Documents to which it is a party and to perform the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Transaction Documents.
The execution and delivery by each Seller of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents and the performance by each Seller of
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Transaction Documents have been duly authorized and approved by their
respective Boards of Directors or other governing body and their requisite shareholders or members, as applicable. Except as set
forth on Section 3.2(a) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule, no corporate or other action or proceeding on the part of any Seller or any
other Person is necessary to authorize the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents by each Seller
that is a party thereto or the performance and consummation by each Seller of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and
the Transaction Documents. This Agreement has been, and upon their execution the Transaction Documents will be, duly executed
and delivered by each Seller that is party thereto and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery of this Agreement and
the Transaction Documents by Buyer and, with respect to the Escrow Agreement, the Escrow Agent, constitutes, and upon their
execution the Transaction Documents will constitute, valid and binding obligations of each Seller that is party thereto, enforceable
against such Sellers in accordance with their respective terms.

(b) The execution and delivery by each of Sellers of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents that such
Sellers are party to and the performance of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Transaction Documents do not
and will not (i) conflict with or result in a breach of any provision of the organizational documents of any Company, (ii) except as
set forth in Section 3.2(b) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule, constitute a default or an event of default under (with or without due
notice, lapse of time or both) or give rise to any obligation or any third party right to cancel, terminate or accelerate any obligation
under, any material Contract to which any of the Hargreaves or the Companies is a party, by which any of the Hargreaves or the
Companies may be bound or to which the Purchased Assets are subject, (iii) result in the creation of any Encumbrance on the
Purchased Assets or any other right or asset of any of the Hargreaves
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or the Companies, (iv) violate any Law applicable to Sellers, the Business, the Purchased Assets or the Assumed Liabilities, or (v)
require any authorization, consent, approval, waiver, exemption or other action by, or notice to, any party (other than Sellers) to any
Purchased Contract (each, a “Consent”), except as disclosed in Section 3.2(b) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule.

(c) Except for the filings by Sellers required by the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976 (the
“HSR Act”) and as disclosed in Section 3.2(c) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule, and subject to the provisions of Section 5.8, no
declaration, filing or registration with, or notice to, or authorization, consent, order or approval of, any Governmental Authority is
required to be obtained or made in connection with or as a result of the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the
Transaction Documents by Sellers or the performance by Sellers of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the
Transaction Documents, except as could not reasonably be expected to have a Seller Material Adverse Effect or otherwise be
material to the Business.

Section 3.3. Financial Statements; Inventory.

(@) Section 3.3 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule sets forth the audited balance sheet of the Business and for each
Company for each of the two fiscal years ended December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2017 and the related unaudited consolidated
statements of income and cash flows for such periods, and the related balance sheet (the “Interim Balance Sheet”) consolidated
statements of income, and cash flows for the three-month period ended March 31, 2018 (collectively, the “Financial Statements”).
The Financial Statements were derived from the books and records of the Companies and prepared in accordance with GAAP and
fairly present the financial position and results of operations of the Business as of their respective dates and for the respective
periods presented (subject to the absence of notes, recordation of Taxes and certain footnote disclosures otherwise required by
GAAP, which are not material in nature or amount, individually or in the aggregate, to the Business). The books of account and
other financial records of the Business are complete and correct in all material respects and have been maintained in the ordinary
course of business consistent with past practice. The Companies maintain a system of internal controls over financial reporting
sufficient to provide reasonable assurances regarding the reliability of financial reporting, including that (i) transactions are
executed in accordance with management’s general or specific authorizations, (ii) transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of the financial statements in accordance with GAAP and to maintain accountability for its assets, and (iii) access to
assets is permitted only in accordance with management’s general or specific authorization.

(b) All Inventory, net of reserves, (i) currently consists of a quality and quantity that is marketable, good, useable
(as to raw materials or work in process) and saleable (as to finished goods) in the ordinary course of business, (ii) has been created
or acquired in the ordinary course of business, and (iii) is fit for the purpose for which it was procured or manufactured. None of
the Inventory is held on consignment, or similar arrangement, by third parties. The amount and mix of items in the Inventories of
supplies, in process and finished products are consistent with past business practice of Sellers with respect to the Business, and, to
Sellers’ Knowledge, the year-to-
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date Inventory shrink related to the Business is consistent with historical shrink incurred in the ordinary course of business.

Section 3.4. Absence of Undisclosed Liabilities. Except as set forth in Section 3.4 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule, there
are no material Liabilities relating to the Business of any nature, whether accrued, contingent or otherwise, and there is no existing
condition, situation or set of facts or circumstances that reasonably could be expected to result in such a Liability, except for
Liabilities (a) reflected on the Interim Balance Sheet, but only to the extent reflected therein, (b) that were incurred in the ordinary
course of business since the date of the Interim Balance Sheet and that could not reasonably be expected to be material to the
Business, or (c) transaction expenses relating to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Transaction Documents, all
of which are the responsibility of Sellers.

Section 3.5. Absence of Certain Changes or Events. Since the date of the Interim Balance Sheet (a) there has not been any
event, circumstance, change or effect that has had or could reasonably be expected to have a Business Material Adverse Effect,
(b) except as disclosed in Section 3.5 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule, the Business has been conducted only in the ordinary course
of business, and (c) none of the Hargreaves or the Companies has taken any action which, if taken after the date of this Agreement
without Buyer’s consent, would be prohibited under Section 5.1(a)-(r).

Section 3.6. Tax Matters.

(a) All Tax Returns required to have been filed with respect to the Business or the Purchased Assets have been
timely filed and are true, correct and complete in all material respects. Except as set forth in Section 3.6 of Sellers’ Disclosure
Schedule, none of the Tax Returns with respect to the Purchased Assets or the Business is currently subject to a grant of any
extension of time within which to file such Tax Return.

(b) All Taxes that are due and payable with respect to the Business or the Purchased Assets (whether or not shown
on any Tax Return) have been timely and fully paid.

(c)  All Taxes required to be withheld by any Seller with respect to the Purchased Assets or the Business in
connection with any amounts paid or owing to any employee, independent contractor, creditor, stockholder or other third party have
been timely withheld and all such withheld Taxes have been timely paid over and reported to the proper Governmental Authority in
accordance with applicable Law.

(d) No deficiencies for Taxes have been claimed, threatened, proposed or assessed or, to Sellers’” Knowledge, are
expected to be claimed, threatened, proposed or assessed, in each case, with respect to the Purchased Assets or the Business.
Section 3.6(d) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule contains a complete list of all Tax audits, examinations and investigations with
respect to the Business or the Purchased Assets that have been completed or are currently pending and a description in reasonable
detail of any deficiencies that have been paid or are currently being contested. Except as described in Section 3.6(d) of Sellers’
Disclosure Schedule, no Seller has given or been requested to give any waiver or extension (or is or would be subject to a waiver or
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extension given by any other Person) of any statute of limitations relating to the assessment or payment of Taxes with respect to the
Business or the Purchased Assets.

(e) There are no Encumbrances for Taxes on any of the Purchased Assets (other than for Taxes not yet due and
payable or not yet delinquent), and to Sellers’ Knowledge there is no basis for the assertion of any claims for Taxes which could
result in any such Encumbrance.

(f) No claim has been made to Sellers by a Governmental Authority that any Seller has nexus or is required to file
Tax Returns or pay Taxes (in each case, with respect to the Purchased Assets or the Business) in a jurisdiction where it does not file
such Tax Returns or pay such Taxes. Each Seller has filed income Tax Returns in all jurisdictions where such Seller holds Tangible
Property or makes payments through payroll.

(g) No Seller has any deferred income pursuant to IRS Revenue Procedure 2004-34, Treasury Regulation Section
1.451-5, Section 455 of the Code, or Section 456 of the Code (or any corresponding or similar provision of Law), in each case
related to the Business or the Purchased Assets.

(h) None of the Purchased Assets is (i) property required to be treated as being owned by another Person pursuant
to the safe harbor lease provision of former Section 168(f)(8) of the Code, (ii) “tax-exempt use property” within the meaning of
Section 168(h)(1) of the Code, (iii) “tax-exempt bond financed property” within the meaning of Section 168(g) of the Code, or (iv)
subject to any similar provision of Law.

(i) None of the Purchased Assets is an interest (other than indebtedness within the meaning of Section 163 of the
Code) in an entity treated for U.S. federal (and applicable U.S. state and local) income Tax purposes as a corporation, partnership,
trust or real estate mortgage investment conduit, except for the Interests.

(j) There is no Liability under any Contract that is a Purchased Asset to pay, share or indemnify for the Taxes of
any other Person (other than Liabilities under such Contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business that do not relate
primarily to Taxes).

(k) No Seller has engaged in a “reportable transaction” involving the Purchased Assets or the Business, as defined
in Section 6707A(c)(1) of the Code or Treasury Regulations Section 1.6011-4(b), or any transaction requiring disclosure under a
comparable or similar provision of applicable Law.

() No Seller of United States real property (within the meaning of Section 897 of the Code) is a “foreign person”
within the meaning of Section 1445 of the Code.

(m) Each Seller has complied with all applicable Laws relating to escheat, property, sales, use, goods and services
or other commodity Taxes with respect to the Purchased Assets and the Business.
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(n)  Sunlight Supply has duly elected to be treated as, and at all times since making its “S” election on June 28,
2002, has been an “S corporation” pursuant to Section 1362 of the Code and the Laws of each state and other jurisdiction in which
the Company conducts business or could otherwise be subject to income Taxes. Sunlight Garden has duly elected to be treated as,
and has, at all times since its incorporation, been, a “qualified Subchapter S subsidiary” pursuant to Section 1361(b)(3)(B) of the
Code and the laws of each state and other jurisdiction in which Sunlight Supply conducts business or could otherwise be subject to
income Taxes.

(o) Columbia River is and has, at all times since its formation, been, a partnership for U.S. federal (and applicable
state and local) income tax purposes.

Section 3.7. ERISA and Employee Benefits.

(a) Section 3.7 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and accurate list of (i) all employee benefit
plans, programs and arrangements, including all profit-sharing, bonus, commission, stock option, stock appreciation, pension,
retirement, deferred compensation, post-retirement medical or life insurance, severance, welfare (e.g., medical, dental, vision, life
insurance, death benefits), cafeteria, fringe benefit, incentive, sick leave or other leave of absence, vacation, short- or long-term
disability, retention and salary continuation, plans, programs and arrangements (whether written or oral, qualified or nonqualified,
funded or unfunded, foreign or domestic, currently effective of terminated), in any case, established, maintained, sponsored or
contributed to in connection with the Business for the benefit of any present or former Employees, directors, officers, shareholders,
consultants, or independent contractors of the Business or with respect to which any Company or ERISA Affiliate has made or is
required to make payments, transfers, or contributions, or under which the Company or any ERISA Affiliate has any potential
liability (the “Benefit Plans”), and (ii) each employment or severance agreement addressed to or covering any Employees,
directors, officers, consultants, or independent contractors of the Business pursuant to which any Company or any ERISA Affiliate
has any actual or contingent Liability or obligation, or where those agreements are oral, accurate and complete summaries of their
terms. No Company or ERISA Affiliate has Liability with respect to any plan, agreement, program or arrangement of the type
described in the preceding sentence other than the Benefit Plans.

(b)  With respect to each Benefit Plan, Sellers have made available to Buyer true and complete copies of each
Benefit Plan document and any amendments thereto (or, if not written, a written summary of its material terms), along with, to the
extent applicable, copies of all trust agreements, and any amendments thereto, insurance contracts, or other funding vehicles;
summary plan descriptions and summaries of material modifications; for the three most recent years (i) annual reports (Form 5500
series and attached schedules), (ii) audited financial statements, and (iii) actuarial or other valuation reports prepared with respect
thereto; the most recent determination, advisory, or opinion letter issued by the IRS; nondiscrimination tests for the previous three
years; all material, non-routine correspondence relating to the imposition of liability on a Company or an ERISA Affiliate in
relation to any Benefit Plan between such Company or ERISA Affiliate or any of their representatives and any Governmental
Authority; and any documents, forms or other instruments relating to any Benefit Plan reasonably requested by Buyer.
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(c) Each Benefit Plan has been maintained and operated, from the time of such Benefit Plan’s inception up to and
including the Closing Date, in accordance with its terms and in accordance with applicable Law, including ERISA and the Code.
As of the date hereof, there are no Actions pending, or threatened, with respect to any Benefit Plan (other than routine claims for
benefits in the ordinary course of business), nor is there any basis for one. With respect to the Benefit Plans, no breaches of
fiduciary duty and no non-exempt prohibited transactions (within the meaning of Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the
Code) have occurred that could reasonably be expected to give rise to any Liability on the part of any Company or any ERISA
Affiliates. No condition exists and no event has occurred that could constitute grounds for termination of any Benefit Plan, and no
Company or any ERISA Affiliate has incurred, or reasonably expects to incur, any material liability under Title IV of ERISA
arising in connection with the termination of, or complete or partial withdrawal from, any plan covered or previously covered by
Title IV of ERISA. No “accumulated funding deficiency,” as defined in Section 412 of the Code, has been incurred with respect to
any Benefit Plan, whether or not waived.

(d) Each Company and each ERISA Affiliate, as applicable, has complied with the terms of each employment
agreement and each severance agreement pursuant to which the Company or the ERISA Affiliate is a party. Columbia River does
not, and has never, employed any employees.

(e)  Each Company and each ERISA Affiliate, as applicable, has complied with all reporting and disclosure
obligations to all governmental entities and all participants and beneficiaries with respect to each Benefit Plan required by the terms
of such Benefit Plan and any Law, including but not limited to ERISA, the Code and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

(f) No Company nor any ERISA Affiliate sponsors, maintains or contributes to, or has an obligation to contribute
to (i) any “employee pension benefit plan” (as defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA) that is subject to Title IV of ERISA, (ii) any
pension plan subject to the funding standards of Section 302 of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code, (iii) any “multiemployer plan”
(within the meaning of Section 3(37) of ERISA), or (iv) any “multiple employer plan” within the meaning of Section 210(a) of
ERISA.

(g) Each Benefit Plan that is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code is currently so qualified and
has received a favorable determination letter from the IRS, or with respect to a prototype plan or volume submitter plan, each
Company, as applicable, can rely on an opinion or advisory letter from the IRS to the prototype or volume submitter plan sponsor,
to the effect that such Benefit Plan is so qualified and that the trust related thereto is exempt from federal income Taxes under
Sections 401(a) and 501(a), respectively, of the Code, and, to Sellers’ Knowledge, there are no facts or circumstances that would
reasonably be expected to result in the loss of the qualification of such Benefit Plan.

(h) Each Benefit Plan which is a “cafeteria” or other similar plan that is intended to satisfy the requirements of
Section 125 of the Code does satisfy such requirements from the time of such Benefit Plan’s inception up to and including the
Closing Date.
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(i) With respect to each Benefit Plan that is a “welfare benefit plan” (as defined in Section 3(1) of ERISA), no such
plan provides medical or death benefits with respect to any Person beyond their termination of employment (other than to the
extent required by Law, including group health plan continuation coverage required under Part 6 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA,
Section 4980B of the Code or similar state Law).

(j). With respect to each Benefit Plan that is a “group health plan” under Section 4980B of the Code or Section
607(1) of ERISA, there has been timely compliance in all material respects with all requirements imposed under Section 4980B of
the Code and Part 6 of Title I of ERISA, so that no Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has any (and will not incur any) loss,
assessment, tax penalty, or other sanction with respect to any such Benefit Plan.

(k) With respect to each Benefit Plan that is a “group health plan” under Section 9832 of the Code or Section 733
of ERISA, such Benefit Plan has been maintained in compliance in all material respects with all requirements imposed under
Subtitle K of the Code and Part 7 of Title I of ERISA, so that no Company nor any of its ERISA Affiliates has any (and will not
incur any) loss, assessment, tax penalty, or other sanction with respect to any such Benefit Plan. If any Company or any Benefit
Plan is treated as a “covered entity” under the Privacy and Security Standards at 45 CFR Parts 160 through 164, such covered
entities have complied in all material respects with such standards beginning with the effective date of such standards to such
covered entities.

() No Benefit Plan is or at any time was funded through a “welfare benefit fund” as defined in Section 419(e) of
the Code, and no benefits under any Benefit Plan are or at any time have been provided through a voluntary employees’ beneficiary
association (within the meaning of subsection 501(c)(9) of the Code) or a supplemental unemployment benefit plan (within the
meaning of Section 501(c)(17) of the Code).

(m) All contributions, reserves or premium payments (including all employer contributions and employee salary
reduction contributions) that are due as of the date hereof have been made to each Benefit Plan and have been or are fully
deductible under the Code.

(n)  With respect to any insurance policy providing funding for benefits under any Benefit Plan, there is no
Liability of any Company in the nature of a retroactive rate adjustment, loss sharing agreement or other actual or contingency
Liability.

(o) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement (alone or together with any other event which, standing
alone, would not by itself trigger such result) nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby shall result in, cause
the accelerated vesting, funding or delivery of, or increase the amount or value of, any payment or benefit due under any Benefit
Plan.

(p) No Company is party to any agreement that creates an obligation to make any payments that reimburse or
otherwise gross up any Person for any Taxes imposed under Sections 409A or 4999 of the Code.
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(1) No amount that could be received (whether in cash or property or the vesting of property) as a result of any of
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement by any employee, officer or director of any Company who is a “disqualified
individual” (as such term is defined in the Treasury Regulation Section 1.280G-1) under any employment, severance or termination
agreement, other compensation arrangement or Benefit Plan currently in effect would be characterized as an “excess parachute
payment” (as such term is defined in Section 280G(b)(1) of the Code).

(r) No Benefit Plan provides benefits to any individual who is not a current or former employee of a Company, or
the dependents or other beneficiaries of any such current or former employee.

(s) No Company is a party or subject to any union contract or any employment contract or arrangement providing
for annual future compensation to any employee, owner, shareholder or independent contractor of any Company or any ERISA
Affiliate, including (without limitation) any severance or other similar contract, arrangement or policy, whether written or oral,
providing for compensation or benefits upon termination.

(t) For the avoidance of doubt, representations contained in this Section 3.7 that contain references to specific
sections of the Code or ERISA are not intended to apply to the Benefit Plans maintained by Sunlight ULC to the extent such
sections are inapplicable to such Benefit Plans.

Section 3.8. Employment Matters.

(@) Section 3.8 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule contains a list of all Employees, contractors, and other service
providers as of the date hereof and sets forth for each such individual the following as of the date hereof: (i) title or position
(including whether full or part time), (ii) hire date, (iii) age (for employees working in Canada only), (iv) annual base compensation
or hourly rate, (v) commission, bonus or other incentive-based compensation, (vi) work location, (vii) leave status, (viii)
exempt/non-exempt classification, (ix) accrued vacation, and (x) a description of any material fringe benefits provided to each such
individual. Such information shall be updated upon reasonable request by Buyer and five days prior to the Closing Date.

(b) No Company is a party to or bound by any collective bargaining, works council or other agreement with a
labor organization or representative covering the Employees, and there are no ongoing or threatened, and have not been in the past
three years, any union organizing activities, strikes, lockouts, slowdowns or work stoppages involving the Employees.

(c) Except as set forth in Section 3.8(c) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule, (i) each Company is, and has been for the
past three years, in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws, Contracts, agreements, and policies relating to
employment and terms and conditions of employment, including Laws regarding wages and hours (including those regulating the
timing of payments, wage notices, classification of employees as exempt or non-exempt, payment of overtime and minimum
wages, hours of work, and provision of mandated meal and rest breaks), termination of employment (including any obligations
pursuant to the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act of 1988 (or similar laws) (the “WARN _Act”), occupational
safety
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and health, human rights, pay equity, classification of service providers as independent contractors, consultants or employees,
immigration, background checks, employment record retention, and paid and unpaid leave, (ii) there are no, and for the past three
years have not been any, unfair labor practice charges or complaints against any Company and to Sellers’ Knowledge, no such
charges or complaints are threatened, and (iii) there is no Action pending, and have been no Actions in the past three years, against
any Company alleging violations of any employment Laws, or brought by or on behalf of any current or former Employee or other
service provider, or applicant.

Section 3.9. Litigation. Except as set forth in Section 3.9 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule, there is no Action pending or, to
Sellers’ Knowledge, threatened against or affecting any of the Hargreaves or the Companies relating to or affecting the Purchased
Assets, the Business or the Assumed Liabilities. There are no outstanding orders, writs, judgments, decrees, injunctions or
settlements (collectively, “Orders”) rendered against the Hargreaves or the Companies that restrict the Business, the Purchased
Assets or the Assumed Liabilities or to which any of the foregoing is subject.

Section 3.10. No Violation of L.aw; Permits.

(@) Except as set forth in Section 3.10 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule, each Company is and, since January 1,
2012, has been, in compliance in all material respects with, and is not in violation, in any material respect, of, all Laws applicable
to the Business, the Purchased Assets or the Assumed Liabilities and no Company has received written notice of any
noncompliance with, or violation of, any such Laws. To Sellers’ Knowledge, no event has occurred that shall (with or without
notice or lapse of time) constitute or result in a violation, in any material respect, by any Company of, or a failure on the part of any
Company to comply with, any Law that is applicable to the Business, any of the Purchased Assets or the Assumed Liabilities. No
Company has received any written notice (or, to Sellers’ Knowledge, other communication) from any Person regarding any actual
or possible violation of, or failure to comply with, any Law that is applicable to the Business, any of the Purchased Assets or the
Assumed Liabilities.

(b) All material reports, statements, documents, registrations, filings or submissions required to be filed with any
Governmental Authority to the extent they relate to the Business have been filed. All such reports and filings were in compliance
with applicable Laws when filed or as amended or supplemented, and no deficiencies have been asserted by any such
Governmental Authority with respect to such reports and filings.

(c) The Company has not applied for or received, is and will be entitled to, or is and will be the beneficiary of any
grant, subsidy or financial assistance from any Governmental Authority in connection with the Business.

(d) The Purchased Assets include all Permits that are now, or at the time of the Closing will be, used or held for
use in or otherwise related to or necessary for the conduct of the Business as currently conducted and the Purchased Assets, and all
such Permits are listed in Section 3.10(d) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule (collectively, the “Business Permits”). All Business
Permits have been legally obtained and maintained and are in full force and effect. None of the Companies, the Business or any of
the Purchased Assets is in violation of, in any material respect,
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or is being operated in violation of, in any material respect, the terms of any Business Permit. No Business Permit will lapse,
terminate, expire or otherwise be impaired as a result of the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and the
Transaction Documents.

(e) Except as set forth in Section 3.10(e) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule, neither the execution and delivery of this
Agreement nor the performance of any of the transactions contemplated hereby will (i) require any assignment, consent, waiver or
other action in respect of any Business Permit, (ii) result in the termination or modification of any Business Permit, or (iii) result in
a need for additional Permits.

(f) Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, each Company is and, since, January 1, 2013, has been, in
compliance with the U.S. economic sanctions, the U.S. export control laws (including anti-boycott laws), and the U.S. import laws.
None of the Companies has engaged or currently engages in transactions or other dealings with or involving any countries or
territories subject to a comprehensive U.S. embargo or any parties subject to U.S. economic sanctions or export control restrictions.
None of the merchandise imported into the United States by any of the Companies: (i) is subject to any antidumping or
countervailing duties; (ii) include steel or aluminum products subject to duties under Section 232 of the Trade Expansion Act of
1962; or (iii) include products from China potentially subject to additional duties pursuant to actions taken by the U.S. government
pursuant to Section 301 of the Trade Act of 1974.

Section 3.11.  Title to Purchased Assets; Encumbrances. Sellers have good, valid and marketable title to, or good, valid
and subsisting leasehold interests in, all of the Purchased Assets, free and clear of all Encumbrances, other than Permitted
Encumbrances, and, at the Closing, will convey to Buyer good, valid and marketable title to, or good, valid and subsisting
leasehold interests in, all of the Purchased Assets, free and clear of all Encumbrances, other than Permitted Encumbrances.

Section 3.12.  Entire Business; Sufficiency. The Purchased Assets constitute all of the assets, properties and rights used in
or necessary for the conduct of the Business as heretofore conducted by the Hargreaves and the Companies (except for the
Excluded Assets) and, together with the Transferring Employees, are adequate to conduct the Business as presently conducted.
Immediately following the Closing, neither Sellers nor any of their respective Affiliates will own or lease any assets, properties or
rights that are necessary for the conduct of the Business. There are no facilities, services, assets or properties that are used by
Sellers in the conduct or operation of the Business and that are not required to be transferred to Buyer pursuant to the provisions of
this Agreement or the Transaction Documents other than the Excluded Assets. Upon consummation of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement, Buyer will have acquired good and marketable title in and to, or a valid leasehold interest in, each
of the Purchased Assets free and clear of all Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances.

Section 3.13.  Solvency. Sellers are not, and immediately prior to and following the transfer of the Purchased Assets to
Buyer will not be, insolvent, as determined under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance of similar Laws or
any applicable jurisdiction.
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Section 3.14. Insurance. Section 3.14 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and correct list of all insurance
policies (other than insurance policies that provide benefits under any Benefit Plan) held by or on behalf of the Hargreaves or the
Companies relating to the Business and a brief description of such policies, including the names and addresses of the insurers, the
principal insured and each named insured, the policy number and period of coverage, the expiration dates, the annual premiums and
payment terms, a brief description of the interests insured by such policies and the amount of any deductible. Sellers have delivered
to Buyer a complete and correct copy of all such policies together with all riders and amendments thereto. Except as disclosed on
Section 3.14 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule, neither the Hargreaves nor the Companies maintain any self-insurance arrangement
with respect to the Business. The insurance policies listed on Section 3.14 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule include all policies of
insurance that are required by the Purchased Contracts in the amounts required under such Purchased Contracts. All the insurance
policies listed on Section 3.14 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule are in full force and effect, all premiums due and payable thereon
covering all periods up to and including the Closing Date have been paid and no notice of cancellation or termination has been
received or, to Sellers” Knowledge, threatened with respect to any such policy. To Seller’s Knowledge, no insurer is in breach of its
obligations under any such policy nor has any such insurer made a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors, filed a petition
in bankruptcy or liquidation or commenced any proceeding for a reorganization or arrangement of debts. The Purchased Assets and
the properties and risks of the Business are covered by valid and currently effective insurance policies issued specifically for the
benefit of the Business, in each case with reputable insurance companies, in such types and amounts covering such risks as are
consistent with customary practices and standards of companies engaged in business and operations similar to the Business.

Section 3.15. Material Contracts.

(a) Section 3.15 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule sets forth, by reference to the applicable subsection of this Section
3.15, each Contract (and in the case of an oral Contract, the material terms of such Contract) relating to the Business to which any
of the Companies or the Hargreaves is a party or to which any of the assets of the Business are bound, including any Contract:

(i) relating to the Indebtedness of the Business, the guarantee of the repayment of Indebtedness of the
Business or the grant of any Encumbrance on any property or asset of the Business, including the Purchased Assets;

(ii) providing for the employment of any Person;

(iii) containing covenants limiting the freedom of Sellers to compete in any line of business or with any
Person or in any geographic area or market or containing any such covenants that would bind Buyer or any part of the Business
following the Closing;

(iv)  concerning any Business Intellectual Property, including the development, acquisition or licensing
thereof;

(v) with any current or former managers, directors, officers, employees, members or shareholders of the
Companies or Affiliates of the Companies or the Hargreaves;
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(vi) providing for the future or ongoing purchase, maintenance or acquisition, or the sale or furnishing, of
materials, supplies, services, merchandise or equipment in excess of $200,000;

(vii) granting to any Person a right of first refusal, first offer or similar preferential right to purchase or
acquire any right, asset, property or service of the Companies or the Hargreaves;

(viii)  pertaining to the lease of equipment or other personal property involving payments in excess of
$200,000;

(ix) providing for any offset, countertrade or barter arrangement;

» &« »

(x) containing a “most favored nation,” “most favored customer,” “most favored licensee,” exclusivity or

similar provision;

(xi) involving a distributor, sales representative, broker or advertising arrangement that (A) involves
payments of more than $200,000 during any 12-month period, or (B) regardless of the amounts payable thereunder, by its express
terms is not terminable by any of the Companies or the Hargreaves at will or by giving notice of 30 days or less, without Liability;

(xii) with any customer that involves payments of more than $200,000 during any 12-month period;

(xiii)  involving Tax sharing, a joint venture or partnership or the sharing of profits, Losses, costs or
Liability by the Companies or the Hargreaves with any other Person;

(xiv) involving management services, consulting services, support services or any other similar services;

(xv) involving the acquisition or disposition of any business enterprise whether via stock or asset purchase
or otherwise;

(xvi) granting a power of attorney to any Person;

(xvii) providing for a business alliance or commission payments to any third party;
(xviii) involving any Governmental Authority;

(xix) involving the export of any goods outside of the United States and Canada;

(xx)  providing for a lease, sublease, license or occupancy agreement, together with all amendments or
supplements thereto, with respect to Leased Real Property (collectively, “Real Property Leases”) or involving the lease of
personal property and involving
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annual payments in excess of $200,000 relating to personal property used in operation of the Business;

(xxi) involving a material settlement or compromise of any suit, claim, proceeding or dispute relating to the
Business;

(xxii) that provides for future payments or a purchase from the Business that is conditioned, in whole or in
part, on a change of control of the Business;

(xxiii) that was not made in the ordinary course of business, consistent with past practice; and

(xxiv) that is otherwise material to the Business or the Purchased Assets (the contracts described in clauses
(i)-(xxiv) are each, a “Material Contract” and collectively, the “Material Contracts™).

(b) Sellers have provided to Buyer true and complete copies of each Material Contract, as amended through the
Closing Date. Each Material Contract is a valid, binding and enforceable obligation of the Hargreaves or the Companies (as
applicable) and, to Sellers’ Knowledge, the other parties thereto, enforceable in accordance with its terms. With respect to the
Material Contracts listed on Section 3.15 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule (or required to be listed on Section 3.15 of Sellers’
Disclosure Schedule), (i) none of the Hargreaves or the Companies (as applicable) is in default under or in violation of any Material
Contract, (ii) no event has occurred that, with notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute such a default or violation, (iii) none
of the Hargreaves or the Companies (as applicable) has released any of its rights under any Material Contract, and (iv) no party to a
Material Contract has repudiated any of the terms thereof or threatened to terminate, cancel or not renew any Material Contract.

Section 3.16.  Tangible Personal Property. The Tangible Property is in good operating condition and is adequate and
suitable to conduct the Business as currently conducted, subject to continued repair and replacement in accordance with past
practice, and neither the Companies nor the Hargreaves have received notice that any of the Tangible Property is in violation, in any
material respect, of any existing Law or Order of any Governmental Authority. During the past three years there has not been any
interruption of the operations of the Business due to inadequate maintenance or repair of the Tangible Property. No approval or
consent of any Person is needed so that the interest of Sellers in the Tangible Property will continue to be in full force and effect
and enforceable by Buyer following the Closing.

Section 3.17. Receivables; Disputed Accounts Payable. All Receivables reflected on the Financial Statements are, and all
Receivables arising from or otherwise relating to the Business will, at the Closing Date, be valid and genuine arising in the ordinary
course of business from bona fide sales of products and services in the aggregate amount thereof subject to normal and customary
trade discounts, customer allowances for discounts, returns, markdowns, co-op advertising and operational chargebacks, less any
bona fide reserves for doubtful accounts in amounts consistent with those recorded on the most recent balance sheet included in the
Financial Statements.
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Section 3.18. Intellectual Property.

(@)  Section 3.18 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule sets forth, with owner, countries, registration and application
numbers and dates indicated, as applicable, and in the case of unregistered trademarks, country of use and date of first use, a
complete and correct list of all of the following Business Intellectual Property: (i) patents and applications therefor; (ii) registered
copyrights and applications therefor; (iii) registered trademarks, material unregistered trademarks, and applications for the
registration of trademarks; (iv) Software; (v) domain name registrations and applications therefor; and (vi) all licenses or similar
agreements related to Intellectual Property to which Seller or any of its Subsidiaries is a party (including agreements or consents
that restrict the territory or field of use with respect to any of the Intellectual Property included in the Purchased Assets, but
excluding licenses for commercially available off-the-shelf Software). All fees associated with any Business Intellectual Property
have been paid in full in a timely manner to the proper Governmental Authority and, except as set forth on Section 3.18 of Sellers’
Disclosure Schedule, no such fees are due within the three-month period after the Closing Date. Except as set forth on Section 3.18
of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule, all of the Business Intellectual Property required to be listed thereon has been duly registered with,
filed in or issued by, as the case may be, the United States Patent and Trademark Office, the United States Copyright Office or other
applicable filing office(s), domestic or foreign, to the extent necessary or desirable to ensure full protection under any applicable
Intellectual Property law, and such registrations, filings, issuances and other actions remain in full force and effect.

(b) Except pursuant to a Material Contract set forth on Section 3.15 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule or as
otherwise set forth on Section 3.18 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule, all of the Intellectual Property used in the conduct of the
Business is owned solely by Sellers and Sellers have the exclusive right to use and possess such Intellectual Property for the life
thereof for any purpose, free from (i) any Encumbrances (except for Permitted Encumbrances) and (ii) any requirement of any past,
present or future royalty payments, license fees, charges or other payments or conditions or restrictions whatsoever. Except
pursuant to a Material Contract set forth on Section 3.15 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule, neither of Sellers has licensed or
otherwise granted any right to any Person under any Business Intellectual Property and has not otherwise agreed not to assert any
Business Intellectual Property against any Person.

(c) Except as set forth on Section 3.18 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule, all Employees have received a copy, and
acknowledged their agreement in writing regarding the substance, of Sellers’ Employee Handbook, a true and correct copy of
which is annexed hereto as Exhibit J (the “Employee Handbook™), which Employee Handbook provides, among other things, that
all Employees are deemed to be performing “work for hire” for Sellers. No manager, director, officer, member, shareholder,
employee, consultant, contractor, agent or other Representative of Sellers owns or claims any rights in (nor has any of them made
application for) any Business Intellectual Property and all such individuals have executed written agreements pursuant to which
Business Intellectual Property has been assigned to the applicable Seller.

(d) The Business as currently conducted, including the possession, use, disclosure, copying or distribution of any
information, data, products or other Tangible Property or
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intangible property in the possession of Sellers has not infringed, misappropriated, diluted, violated or otherwise conflicted with,
does not and will not infringe, misappropriate, dilute, violate or otherwise conflict with any Intellectual Property right of any other
Person nor does or will the operation of the Business, as currently conducted, constitute unfair competition or deceptive or unfair
trade practice. Except as set forth in Section 3.18(d) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule, the Business Intellectual Property is not being
infringed or otherwise used or available for use by any Person other than Sellers and customers or end users in the ordinary course
of business, except pursuant to a Material Contract listed on Section 3.15 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule.

(e) Sellers have taken all steps reasonable under the circumstances to enforce, protect and maintain the Business
Intellectual Property, including protecting the confidentiality of trade secrets and other proprietary information. All of the Business
Intellectual Property is valid and enforceable. No loss or expiration of any of the Business Intellectual Property is threatened,
pending or, to Sellers’ Knowledge, reasonably foreseeable (other than patents expiring at the end of their respective statutory
terms).

(f) Except as set forth on Section 3.18 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule, no Action is pending or threatened that
(i) challenges the rights of Sellers in respect of any Intellectual Property utilized in the Business, (ii) asserts that the operation or
conduct of the Business is, was or will be infringing or otherwise in violation of any Intellectual Property, or is (except as set forth
in a Material Contract listed on Section 3.15 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule) required to pay any royalty, license fee, charge or
other amount with regard to any Intellectual Property, or (iii) claims that any default exists under any Material Contract set forth or
required to be set forth on Section 3.15 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule. Except as set forth on Section 3.18 of Sellers’ Disclosure
Schedule, none of the Business Intellectual Property is or has been subject to any Law or order, and no Seller has been subject to
any Law or order relating to the Business in respect of any other Person’s Intellectual Property.

(g) Sellers have complied at all times with all relevant requirements of any applicable data protection and privacy
related Laws, order or industry standard setting organizations, including compliance with Sellers’ own data protection principles,
requests from data subjects for access to data held by Sellers and any Law, order or industry standard requirements relating to the
registration of data users insofar as the same pertain to any aspect of the Business. Sellers have not received any order or other
notification from a Governmental Authority regarding non-compliance or violation of any data protection principles or Law. No
Person has claimed any compensation from Sellers for the loss of or unauthorized disclosure or transfer of personal data, and no
facts or circumstances exist that might give rise to such a claim insofar as the same relate to the Business.

(h) The products and services of the Business have not used and do not use Open Source Materials in such a way
that grants, or purports to grant, to any third party any rights or immunities under any Business Intellectual Property (including
using any Open Source Materials that require, as a condition of use, modification and/or distribution of such Open Source Materials
that other Software incorporated into, derived from or distributed with such Open Source Materials be (i) disclosed or distributed in
source code or other human readable form, (ii) licensed for the purpose of making derivative works, or (iii) redistributable at no
charge).
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(i) There are, to Sellers’ Knowledge, no material defects in any of the Software or Information Systems used in
connection with the Business that (i) prevent such Software or Information System from operating or being provided substantially
as described in its related documentation or specifications and otherwise in fulfillment of its intended purpose or (ii) that may, or
may be used to, improperly access, modify, delete, damage or disable any Software or Information Systems used in connection with
the Business or that would reasonably be expected to result in material damage thereto. All Information Systems are sufficient for
the conduct of the Business as currently conducted and have for the last three years been maintained in a commercially reasonable
manner. Sellers have used commercially reasonable means to protect the security and integrity of all Information Systems and all
data held in connection with the Business.

Section 3.19. Real Property.

(@) The Asset Sellers do not own any real property. Section 3.19(a) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule identifies the
parcels of real property that are owned by Columbia River, including the address thereof (the “Owned Real Property”). Columbia
River is in possession of all Owned Real Property and has good and marketable indefeasible fee simple title to such Owned Real
Property, free and clear of all Encumbrances, except for Permitted Encumbrances and for those Encumbrances set forth on Section
3.19(a) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule.

(b) Section 3.19(b) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule sets forth a correct and complete list of all Real Property that is
currently leased, licensed, subleased or otherwise used by the Asset Sellers (the “Leased Real Property”). All of the Leased Real
Property is used or occupied by the applicable Asset Seller pursuant to a Real Property Lease.

(c) Other than as set forth on Section 3.19(c) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule, the Hargreaves do not own any real
property or lease, license, sublease or otherwise use any real property in connection with the Business.

(d) The occupancy, use and operation of the Real Property complies in all material respects with all applicable
Law and Permits. The condition and use of the Real Property in all material respects conforms to each applicable certificate of
occupancy and all other permits required to be issued in connection with the Real Property. The Real Property and the appurtenant
easements include all of the land, buildings, offices, structures, appurtenant easements and other improvements used or held for use
in connection with or otherwise required to carry on the Business.

(e) There are no pending or, to Sellers’ Knowledge, threatened, appropriation, condemnation, eminent domain or
like proceedings relating to the Real Property.

(f) The Companies enjoy peaceful and undisturbed possession of the Real Property. To Sellers’ Knowledge, all of
the buildings, fixtures, structures and systems located on the Real Property and used or occupied by the Companies are in good
condition and repair (subject to ordinary wear and tear) and operating condition for the conduct of the Business as currently
conducted.
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(g) Except as set forth on Section 3.19(g) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule, the Real Property is not subject to any
subleases, licenses, or sub-tenancies of any kind, and no Person (other than the Companies) is in possession of any of the Real
Property.

(h) The operation of the Business at each location that is subject to an Affiliated Real Property Lease on the date of
this Agreement does not violate, and as of the Closing Date will not violate, the authorized use provision set forth in Section 1.2 of
Exhibit L.

Section 3.20. Environmental Matters.

(@) (i) The Companies possess all Permits required by applicable Laws relating to Environmental Laws, (ii) the
Companies and operations of the Business are and have been since January 1, 2013 in full compliance with all terms and conditions
of such Permits and all Environmental Laws, and (iii) there are no current circumstances which could reasonably be expected to
give rise to any material Liability, obligation or duty in relation to any non-compliance with Environmental Laws.

(b) None of the Companies or the Hargreaves have received any written request for information, notice, demand
letter, notice of investigation, administrative inquiry or complaint or claim relating to any Environmental Condition or Liability
under any Environmental Law.

(c) Except as has been fully resolved with no further Liability, there are no threatened orders, writs, judgments,
awards, injunctions or decrees of any Governmental Authority or Actions with respect to any non-compliance with, or any Liability
under Environmental Laws or under Contracts concerning Environmental matters relating to current or past circumstances against
the Companies or the Business.

(d) To the extent that any of the Real Property or any building, plant, machinery, equipment or other assets
employed in the conduct of the Business contains any asbestos or asbestos containing material which is regulated by Environmental
Law, such asbestos or asbestos containing material is currently being managed in compliance with Environmental Law.

(e)  There has been no Release of any Hazardous Substance at, on, under, or migrating from any properties
currently or formerly owned, leased or operated by the Companies or the Business that requires or shall require reporting,
investigation, assessment, clean-up, remediation or any other response action pursuant to any Environmental Law or any Contract.

(f) None of the Companies or the Business has assumed, undertaken, agreed to indemnify, or otherwise become
subject to any Liability of any other Person relating to or arising from any Environmental Law or Environmental Matter.

(8) To Sellers’ Knowledge, no Real Property will require a material capital expenditure or material annual
operating expense increase during the two years following the Closing to comply with any Environmental Law.
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(h) Sellers have made available to Buyer true and complete copies of any and all material documents,
correspondence, pleadings, reports, assessments, analytical results, Permits relating to Environmental Laws, or other documents
concerning Environmental Laws or the presence of Hazardous Substances as contamination in the air, soil and, surface water,
groundwater and subsurface or subsurface strata of any Real Property, which could reasonably be expected to give rise to
Environmental Loss.

Section 3.21. Casualties. Except as set forth on Section 3.21 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule, since December 31, 2017,
neither the Business nor any Purchased Asset has been materially affected in any way by or as a result of any flood, fire, mudslide,
landslide, explosion or other casualty (whether or not covered by insurance).

Section 3.22. Product Warranties; Product Liability.

(@) Sellers have provided to Buyer true and accurate copies of the standard terms and conditions of the sale of
products by the Companies (containing applicable guaranty, warranty and indemnity provisions).

(b) (i) No Company has, since January 1, 2012, manufactured, sold or distributed any products that were, at the
time they were manufactured, sold or distributed, faulty or defective or did not comply with any and all warranties or
representations expressly made or implied by or on behalf of the applicable Company and (ii) except as set forth on Section 3.22(b)
(i) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule, all products manufactured, sold, distributed, provided, shipped or licensed by any Company and
each service rendered by any Company has conformed with all applicable contractual commitments, warranties and Laws, and
there are no material design, manufacturing or other defects, latent or otherwise, in such products.

(c) All products manufactured, sold, distributed, provided, shipped or licensed by any Company have complied in
all material respects with all requirements of Laws and regulation related to warning labels, packaging, containers, and all other
labeling requirements.

(d) In the five-year period prior to the Closing Date, no written service or product warranty, recall indemnity or
similar claims have been made by any Person against any Company in connection with the Business. In the five-year period prior
to the Closing Date, no Company has received any written notice of any Actions for any other product Liability, backcharge,
additional work, field repair or other claim by any third party (whether based on Contract or tort and whether relating to personal
injury, including death, property damage or economic Loss) arising from (i) the sale or distribution of products by any Company in
connection with the Business, or (ii) the operation of the Business.

Section 3.23. Product Registrations; Universal Product Codes.
(@) All information pertaining to, used in, or comprising the information and documentation necessary for the

Business Product Registrations is true and correct in all respects, and complies with all applicable Laws and regulations.

42



(b) All applications, filings and records submitted to any Governmental Authority to obtain the grant of the
Business Product Registrations at all times have been truthful in all respects, not misleading or fraudulent and in compliance with
all applicable Laws and regulations.

(c) Each Company and, to Sellers’ Knowledge, each applicable third party has paid and is in good standing
regarding all fees, mill assessments, penalties, Taxes or other monetary obligations of any kind owed to any Governmental
Authority for the Business Product Registrations.

(d)  There is no pending or, to Sellers’ Knowledge, threatened Action by any Governmental Authority or third
party to cancel, suspend, revoke, terminate or challenge any of the Business Product Registrations.

(e) No Person has been granted a right of first refusal or option to purchase from any Company or, to Sellers’
Knowledge, any applicable third party, any of the Business Product Registrations.

(f)  The UPC Codes are all of the all universal product codes of the Company related to the Business. The
Company is not using the UPC Codes other than related to the Business.

Section 3.24.  Promotions and Allowances. Section 3.24 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule sets forth the material terms in
effect as of the date hereof of all return, markdown, promotion, co-op advertising and other similar programs or allowances offered
generally by the Companies to any customer with respect to the Business.

Section 3.25. Bank and Brokerage Accounts; Investment Purchased Assets. Section 3.25 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule
sets forth a true and complete list of (a) the names and locations of all banks, trust companies, securities brokers and other financial
institutions at which the Companies have an account or safe deposit box or maintains a banking, custodial, trading or other similar
relationship with respect to the Business or any of the Purchased Assets (as well as a list of such accounts and safety deposit
boxes), (b) the names of all persons authorized to draw on or have access to such accounts and safe deposit boxes, and (c) all
outstanding powers of attorney or similar authorizations granted by the Companies.

Section 3.26. Absence of Certain Business Practices. Neither the Companies nor any of their Representatives has, directly
or indirectly, given or agreed to give any gift or similar benefit to any customer, supplier, employee of any Governmental Authority
or any other Person that could reasonably be expected to subject the Business, Purchased Assets or Assumed Liabilities to any
material penalty in any civil, criminal or governmental litigation or proceeding.

Section 3.27. Propriety of Past Payments. In connection with the Business, (a) no unrecorded fund or asset of the
Companies or the Hargreaves has been established for any purpose, (b) no material accumulation or material use of corporate funds
of the Companies has been made without being properly accounted for in the books and records of the Business, (c) no payment
has been made by or on behalf of the Companies with the understanding that any part of such payment is to be used for any purpose
other than that described in the documents supporting such payment,
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and (d) none of the Companies, any of their Representatives or any other Person associated with or acting for or on behalf of the
Companies has, directly or indirectly, made any illegal contribution, gift, bribe, rebate, payoff, influence payment, kickback or
other payment to any Person, private or public, regardless of form, whether in money, property or services, (i) to obtain favorable
treatment for any Company in securing business, (ii) to pay for favorable treatment for business secured for any Company, (iii) to
obtain special concessions, or for special concessions already obtained, for or in respect of any Company, or (iv) otherwise for the
benefit of any of the Companies in violation of any Law, including the FCPA. Neither the Companies nor any current director,
officer, agent, employee or other Person acting on behalf of the Companies, has accepted or received any unlawful contribution,
payment, gift, kickback, expenditure or other item of value in violation of any Law.

Section 3.28. Customers and Suppliers. Section 3.28 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule lists the 20 largest customers of the
Business (measured in terms of revenues during such period) and the 20 largest suppliers of the Business (measured in terms of
total spend during such period). No Company has received within the 12 months prior to the date hereof any written or, to Sellers’
Knowledge, oral notice that (a) any of the 20 largest customers of the Business or any of the 20 largest suppliers of the Business
will cease dealing with the Business or (b) that any of such 20 largest customers may otherwise reduce or become unable for any
reason to maintain the volume of business transacted by such customer with the Business. No Company has received within the 12
months prior to the date hereof any written notice of a dispute, claim or other Action between the Business or any Company, on the
one hand, and any supplier or customer thereof, on the other hand, other than those occurring in the ordinary course of business that
are not material to the Business. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Section 3.28 requires Seller to make any inquiry of its
largest customers or suppliers.

Section 3.29.  Removal of Excluded Assets. Except as may be otherwise provided in the Transaction Documents or
otherwise agreed to by the Parties in writing, all Tangible Properties that are Excluded Assets (if any) that are located at any of the
Real Property shall be removed from such facilities prior to the Closing (or as promptly as reasonably practicable thereafter), at
Sellers’ expense and in a manner so as not to unreasonably interfere with the operations of Buyer or any of its Affiliates (to the
extent any such removal is following the Closing) and to not cause damage to such Real Property or any Purchased Asset (other
than wear and tear that is reasonably expected in connection with the applicable removal, but in any event, not material to any
Purchased Asset or the Real Property from which it is being removed), and Buyer or any of its Affiliates, as applicable, (to the
extent any such removal is following the Closing) shall provide reasonable access to Sellers as applicable to such Real Property to
effectuate such movement. Sellers shall be solely responsible for all costs and expenses of removing such Excluded Assets and any
subsequent moving and installation thereof.

Section 3.30. Brokers. Neither Sellers nor any of their Affiliates, officers, directors, managers or Employees has
employed, retained or engaged any broker or finder or incurred any Liability for any brokerage, finder’s or similar fees or
commissions in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Transaction Documents.
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Section 3.31.  Affiliate Transactions. Except as set forth on Section 3.31 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule, there are no
agreements or contracts with any current or former managers, directors, officers, employees, members or shareholders of Seller or
Affiliates of Sellers or any arrangements or Contracts pursuant to which the Hargreaves or any of their Affiliates (other than the
Companies) provide any goods or services to the Business.

Section 3.32.  Restrictions on Business Activities. There is no Contract (including covenants not to compete) or Order
relating to the Business that has or would reasonably be expected to have, whether before or after consummation of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement and the Transaction Documents, the effect of prohibiting or impairing the conduct of the Business
as currently conducted.

Section 3.33. Activities of Columbia River. Columbia River’s sole purpose is, and since its date of formation has been, to
own the Owned Real Property. Except as disclosed in Section 3.33 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule, Columbia River owns the
marketable title to the Owned Real Property free and clear of all liens. Other than owning the Owned Real Property, Columbia
River does not conduct any business activities in connection with the Business or otherwise.

Section 3.34.  Ownership by the Hargreaves. Other than interests in the Companies and in the landlords party to the
Affiliate Real Property Leases, none of the Hargreaves, directly or indirectly, have any right, title or interest in any assets used or
held for use in, or otherwise necessary for, the conduct of the Business.

Section 3.35. Full Disclosure. No representation or warranty about the Business made in this Agreement by Sellers and no
statement contained in Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule or any certificate or other document furnished or to be furnished to Buyer
pursuant to this Agreement contains any untrue statement of a material fact, or omits to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements contained therein, in light of the circumstances in which they are made, not misleading.

Section 3.36. No Other Representations and Warranties. Except for the representations and warranties contained in this
Article IIT (including the related portions of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule), neither Sellers nor any other Person has made or makes
any other express or implied representations or warranties, either written or oral, on behalf of Sellers.

ARTICLE IV

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER

Buyer hereby represents and warrants to each Seller as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date, as set forth in
this Article IV:

Section 4.1.  Organization and Qualification. Buyer is a limited liability company duly organized, validly existing and in

good standing under the Laws of the State of Delaware and has all requisite power and authority to own, license, use or lease and
operate its assets and properties and to carry on its business as it is now conducted.
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Section 4.2.  Authority; Non-Contravention; Approvals.

(@) Buyer has all requisite power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Transaction
Documents and to perform the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Transaction Documents. The execution and
delivery by Buyer of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents and the performance by Buyer of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement and the Transaction Documents have been duly authorized and approved by the Board of
Directors and the requisite shareholders, of Buyer and no other corporate or other actions or proceedings on the part of Buyer or
any other Person are necessary to authorize the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the Transaction Documents or the
performance and consummation by Buyer of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Transaction Documents.
This Agreement has been, and upon their execution the Transaction Documents will be, duly executed and delivered by Buyer and,
assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents by Sellers and, with
respect to the Escrow Agreement, the Escrow Agent, constitutes and upon their execution the Transaction Documents will
constitute, valid and binding obligations of Buyer enforceable against Buyer in accordance with their respective terms.

(b) The execution and delivery by Buyer of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents and the performance
of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Transaction Documents do not and will not (i) conflict with or result in
a breach of any provisions of the certificate of incorporation or bylaws of Buyer, (ii) result in a violation or breach of or constitute a
default (or an event which, with or without notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a default) under, or result in the
termination of, or the loss of a benefit under or accelerate the performance required by, or give rise to any obligation or result in a
right to cancel, terminate or accelerate any obligation under, the terms, conditions or provisions of any Contract of any kind to
which Buyer or any of its Subsidiaries is now a party or by which Buyer or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective
properties or assets may be bound or affected, or (iii) violate any order, writ, injunction, decree, statute, treaty, rule or regulation
applicable to Buyer or any of its Subsidiaries, other than in the case of clauses (ii) and (iii) above as would not reasonably be
expected to result in a Buyer Material Adverse Effect.

(c) Except for the filings by Buyer required by the HSR Act, no declaration, filing or registration with, or notice to,
or authorization, consent, order or approval of, any Governmental Authority is required to be obtained or made in connection with
or as a result of the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents by Buyer or the performance by
Buyer of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Transaction Documents, other than such declarations, filings,
registrations, notices, authorizations, consents or approvals which, if not made or obtained, as the case may be, could not
reasonably be expected to result in a Buyer Material Adverse Effect.

Section 4.3. Brokers. Neither Buyer nor any of their Affiliates, officers, directors, managers or Employees has employed,
retained or engaged any broker or finder or incurred any Liability for any brokerage, finder’s or similar fees or commissions in
connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Transaction Documents.
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Section 4.4. Sufficient Funds. Buyer possesses sufficient funds (through existing credit facilities and cash on hand) to pay,
and, with respect to the Purchase Price, will in the future possess sufficient funds to pay, the Purchase Price and affirms that it is not
a condition to Closing or any of its other obligations under this Agreement that Buyer obtain financing for or related to payment
thereof.

Section 4.5. Legal Proceedings. There are no Actions pending or, to Buyer’s knowledge, threatened against or by Buyer or
any Affiliate of Buyer that challenge or seek to prevent, enjoin or otherwise delay the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 4.6. No Other Representations and Warranties. Neither Seller nor any other Person has made any representation or
warranty as to Sellers, the Business, the Purchased Assets, the Interests, or this Agreement, except as expressly set forth in Article
I1T of this Agreement (including the related portions of the Disclosure Schedules).

ARTICLE V

COVENANTS

Section 5.1. Conduct of the Business. Since December 31, 2017, except as otherwise expressly provided in this
Agreement or set forth in Section 5.1 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule, Sellers have operated the Business only in the ordinary
course of business consistent with past practice. During the period from the date of this Agreement to the Closing, except as
otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, Sellers will operate the Business only in the ordinary course of business. Sellers
will use commercially reasonable efforts to (a) preserve intact the present organization of the Business, (b) keep available the
services of the present officers of the Business and Employees, and (c) preserve relationships with customers, suppliers, licensors,
licensees, contractors, distributors and others having business dealings with the Business. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, from the date of this Agreement to the Closing, except as set forth in Section 5.1 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule, Sellers
will not, to the extent related to the Business or any of the Purchased Assets:

(a) sell, pledge, lease, encumber, assign, transfer or dispose of, or authorize the sale, pledge, lease, encumbrance,
assignment, transfer or disposition of, any assets or rights or acquire (including by merger, consolidation or acquisition of stock or
assets) any assets or rights that, in either case, are or would otherwise be Purchased Assets, other than sales of Inventory in the
ordinary course of business;

(b) abandon or allow to lapse any of the Business Intellectual Property or fail to prosecute any pending
applications for registration of any of the Business Intellectual Property;

(c) disclose any Confidential Information of any of the Companies or the Hargreaves relating to the Business or
the Purchased Assets to any Person, except in the ordinary course of business;
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(d) (i) make any material change to any pricing, marketing, sales, billing, Receivables collection or payment
practice of the Business, (ii) waive any rights in respect of or write off any Receivables, or (iii) fail to timely pay any account
payable of the Business, in each case, except in the ordinary course of business;

(e) engage in any material promotional sale, discount, pricing reduction or other activity that would reasonably be
expected to have the effect of accelerating sales of the Business for the period of time prior to the Closing that otherwise would
have occurred post-Closing, except in the ordinary course of business;

(f) enter into any material commitment or transaction, including any commitment to make any loan, advance or
capital contribution to, or investment in, any other Person with respect to the Business, in each case that would not be fulfilled in
full prior to the Closing;

(g) incur, create or assume any Indebtedness for borrowed money in excess of $200,000 (other than letters of
credit entered into or issued in the ordinary course of business) or take or omit to take any action that results in an Encumbrance,
other than a Permitted Encumbrance, in excess of $200,000 (other than letters of credit entered into or issued in the ordinary course
of business), being imposed on any asset that may be a Purchased Asset;

(h) (i) make, change or rescind any election relating to Taxes, (ii) settle or compromise or agree to compromise
any claim, action, suit, litigation, proceeding, arbitration, investigation, audit or controversy relating to Taxes, or consent to any
extension or waiver of the statute of limitations thereof, (iii) except as may be required by Law, make any change to any of its
methods of reporting income or deductions for Tax purposes from those employed in the preparation of its most recently filed Tax
Returns, (iv) change any annual Tax accounting period, (v) adopt or change any method of Tax accounting, or (vi) obtain any Tax
ruling or enter into any closing agreement, in each of clauses (i) — (vi), to the extent related to the Purchased Assets or the Business
and that would reasonably be expected to affect Taxes of the Business for any taxable period ending after the Closing Date;

(i) (i) except to the extent required by this Agreement or applicable Law, enter into, adopt, amend or terminate
employment, severance, termination or similar type of Contract, collective bargaining agreement or Benefit Plan, except as may be
required by any Benefit Plan in effect as of the date hereof or (ii) increase in any manner the compensation or benefits of any
officer, employee or consultant of Seller or pay or otherwise grant any benefit not required by any Benefit Plan;

(j) effectuate a plant closing or layoff regardless of whether such action triggers obligations under the WARN Act;

(k) hire any new employees of the Business or reassign or transfer any current employee to or from the Business,
except in the ordinary course of business;

() (i) make or commit to any capital expenditures, other than (A) those provided in the forecast for the Business
provided to Buyer prior to the date hereof and (B) such expenditures
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with an aggregate cost not exceeding $200,000 or (ii) fail to make or commit to any capital expenditures provided in the forecast
for the Business provided to Buyer prior to the date hereof;

(m) (i) enter into, amend or terminate any Contract of a type that, if in effect at the date of this Agreement, would
be required to be disclosed pursuant to Section 3.15(a) or (ii) amend or modify or otherwise waive, release or assign any material
rights, claims or benefits of any Material Contract;

(n) pay, discharge or satisfy any Liabilities relating to the Business in excess of $200,000, except in the ordinary
course of business;

(o) settle or compromise any Action pending or threatened against Sellers, the Business or the Purchased Assets in
excess of $25,000, except in the ordinary course of business or to the extent covered by any insurance policy maintained by any
Company;

(p) enter into any transaction or any Contract with any Affiliate, current or former managers, directors, officers,
employees, members or shareholders of Sellers relating to the Business, except in the ordinary course of business;

(q) license or grant any right to, or transfer, any of the Business Intellectual Property, other than grants of non-
exclusive licenses in the ordinary course of business; or

(r) take, or agree or otherwise commit to take, any of the foregoing actions or any other action that if taken would
cause any representation or warranty of Sellers contained in this Agreement to be untrue or incorrect as of the date when made or as
of any subsequent date (as if made as of such date) or that could prevent the satisfaction of any condition set forth in Article VI.

Section 5.2.  Use of Name. Sellers agree that from and after the Closing none of them will use the name “Sunlight,”
“Sunlight Supply,” “Sunlight Garden,” “Columbia River” or “National Garden Wholesale” in any form whatsoever, including in
respect of advertising and promotional materials.

Section 5.3. Tax Matters.

(a) Sellers shall bear all transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, registration and other such Taxes and fees
(including any penalties and interest thereon) incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement
(collectively, “Transfer Taxes”). The Parties shall cooperate as reasonably requested to minimize such Transfer Taxes, including
with respect to any available exemption from such Transfer Taxes. Sellers will prepare and file or cause to be prepared and filed as
Tax Returns with respect to such Transfer Taxes, except as otherwise required by applicable Law.

(b) The Parties agree to allocate the Purchase Price (and other relevant amounts for Tax purposes) in accordance
with Section 1060 of the code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder and the principles described in Section 5.3(b) of Sellers’
Disclosure Schedule (the
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“Allocation Principles”). Within 30 days after the Closing Date, Buyer will engage Ernst & Young (the “Valuation Expert”) to
conduct a valuation analysis of the Purchased Assets (and such other relevant amounts) consistent with the Allocation Principles.
Following the Valuation Expert’s delivery of the final valuation report (and in any event within 120 days after the determination of
the Final Closing Date Net Working Capital pursuant to Section 2.10(d)) Buyer shall deliver to Sellers a statement (the “Asset
Allocation Statement”) of the allocation of the Purchase Price (and such other relevant amounts) among the Purchased Assets in
accordance with the Valuation Expert’s final valuation report and the Allocation Principles. Buyer and Sellers and each of their
respective Affiliates shall: (i) be bound by the Asset Allocation Statement for purposes of determining any Taxes; (ii) prepare and
file, and cause their respective Affiliates to prepare and file, their Tax Returns (including IRS Form 8594) on a basis consistent with
the Asset Allocation Statement; (iii) cooperate in the filing of any forms (including IRS Form 8594) required to be filed with regard
to the Asset Allocation Statement, including any amendments to such forms required pursuant to any applicable Law or this
Agreement; and (iv) take no position, and cause their Affiliates to take no position, inconsistent with the Asset Allocation
Statement on any applicable Tax Return or in any proceeding before any Governmental Authority or otherwise. If the Asset
Allocation Statement is disputed by any Taxing Authority, the Party receiving notice of the dispute shall promptly notify the other
Party, and the Parties agree (and shall cause their respective Affiliates) to use their reasonable best efforts to defend such Asset
Allocation Statement in any audit or other Action and not to settle or otherwise dispose of such audit or other Action without the
prior written consent of the other party (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).

(c)  On or prior to the Closing Date, Sellers will notify all of the Government Authorities responsible for the
administration of Taxes for the jurisdictions set forth on Section 5.3(c) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement in the form and manner required by such Governmental Authorities, if the failure to make any
such notification or receive any available Tax clearance certificate (each a “Tax Clearance Certificate”) could subject Buyer to
any Taxes of Sellers. If, with respect to any application for a Tax Clearance Certificate made pursuant to this Section 5.3(c), any
Governmental Authority asserts that Sellers are liable for any Tax, Sellers will promptly pay any and all such Taxes and will
provide evidence to Buyer that such Taxes have been paid in full or the Liability for such Taxes has otherwise been resolved or
satisfied.

(d)  The Parties shall cooperate (and cause their respective Affiliates to cooperate) fully, as and to the extent
reasonably requested by the other parties, in connection with the preparation and filing of Tax Returns (or amendments thereto)
pursuant to this Section 5.3 and any Tax audit, litigation or other proceeding with respect to Taxes and payments in respect thereof.
Such cooperation shall include the retention and (upon the other Parties’ request) the provision of records and information which
are reasonably relevant to any such Tax audit, litigation or other proceeding and making employees available on a mutually
convenient basis to provide additional information and explanation of any material provided hereunder. Each of the Parties shall
furnish the other Parties with copies of all relevant correspondence received from any Governmental Authority in connection with
any Tax audit or information request with respect to any Taxes for which any other party may have an indemnification obligation
under this Agreement or that otherwise could reasonably be expected to affect the Taxes of the other Party.
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(e)  All amounts paid in respect of indemnification under Article VIII shall be treated for all Tax purposes as
adjustments to the Purchase Price, except as other required by applicable Law.

(f) The Parties agree to treat the purchase and sale of the Interests, for all U.S. federal (and applicable state and
local) income tax purposes, consistent with Revenue Ruling 99-6, 1999-1 CB 432, Situation 2, such that (i) from the perspective of
Buyer, Columbia River is treated as making a liquidating distributing all of its assets to the Hargreaves, and Buyer is then treated as
purchasing from the Hargreaves all of those assets for consideration equal to the fair market value of those assets, in which Buyer
will take a cost basis under Section 1012 of the Code, and (ii) each of the Hargreaves are treated as selling their partnership
interests in a taxable transaction governed by Section 741 of the Code. None of the Parties shall take any position inconstant with
this Section 5.3(f) in any Tax Return or in any proceeding with a Taxing Authority.

Section 5.4. Non-Competition; Non-Solicitation.

() As a material inducement to Buyer to enter into this Agreement, from the Closing and for five years thereafter,
Sellers will not, directly or indirectly through any Person anywhere in the world, (i) engage in, own any interest in, invest in, lend
funds to, operate, control or provide any management, consulting, financial, administrative, supply, distribution or other services to
any business that competes with the Business as conducted, and as contemplated by Sellers to be conducted, at the time of Closing,
directly or indirectly in any manner, or (ii) solicit, sell or attempt to sell goods and services offered by the Business to any facility
that is a customer of the Business (or any successor) or induce or seek to induce any such Person to cease to do business with the
Business or otherwise vary the terms of its relationship with the Business; provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing,
Sellers may own the Parent Shares or otherwise exercise or perform rights and obligations under this Agreement and related
agreements, and Sellers may collectively own, directly or indirectly, solely as an investment, securities of any Person that are traded
on any national securities exchange or the NASDAQ Stock Market if Sellers (alone or collectively) (A) are not a controlling Person
of, or a member of a group that controls such Person and (B) do not, directly or indirectly, own 2% or more of any class of
securities of such Person.

(b) From the Closing and for five years thereafter, Sellers will not, directly or indirectly through any Person, (i)
cause, solicit, induce or encourage any Employees to leave such employment or (ii) cause, induce or encourage any material actual
or prospective customer, supplier or licensor of Sellers as of the Closing Date, or any other Person who has a material business
relationship with Sellers as of the Closing Date, to terminate or modify any such actual or prospective relationship. The foregoing
restrictions will not preclude (x) general solicitations in newspapers or similar mass media not targeted toward Employees or (y)
the solicitation of any employee who for at least one year prior to the date on which such solicitation would take place has
terminated such employee’s employment with Sellers (it being conclusively presumed so as to avoid any disputes under this
Section 5.4(b) that any such solicitation within such one year period is in violation of clause (i) above). In the event that the
employment of [INTENTIONALLY OMITTED] is terminated or such individual resigns without a violation of this provision, then
Section 5.4(b)(i) will not apply to such terminated individual.
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(c) Sellers will not make any disparaging or defamatory public comments about Buyer or its Affiliates or their
respective directors, managers and officers, or to encourage or participate with anyone to make such statements or any such
comments with respect to the Business, Buyer or its Affiliates or their products. Buyer agrees and acknowledges that the terms of
this Section 5.4(c) do not prohibit Sellers from making truthful statements, if required to do so by Law or Action (including in
connection with any Action relating to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby); provided, however, that if any
such Person is requested by Order to provide testimony which would otherwise violate the provisions of this Section 5.4(c), such
Person will promptly notify Buyer of such request. Buyer and its Affiliates will not make any disparaging or defamatory public
comments about Seller or their Affiliates or their respective directors, managers and officers, or to encourage or participate with
anyone to make such statements or any such comments with respect to the Business, Sellers or their Affiliates or their products.
Seller agrees and acknowledges that the terms of this Section 5.4(c) do not prohibit Buyer from making truthful statements, if
required to do so by Law or Action (including in connection with any Action relating to this Agreement and the transactions
contemplated hereby); provided, however, that if any such Person is requested by Order to provide testimony which would
otherwise violate the provisions of this Section 5.4(c), such Person will promptly notify Seller of such request.

(d) From and after the Closing, Sellers will not and will cause their Affiliates and their respective Representatives
not to, directly or indirectly, disclose, reveal, divulge or communicate to any Person, other than authorized officers, directors and
employees of Buyer, or use or otherwise exploit for its own benefit or for the benefit of anyone other than Buyer, any Confidential
Information. Sellers and their respective Affiliates and Representatives will not have any obligation to keep confidential the
Confidential Information if and to the extent disclosure thereof is specifically required by Law, except that in the event disclosure is
required by applicable Law, Sellers will, to the extent reasonably permitted provide Buyer with prompt written notice of such
requirement prior to making any disclosure so that buyer may seek an appropriate protective order.

(e) The Parties recognize that the Laws and public policies of the various states of the United States and provinces
of Canada may differ as to the validity and enforceability of covenants similar to those set forth in this Section 5.4. It is the
intention of the Parties that the provisions of this Section 5.4 be enforced to the fullest extent permissible under the Laws and
policies of each jurisdiction in which enforcement may be sought, and that the unenforceability (or the modification to conform to
such Laws or policies) of any provisions of this Section 5.4 will not render unenforceable, or impair, the remainder of the
provisions of this Section 5.4. Accordingly, if any provision of this Section 5.4 is determined to be invalid or unenforceable, such
invalidity or unenforceability will be deemed to apply only with respect to the operation of such provision in the particular
jurisdiction in which such determination is made and not with respect to any other provision or jurisdiction. The Parties (i) have
carefully read and understand all of the provisions of this Agreement and have had the opportunity for this Agreement to be
reviewed by counsel and (ii) acknowledge that the duration, geographical scope and subject matter of this Section 5.4 are
reasonable and necessary to protect the goodwill, customer relationships, legitimate business interests, trade secrets and
confidential information of the Parties.
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(f) The Parties to this Agreement acknowledge and agree that any remedy at Law for any breach of the provisions
of this Section 5.4 may be inadequate, and each Party hereby agree that a Party will have the right to seek equitable relief, including
the issuance of a temporary or permanent injunction by a court of competent jurisdiction.

Section 5.5. Non-Assignable Assets.

(a) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, and subject to the provisions of this Section 5.5, to
the extent that the sale, assignment, transfer, conveyance or delivery, or attempted sale, assignment, transfer, conveyance or
delivery, to Buyer of any Purchased Asset would result in a violation of applicable Law, or would require the consent,
authorization, approval or waiver of a Person who is not a Party to this Agreement or an Affiliate of a Party to this Agreement
(including any Governmental Authority), and such consent, authorization, approval or waiver shall not have been obtained prior to
the Closing, this Agreement will not constitute a sale, assignment, transfer, conveyance or delivery, or an attempted sale,
assignment, transfer, conveyance or delivery, thereof; provided, however, that, subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions
contained in Article VI, the Closing will occur notwithstanding the foregoing without any adjustment to the Purchase Price on
account thereof. Following the Closing, Sellers and Buyer will use commercially reasonable efforts, and will cooperate with each
other, to obtain any such required consent, authorization, approval or waiver of all parties, so that, in any case, Buyer will be solely
responsible for any liabilities and obligations related to such arrangements from and after the Closing Date; provided, however, that
neither Party will be required to make any payments, incur any Liability or offer or grant any accommodation (financial or
otherwise) to any third party to obtain any such consent, authorization, approval or waiver, other than the incurrence of incidental
expenses relating to obtaining any such consent, authorization, approval or waiver, except and only to the extent that Buyer agrees
to reimburse and make whole Sellers for any payment or other accommodation made by Sellers at Buyer’s request. Once such
consent, authorization, approval or waiver is obtained, Sellers will sell, assign, transfer, convey and deliver to Buyer the relevant
Purchased Asset to which such consent, authorization, approval or waiver relates for no additional consideration. Applicable sales,
transfer and other similar Taxes in connection with such sale, assignment, transfer, conveyance or license will be borne by Sellers
in accordance with Section 5.3(a).

(b) To the extent that any Purchased Asset cannot be transferred to Buyer following the Closing pursuant to this
Section 5.5, Buyer and Sellers will use commercially reasonable efforts to enter into such arrangements (such as subleasing,
sublicensing or subcontracting) to provide to the Parties the economic and, to the extent permitted under applicable Law,
operational equivalent of the transfer of such Purchased Asset to Buyer as of the Closing and the performance by Buyer of its
obligations with respect thereto. Buyer will, as agent or subcontractor for Sellers pay, perform and discharge fully the liabilities and
obligations of Sellers thereunder from and after the Closing Date. To the extent permitted under applicable Law, Sellers will, at
Buyer’s expense, hold in trust for and pay to Buyer promptly upon receipt thereof, such Purchased Asset and all income, proceeds
and other monies received by Sellers to the extent related to such Purchased Asset in connection with the arrangements under this
Section 5.5.
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Section 5.6. Employee Matters.

(a) Offer of Employment. Prior to Closing, Buyer or one of its Affiliates shall make offers of employment to all
Employees other than those Employees listed on Section 5.6(a) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule. Offers to each such Employee
who, as of immediately prior to the Closing Date, is on an approved leave of absence (each, a “Leave Employee”), will be
contingent on each such Employee returning to active employment within three (3) months following the Closing Date and will
become effective as of the date that such Leave Employee returns to active employment. With respect to Leave Employees, all
references to the “Closing,” or “Closing Date” in this Agreement, except in this Section 5.6(a) shall refer to the date on which a
Leave Employee returns to active employment and becomes a Transferring Employee.

(b) Each Employee who accepts Buyer’s or its Affiliate’s offer of employment and completes Buyer’s standard
onboarding process shall become an Employee of Buyer or one of its Affiliates within one week following the Closing Date, or as
of their return to active employment, as applicable (and shall be referred to herein as a “Transferring Employee”). For the
avoidance of doubt, no Employee shall become employed by Buyer prior to completing Buyer’s standard onboarding process. The
date on which each such Transferring Employee commences employment with Buyer or one of its Affiliates shall be referred to
herein as the “Employment Commencement Date.” For the avoidance of doubt, Sellers shall be responsible for any severance
and/or notice pay obligations under employment standards legislation and common law owed to any Employee who does not
accept an offer of employment from Buyer or one of its Affiliates. Sellers shall provide Buyer with an opportunity to review, revise
and approve any formal written communications by the Company to the Employees regarding the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement and such Employees’ employment with Buyer or one of its Affiliates as described herein, and Sellers shall accept
Buyer’s revisions to such communications. Buyer and its Affiliates shall not contact any Employees unless and until Craig R.
Hargreaves has provided prior consent, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

(c) Non-Assumption of Benefit Plans. Neither Buyer nor any of its Affiliates shall assume sponsorship of the
Benefit Plans and shall not succeed to Sellers’ rights under any trust or other funding agreements or related service or similar
agreements in respect of any Benefit Plan.

(d) Terms and Conditions of Employment.

(i) Following the Closing, Buyer shall, or shall cause its Affiliates to, provide Transferring Employees with
compensation and employee benefits at a level and in a manner consistent with Buyer’s general compensation and employee
benefits practices, as determined in Buyer’s reasonable discretion.

(ii)  To the extent consistent with the terms of Buyer’s employee benefit plans and general employee
benefits practices, Buyer shall, or shall cause its Affiliates, as applicable, to give Transferring Employees full credit for such
Transferring Employees’ service with the applicable Company, their Affiliates and any predecessor employer prior to the Closing
for purposes of eligibility, vesting, and determination of the level of benefits (except for purposes of severance,
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unless otherwise required by applicable Law) to the same extent and for the same purpose as recognized by the applicable
Company, Affiliate, or predecessor employer immediately prior to the Closing, under any employee benefit plans made available to
Transferring Employees and in which a Transferring Employee is eligible to participate and actually participates; provided,
however, that such service shall not be recognized to the extent that such recognition would result in a duplication of benefits with
respect to the same period of service.

(iii) Sellers shall, or shall cause its Affiliates, as applicable, to continue to offer medical, dental, vision, and
life insurance benefits to each Transferring Employee through the end of the month that includes the Closing Date.

(iv) After the Closing Date, Sellers shall be responsible for providing continuation coverage required under
Section 4980B of the Code and Title I, Part 6 of ERISA or other applicable Laws to all former employees of any Company or
ERISA Affiliate who terminated employment on or before such date and to all persons who are considered “M&A qualified
beneficiaries” as defined under Treas. Reg. Section 54.4980B-9 in connection with this transaction.

(e) General Employee Provisions.

(i) The applicable Company and Buyer shall cooperate in giving any notices required by applicable Laws
or contracts and take whatever other actions with respect to the plans, programs and policies described in this Section 5.6 as may be
necessary to carry out the arrangements described in this Section 5.6.

(ii) The applicable Company and Buyer shall provide each other with such plan documents and summary
plan descriptions, employee data or other information as may be reasonably required to carry out the arrangements described in this
5.6.

(iii) Buyer and the applicable Company intend to use the “standard procedure” under IRS Revenue
Procedure 2004 53, whereby each of Buyer and the applicable Company report on Forms W-2 only those wages paid to the
Transferring Employees for the portion of the calendar year that such Transferring Employees were employed by Buyer and the
applicable Company, respectively.

(f) No Third-Party Beneficiary Rights. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall (i) impose an obligation on
Buyer to continue the employment or service of any Transferring Employee or any contractor or consultant of any Company, (ii)
limit the right of Buyer to terminate the employment or services of, or to reassign or otherwise alter the status of, any Transferring
Employee or any contractor or consultant of any Company after the Closing Date, or to change in any manner the terms and
conditions of his or her employment or other service to or engagement by any Company, (iii) require Buyer to continue any Benefit
Plan, or (iv) be construed as amending any Benefit Plan or any benefit plan maintained by Buyer.

(8) WARN Act. Asset Sellers shall be responsible for all WARN Act Liabilities relating to the periods prior to and
on the Closing Date, including any such Liabilities that result from Employees’ separation of employment from Asset Sellers
and/or Employees not becoming
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Transferred Employees. Buyer shall be responsible for all WARN Act Liabilities exclusively with respect to the Transferred
Employees that relate to the period following the Closing Date.

Section 5.7. Parties’ Obligations.

(a) Each of Sellers and Buyer will cause their respective Representatives to timely perform any of their respective
obligations under this Agreement and the Transaction Documents. Without limiting the foregoing, each of the Parties will use its
reasonable best efforts to take all actions and to do all things necessary, proper or advisable to consummate the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement as promptly as practicable. Sellers will use their reasonable best efforts to obtain all such waivers,
consents or approvals from third parties, and to give all such notices to third parties, that are required.

(b) Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, each Party will use its commercially reasonable efforts
to take, or cause to be taken, all actions and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or advisable under applicable
Laws to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The Parties hereto will furnish to each other and to each
other’s legal counsel all such information as may be reasonably requested in order to accomplish the foregoing actions.

(c) Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, each Party will use its commercially reasonable efforts
to take, or cause to be taken, all actions, and to do, or cause to be done, and to assist and cooperate with the other parties hereto in
doing, all things necessary, proper or advisable to consummate and make effective, the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement, including (i) the obtaining of all necessary actions or nonactions, waivers, consents and approvals from Governmental
Authorities and the making of all necessary registrations and filings (including filings with Governmental Authorities, if any) and
the taking of all reasonable steps as may be necessary to obtain an approval or waiver from, or to avoid an Action or proceeding by,
any Governmental Authority, (ii) the obtaining of all necessary consents or waivers from third parties, including Governmental
Authorities, and (iii) the execution and delivery of any additional instruments necessary to consummate the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement and to fully carry out the purposes of this Agreement. The Parties agree that they will consult and
cooperate with each other in good faith with respect to the obtaining of all permits, consents, approvals and authorizations of all
third parties and Governmental Authorities necessary or advisable to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement
and each party will keep the others apprised of the status of matters relating to consummation of the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement. Subject to applicable Laws and this Agreement, Sellers, on the one hand, and Buyer, on the other hand, and their
respective legal counsel will (x) have the right to review in advance, and, to the extent practicable, each will consult the other on,
any filing made with, or written materials to be submitted to, any Governmental Authority in connection with the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement, (y) promptly inform each other of any communication (or other correspondence or memoranda)
received from, or given to, the U.S. Department of Justice, the U.S. Federal Trade Commission, or any other Governmental
Authority with regulatory jurisdiction over enforcement of any applicable anti-trust, competition, or trade regulation Law (each
such Governmental Authority, a “Governmental Antitrust Entity”), and (z) furnish each other with copies of all
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correspondence, filings and written communications between them or their Subsidiaries or Affiliates, on the one hand, and any
Governmental Authority or its respective staff, on the other hand, with respect to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement. Sellers, on the one hand, and Buyer, on the other hand, will provide each other and their respective legal
counsel with advance notice of, and the opportunity to participate in, any discussion, telephone call or meeting with any
Governmental Authority in respect of any filing, investigation or other inquiry in connection with the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement and to participate in the preparation for such discussion, telephone call or meeting. Buyer shall be entitled to direct
the antitrust defense of this Agreement, or negotiations with, any Governmental Authority or other third party relating to this
Agreement or regulatory filings under applicable competition Law, subject to the provisions of this Section 5.7. Sellers shall use
their commercially reasonable efforts to provide full and effective support of Buyer in all material respects in all such negotiations
and other discussions or actions to the extent requested by Buyer.

(d) Without limiting the generality of the undertakings pursuant to this Section 5.7, but subject to Section 5.7(e),
(i) the Parties shall provide or cause to be provided (including by their “ultimate parent entities” as that term is defined in the HSR
Act) as promptly as practicable to Governmental Antitrust Entities information and documents requested by any Governmental
Antitrust Entity or necessary, proper or advisable to permit consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement,
including preparing and filing any notification and report form and related materials required under the HSR Act within ten
Business Days following the date of this Agreement, with respect to the required filing under the HSR Act, and thereafter to
respond promptly to any request for additional information, data or documentary material that may be made under the HSR Act, (ii)
the Parties shall use their commercially reasonable efforts to take such actions as are necessary or advisable to obtain from any
Governmental Authority any consents, licenses, permits, waivers, approvals, authorizations, or orders to effect prompt
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and (iii) the Parties will use their commercially reasonable
efforts to resolve any objections and challenges, including by contest through litigation on the merits, negotiation or other Action,
that may be asserted by any Governmental Antitrust Entity with respect to the Transactions under the HSR Act. Fees associated
with the filing under the HSR Act will be borne by Buyer.

(e) In furtherance and not in limitation of this Section 5.7, Sellers and Buyer will make any other filings required
in connection with any approval or consent of or waiver by a Governmental Authority required to permit consummation of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement as promptly as practicable.

(f)  Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, it is expressly understood and agreed that: (i)
neither Buyer nor any of its Affiliates shall have any obligation to litigate or contest any administrative or judicial action or
proceeding or any decree, judgment, injunction or other order, whether temporary, preliminary or permanent; and (ii) neither Buyer
nor any of its Affiliates shall be under any obligation to make proposals, execute or carry out agreements, enter into consent
decrees or submit to orders providing for (A) the sale, divestiture, license or other disposition or holding separate (through the
establishment of a trust or otherwise) of any assets or categories of assets of Buyer or any of its Affiliates or Sellers or any of their
Subsidiaries, (B) the

57



imposition of any limitation or regulation on the ability of Buyer or any of its Affiliates to freely conduct their business or own
such assets, or (C) the holding separate of the Purchased Assets or any of Business’s product lines, assets or operations or the
Business or any limitation or regulation on the ability of Buyer or any of its Affiliates to exercise full rights of ownership of the
Business or the Purchased Assets.

(g) Sellers, on the one hand, and Buyer, on the other hand, will promptly advise each other upon receiving any
communication from any Governmental Authority whose consent or approval is required for consummation of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement that causes such party to believe that there is a reasonable likelihood that any such consent or
approval will not be obtained or that the receipt of any such approval will be materially delayed.

Section 5.8. Bulk Sale Filings. To the extent necessary, Buyer hereby waives compliance for Sellers and their respective
Affiliates with the provisions of any bulk sales transfer Laws applicable to the transfers described in this Agreement. Sellers will
indemnify and hold harmless Buyer from and against any and all Liabilities that may be asserted by third parties against Buyer as a
result of such Seller noncompliance.

Section 5.9. Escrow. On the Closing Date, Sunlight Supply, Buyer and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, a national
banking association, as escrow agent (including its successors and permitted assigns in such capacity, the “Escrow Agent”) will
enter into an escrow agreement, substantially in the form of Exhibit B (the “Escrow Agreement”). Sellers on the one hand, and
Buyer, on the other hand, will each pay 50% of all fees and expenses of the Escrow Agent in connection with the Escrow
Agreement. Sellers and Buyer agree that, for Tax reporting purposes, all interest or other income from investment of such escrowed
assets will, as of the end of each calendar year and to the extent required by the IRS, be reported as having been earned by Sunlight
Supply, and, in accordance with the terms of the Escrow Agreement, the Escrow Agent will release to Sunlight Supply from the
accounts established by the Escrow Agent pursuant to the Escrow Agreement (the “Escrow Accounts”) funds sufficient to pay
such Tax Liability. In accordance with the terms of the Escrow Agreement, (a) on the first Business Day immediately following the
nine-month anniversary of the Closing Date (the “First Release Date”), the Escrow Agent shall release and pay to Sunlight Supply
out of the Escrow Account an amount equal to (i) 25% of the funds deposited in escrow less (ii) the sum of (A) all payments out of
the Escrow Account made by the First Release Date and (B) an amount equal to the maximum aggregate amount of any unresolved
claims for indemnification pursuant to Article VIII hereof on the First Release Date; (b) on the first Business Day immediately
following the 15-month anniversary of the Closing Date (the “Second Release Date”), the Escrow Agent shall release and pay to
Sunlight Supply out of the Escrow Account an amount equal to (i) 25% of the funds deposited in escrow less (ii) the sum of (A) all
payments out of the Escrow Account made by the Second Release Date and (B) an amount equal to the maximum aggregate
amount of any unresolved claims for indemnification pursuant to Article VIII hereof on the Second Release Date; and (c) on the
first Business Day immediately following the 18-month anniversary of the Closing Date (the “Final Release Date”), the Escrow
Agent shall release and pay to Sunlight Supply the then-remaining amount in the Escrow Account, less an amount equal to the
maximum aggregate amount of any unresolved claims for indemnification pursuant to Article VIII hereof on the Final Release
Date. The Parties agree that, to the extent any
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portion of the assets held in escrow are released to Sunlight Supply on the Second Release Date or any subsequent release date, the
release will first be comprised of that portion of the Escrow Amount that is represented by the beneficial ownership of the Stock
Consideration and, only after all such Stock Consideration has been released, will any cash portion of the escrowed assets be
released and further agree that any release from Escrow in favor of Buyer will be first in cash. The maximum aggregate amount of
any unresolved claim shall be equal to, in the case of a claim by a Party, the most recent amount claimed by such Party or, for a
Third-Party Claim, the amount claimed by such third party.

Section 5.10. Further Assurances; Post-Closing Cooperation.

(a) From time to time after the Closing, without additional consideration, each of the Parties will (or, if
appropriate, will cause their Affiliates to) execute and deliver such further instruments and take such other action as may be
necessary to make effective the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Transaction Documents. If any Party will
following the Closing have in its possession any asset, right or Liability that under this Agreement that should have been delivered
to another Party, then such Party will promptly deliver such asset, right or Liability to the other Party.

(b) Sellers hereby constitute and appoint, effective as of the Closing Date, Buyer and its successors and assigns as
the true and lawful attorney of Sellers with full power of substitution in the name of Buyer, or in the name of Sellers, but for the
benefit of Buyer, at Buyer’s cost (i) to collect for the account of Buyer any items of Purchased Assets and (ii) to institute and
prosecute all proceedings that Buyer may in its reasonable discretion deem proper to assert or enforce any right, title or interest in,
to or under the Purchased Assets, and to defend or compromise any and all Actions in respect of the Purchased Assets, except and
to the only extent such defense, counterclaim or right of setoff would give rise to a Loss for a Seller, in which event Seller will
promptly notify Buyer in writing that such claim is being retained by Seller and such claim shall be handled pursuant to Article
VIII of this Agreement. Buyer will be entitled to retain for its own account any amounts collected pursuant to the foregoing powers,
including any amounts payable as interest in respect thereof.

(c) Following the Closing, Sellers will afford Buyer and its Representatives (i) such access during normal business
hours as Buyer may reasonably request to all books, records and other data and information, including any information from
Employees, relating to the Business, the Purchased Assets, the Excluded Assets, the Assumed Liabilities and the Excluded
Liabilities and (ii) the right to make copies and extracts therefrom. Further, each Party agrees for a period extending seven years
after the Closing Date not to destroy or otherwise dispose of any such books, records and other data unless such Party will first
offer in writing to surrender such books, records and other data to the other Party and such other Party will not agree in writing to
take possession thereof during the ten calendar day period after such offer is made and to inform the senders that Buyer is the new
rightful recipient.

(d) Following the Closing, Buyer may receive and open all mail addressed to Sellers and deal with the contents
thereof in its discretion to the extent that such mail and the contents thereof relate to the Business. Buyer agrees to deliver or cause
to be delivered to Sellers all mail

59



received by Buyer after the Closing addressed to Sellers or any of their respective Affiliates that does not relate to the Business,
including any mail related or addressed to the Affiliated entities that are landlords of the Affiliated Real Property Leases.

(e) Sellers will take, or cause to be taken, all actions and do, or cause to be done, at no cost to Sellers, all things
necessary, proper, or advisable to register, maintain, and prevent the diminution in value of the Business Intellectual Property,
including filing any affidavits of use in commerce with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, responding to all office actions or
other correspondence from the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, U.S. Copyright Office, and all other corresponding governmental
offices throughout the world, obtaining and recording all documents necessary to establish, maintain, transfer, or identify Buyer’s
rights in such Intellectual Property, including all necessary assignments of such Intellectual Property and fulfilling all of its duties
and obligations and avoid any defaults under all Contracts regarding Intellectual Property, and assist Buyer after the Closing with
respect to any legal or administrative action relating to the Intellectual Property, including before the U.S. Patent and Trademark
Office, U.S. Copyright Office, and all other corresponding foreign and domestic Governmental Authorities.

(f) To the extent that any moral rights or rights of droit moral are deemed to exist or apply in any jurisdiction to
any of the Intellectual Property rights transferred hereunder, each of Sellers agrees to, and hereby waives, or hereby agrees to seek a
waiver in favor of Sellers and Buyer of any and all such moral rights or rights of droit moral.

(g) Sellers will effect all renewals of all Intellectual Property that are scheduled to or may expire between the date
hereof and the date that is 30 days after the Closing Date. Subject to the immediately following sentence, Buyer will be responsible
for all out-of-pocket third-party fees and expenses incurred by Sellers in connection with all such renewals, and Buyer will
reasonably assist Sellers in connection therewith, including executing and delivering, or causing to be executed and delivered, all
such documents and instruments as Sellers may reasonably deem necessary to affect such renewals. Sellers will be fully responsible
for, including paying all costs associated with, filing releases of all security Encumbrances existing on the Closing Date on
Business Intellectual Property with the United States Patent and Trademark Office and any applicable foreign Intellectual Property
offices where Encumbrances have been recorded on or prior to the Closing Date.

Section 5.11.  Access to Information. From the date hereof to the Closing Date, Sellers will (a) afford Buyer and its
Representatives reasonable access to the Employees and reasonable access to and the right to inspect all of the Real Property,
properties, assets, premises, books and records, contracts, agreements and other data related to the Business and (b) furnish Buyer
and its Representatives with such financial, operating and other data and information related to the Business as Buyer may
reasonably request, except that any such investigation will be conducted during normal business hours, upon reasonable advance
notice to Sellers, under the supervision of Sellers’ personnel and in such manner as not to unreasonably interfere with the normal
operations of the Business. Buyer will, and will cause its Representatives to, abide by the terms of the Confidentiality Agreement
with respect to any access or information provided pursuant to this Section 5.11. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Sellers will not be
required to disclose the identities or any
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identifying information of vendors that Sellers consider to be proprietary to the Asset Sellers other than to the individuals set forth
in Exhibit M and such individuals will not be permitted to disclose such information to any other person (other than outside legal
counsel) without the prior written consent of Craig R. Hargreaves, on behalf of Sellers.

Section 5.12.  Publicity. The initial press release announcing this Agreement will be in substantially the form previously
agreed by Representatives of the Parties. Thereafter and prior to the Closing, no Party will issue any press release or make any
public comment or announcement concerning this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby without obtaining the prior
written approval of the other, which approval will not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned, unless and to the extent
that the disclosing Party otherwise determines in good faith that such disclosure is required by Law (in which case it will, if
practicable under the circumstances, endeavor in good faith to consult with the other Parties with respect to the filing and content
thereof). Other than in connection with the filings required pursuant to the HSR Act, the terms of this Agreement will not be
disclosed or otherwise made available to any third party, except where such disclosure, availability or filing is required by Law and
only to the extent required by Law.

Section 5.13.  Exclusivity. During the term of this Agreement, Sellers will not, and will not permit their respective
Affiliates or Representatives to, nor will they encourage or authorize any Person (including any Representative) to, initiate any
contact with, solicit, encourage or enter into or continue any negotiations, understandings or agreements with any third party with
respect to or in connection with, or furnish or disclose any non-public information regarding the Business to any third party in
connection with, any share purchase, merger, consolidation, share exchange, recapitalization or other business combination
transaction involving the Business, in each case other than the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. During the term of this
Agreement, Buyer will not, and will not permit their respective Affiliates or Representatives to, nor will they encourage or
authorize any Person (including any Representative) to, initiate any contact with, solicit, encourage or enter into or continue any
negotiations, understandings or agreements with the entities identified on Section 5.13 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule or their
Representatives with respect to or in connection with, or furnish or disclose any non-public information to any such third party in
connection with, any share purchase, merger, consolidation, share exchange, recapitalization or other business combination
transaction, in each case other than the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing herein
will restrict ordinary course communications between Buyer or an Affiliate of Buyer, on the one hand, and an entity identified on
Section 5.13 of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule or its Representatives, on the other hand, except for discussions related to a
transformative transaction between them.

Section 5.14. Notification of Certain Matters. Sellers will give prompt written notice to Buyer, and Buyer will give prompt
written notice to Sellers, (a) of any notice or other communication received by such Party or any of its Affiliates from any
Governmental Authority in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or from any Person alleging that the
consent of such Person is or may be required in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (b) of any
Action commenced or, to such Party’s knowledge, threatened against, relating to or involving or otherwise affecting such Party or
any of its Affiliates which relate to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and (c) in the event such Party becomes aware
of the occurrence
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or non-occurrence of any event which will result, or has a reasonable prospect of resulting, in the failure of any condition, covenant
or agreement contained in this Agreement to be complied with or satisfied prior to or at the Closing.

Section 5.15. Maintenance of Product Registrations.

(a) Each Asset Seller agrees to maintain, as valid and lawful, and permit Buyer to use, all of the Company-Owned
Business Product Registrations, and shall authorize Buyer to (i) manufacture such Business Products and (ii) sell and distribute
such Business Products under the Company-Owned Business Product Registrations until with respect to each Company-Owned
Business Product Registration, the later of (A) such time as Buyer is able to obtain, with Sellers’ assistance, its own registrations of
the applicable products; provided, that Buyer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain its own registrations of such
products as promptly as reasonably practicable following the Closing Date or (B) such time as no Business Products sold by Buyer
under the Company-Owned Business Product Registrations remain “In the Channels of Trade” for that particular state. For the
purposes of this Section 5.15, “In the Channels of Trade” means a Business Product that is being offered for sale, offered for
distribution, or is in the process of being sold and distributed by any Person.

(b) Each Asset Seller agrees to provide, in good faith, regulatory support services to Buyer, including, if necessary,
filing a letter of authorization, or making other supportive communications with any Governmental Authority, to facilitate Buyer’s
procurement of the Company-Owned Business Product Registrations.

(c) Buyer agrees to pay all reasonable post-Closing costs, including filing fees, mill assessments, Taxes or other
monetary obligations of any kind, owed to any Governmental Authority in order to maintain the Company-Owned Business
Product Registrations as required pursuant to this Section 5.15 (the “Maintenance Fees”), except as such Maintenance Fees relate
to pre-Closing periods or to the Business Products sold prior to the Closing Date; provided, however, that if a Seller fails to provide
Buyer with sufficient advance written notice of the due date of such a fee, or a Seller fails to fulfill their non-monetary obligations
required to maintain the Company-Owned Business Product Registrations pursuant to this Section 5.15, the applicable Seller will
pay the cost of all penalties or other charges imposed as a result of such Seller’s acts or omissions.

(d) Each Seller will cooperate in good faith with Buyer to determine the most reasonable and efficient method for
maintaining the Company-Owned Business Product Registrations hereunder.

Section 5.16. Reimbursement. No more than seven Business Days following receipt of a written request with supporting
documentation, Buyer will reimburse Sellers up to an aggregate amount of $250,000 for termination fees actually incurred by
Sellers in connection with the termination of health insurance or other commitments of Sellers as a result of the consummation of
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 5.17. Craig R. Hargreaves Post-Closing Support Obligations. For a period of one-year following the Closing, from
time to time, upon the request of Buyer or one or more of its

62



Affiliates, Craig R. Hargreaves will provide transition and other assistance and post-Closing support to Buyer and its Affiliates in
connection with the transition of the ownership and operation of the Business.

ARTICLE VI

CONDITIONS TO CLOSING

Section 6.1.  Conditions to Each Party’s Obligations. The respective obligations of each Party to effect the Closing are
subject to the satisfaction or waiver at or prior to the Closing of the following conditions:

(@) All necessary consents and approvals of any Governmental Authority required for the consummation of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall have been obtained, and any waiting period applicable to the consummation of
the transactions contemplated hereby under the HSR Act shall have expired or been terminated.

(b) No Law shall have been enacted, entered, promulgated or enforced by a Governmental Authority that prohibits
the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Transaction Documents, and no Action shall be
pending by a Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over the Business that seeks to prohibit or enjoin the consummation of
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Transaction Documents.

Section 6.2. Conditions to Buyer’s Obligations. The obligations of Buyer to effect the Closing are further subject to the
satisfaction or waiver at or prior to the Closing of the following conditions:

(a) Each of the representations and warranties made by Sellers in this Agreement that is qualified by reference to
materiality, Business Material Adverse Effect or Seller Material Adverse Effect shall be true and correct in all respects, and each of
the representations and warranties made by Sellers in this Agreement that are not so qualified shall be true and correct in all
material respects, in each case as of the date of this Agreement and at and as of the Closing Date as if made on that date (except in
any case that representations and warranties that expressly speak as of a specified date or time need only be true and correct as of
such specified date or time).

(b) Sellers shall have performed and complied in all material respects with each covenant required by this
Agreement to be so performed or complied with by Sellers at or before the Closing (including delivering to Buyer the items set
forth in Section 2.7).

(c) All consents or approvals listed in Section 6.2(c) of Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule shall have been obtained and
Buyer shall have received copies of such consents in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Buyer.

(d) No event, circumstance or change shall have occurred, that individually or in the aggregate with one or more
other events, circumstances or changes, has had or reasonably could be expected to have, a Seller Material Adverse Effect or a
Business Material Adverse Effect.
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(e) Each Asset Seller shall have amended its charter, articles of organization, bylaws and any other governing
documents, as applicable, and taken all other actions necessary to change its name to one sufficiently dissimilar to its present name,
in Buyer’s reasonable judgment, to avoid confusion with the conduct of the Business post-Closing. In addition, Sunlight shall have
withdrawn all of its fictitious name filings and “doing business as” filings for “National Garden Wholesale.”

(f) With respect to the Owned Real Property, an owner’s title insurance policy, to be paid by the Hargreaves, issued
by Buyer’s title company, insuring that Columbia River has good and marketable title to the Owned Real Property as of the Closing
Date, free and clear of all Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances, and with the endorsements reasonably requested by
Buyer in the amount of the fair market value of the Owner Real Property.

(g) Sellers shall have delivered to Buyer a certificate, dated the Closing Date and duly executed by each of the
Hargreaves with respect to the Hargreaves and by the Chief Executive Officer of each Asset Seller with respect to the Asset Sellers,
in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Buyer, to the effect that the conditions set forth in clauses (a), (b) and (d) of this
Section 6.2 have been satisfied.

(h) Each Asset Seller shall have delivered to Buyer a certificate of the corporate secretary of each Asset Seller
attaching thereto a true, correct and complete copy of resolutions of the board of directors or the member, as applicable, each Asset
Seller authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement, the Transaction Documents and the consummation
of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.

(i) Sellers shall have delivered to Buyer a certificate of good standing or similar document with respect to each
Company issued by the applicable Governmental Authority as of a date within three Business Days of the Closing Date.

(j) Sunlight Supply, on behalf of Sellers, and the Escrow Agent (or, if the Escrow Agent is unable or unwilling to
serve in such capacity, an alternative escrow agent reasonably satisfactory to Buyer) shall have entered into and delivered the
Escrow Agreement.

(k) (i) At least 80% of the Employees in each of the (1) sales, (2) warehouse, (3) production, work department
categories and at least 80% of the Employees in all other work department categories, in each case, identified in Section 3.8 of
Sellers’ Disclosure Schedule, shall have completed, to the reasonable satisfaction of Buyer, Buyer’s background screening
procedures, which may include, but are not limited to, drug screening, reference checks and obtaining proof of each such
Employee’s identity and legal authorization to work in any applicable jurisdiction, and (ii) each Employee shall (A) have accepted
Buyer’s offer of employment, which shall not include any material change in benefits and compensation, and (B) have successfully
completed and signed all required on-boarding documents for employment with Buyer.

() Each Key Employee shall have executed and delivered a Key Employee Offer Letter.
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(m) (i) each Key Employee shall have completed, to the satisfaction of Buyer in its sole discretion, Buyer’s
background screening procedures, which may include, but are not limited to, drug screening, reference checks and obtaining proof
of each such Key Employee’s identity and legal authorization to work in any applicable jurisdiction, and (ii) each Key Employee
shall (A) have accepted Buyer’s offer of employment, and (B) have successfully completed and signed all required on-boarding
documents for employment with Buyer.

(n) The landlords of each of the Affiliated Real Property Leases set forth on Section 2.7(f) of Sellers’ Disclosure
Schedule shall have entered into a lease agreement in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit L, with respect to each of
the Leased Real Property that is subject to an Affiliated Real Property Lease.

(o) Buyer shall have received verification that none of Sellers’ vendors employees, customers, suppliers, or other
parties with whom Sellers interact are parties with whom U.S. persons are prohibited from engaging in transactions or other
dealings.

(p) Buyer shall have completed its due diligence review of the Business and the results thereof shall be reasonably
satisfactory to Buyer; provided, however, that the condition set forth in this Section 6.2(p) shall be deemed waived if a written
notice of failure to satisfy this condition has not been delivered to Seller by the day that is 30 calendar days following the filing
with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement under the HSR Act. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this
Section 6.2(p) shall be deemed to waive or otherwise impact the separate condition to closing set forth in Section 6.2(0) above.

Section 6.3. Conditions to Sellers’ Obligations. The obligations of Sellers to effect the Closing are further subject to the
satisfaction or waiver at or prior to the Closing of the following conditions:

(a) Each of the representations and warranties made by Buyer in this Agreement that is qualified by reference to
materiality or Buyer Material Adverse Effect shall be true and correct in all respects, and each of the other representations and
warranties made by Buyer in this Agreement that are not so qualified shall be true and correct in all material respects, in each case
as of the date of this Agreement and at and as of the Closing Date as if made on that date (except in any case that representations
and warranties that expressly speak as of a specified date or time need only be true and correct as of such specified date or time).

(b)  Buyer shall have performed and complied with, in all material respects, each covenant required by this
Agreement to be so performed or complied with by Buyer at or before the Closing (including delivering to Sellers or the Escrow
Agent, as applicable, the items set forth in Section 2.8).

(c) Buyer shall have delivered to Sellers a certificate, dated the Closing Date and duly executed by an officer of
Buyer, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Sellers, to the effect that the conditions set forth in clauses (a) and (b)
above have been satisfied.

65



(d) Buyer shall have delivered to Sellers a certificate of the corporate secretary of Buyer attaching thereto a true,
correct and complete copy of resolutions of the board of directors of Buyer authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of
this Agreement, the Transaction Documents and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.

(e) Buyer and the Escrow Agent (or, if the Escrow Agent is unable or unwilling to serve in such capacity, an
alternative escrow agent reasonably satisfactory to Sellers) shall have entered into and delivered the Escrow Agreement.

ARTICLE VII

TERMINATION
Section 7.1. Termination. This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Closing by:
(a) the mutual written consent of Buyer and Craig R. Hargreaves, on behalf of Sellers;

(b) Buyer, upon a material breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement set forth in this
Agreement (a “Terminating_Breach”) by Sellers such that the conditions specified in Section 6.2(a) or 6.2(b) would not be
satisfied at the Closing and, in either such case, such breach cannot be cured by the Termination Date or, if capable of being cured,
is not cured within 15 days following receipt by Sellers from Buyer of written notice thereof, except that the right to terminate this
Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.1(b) will not be available to Buyer if it is then in material breach of any of its representations,
warranties or covenants under this Agreement; or

(c) Craig R. Hargreaves, on behalf of Sellers, upon a Terminating Breach by Buyer such that the conditions
specified in Section 6.3(a) or 6.3(b) would not be satisfied at the Closing and, in either such case, such breach cannot be cured by
the Termination Date or, if capable of being cured, is not cured within 15 days following receipt by Buyer from Sellers of written
notice thereof, except that the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.1(c) will not be available to Craig R.
Hargreaves if Sellers are then in material breach of any of their representations, warranties or covenants under this Agreement; or

(d) Buyer or Craig R. Hargreaves, on behalf of Sellers, as the case may be, if:

(i) there shall be any Law that makes consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement
illegal or otherwise prohibited; or

(ii) any Governmental Authority shall have issued an Order restraining or enjoining the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement, and such Order shall have become final and non-appealable; or
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(iii) the Closing shall not have occurred by October 12, 2018 (the “Termination Date”) (unless the failure
to consummate the Closing by such date shall be due to or have resulted from any breach of the representations or warranties made
by, or the failure to perform or comply with any of the agreements or covenants hereof to be performed or complied with prior to
the Closing by, the Party seeking to terminate the Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.1(d)(iii)); provided, however, that if on such
date at least one of the conditions set forth in Section 6.1(a) (as a result of an antitrust Law or an Order under an antitrust Law)
shall not have been satisfied, then, the Termination Date will automatically be extended to December 31, 2018 and, if on that date,
one of the conditions set forth in Section 6.1(a) (as a result of an antitrust Law or an Order under an antitrust Law) shall still not
have been satisfied, Buyer, at its sole discretion, may elect to extend the Termination Date for one three-month period.

(e) by Sellers if (i) all the conditions set forth in Sections 6.1 and 6.2 (provided such conditions are capable of
being satisfied as of the date of Sellers’ notice terminating the Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.1(e)) have been satisfied, (ii)
Sellers have irrevocably confirmed by written notice to Buyer that they are ready and willing to consummate the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement (subject to the satisfaction of all of the conditions set forth in Section 6.3 that by their nature to be
satisfied by actions taken at the Closing) on a proposed Closing Date that is consistent with Section 2.6 and such notice is given not
less than five Business Days prior to such proposed Closing Date, and (iii) the Closing shall not have been consummated on such
proposed Closing Date.

Section 7.2.  Effect of Termination. In the event this Agreement is terminated by either Party as provided in Section 7.1,
the provisions of this Agreement will immediately become void and of no further force and effect, and no Party or any of its
Subsidiaries or Affiliates (or any of their respective directors or officers) will have any Liability whatsoever under this Agreement
or in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby (other than this Section 7.2, Section 5.12 and Article IX which will
survive the termination of this Agreement), except that (a) such termination will not relieve any Party hereto of any Liability for
damages actually incurred or suffered by the other Party as a result of any willful breach of this Agreement and (b) the provisions
of the Confidentiality Agreement and Non-Solicitation Agreement continue in full force and effect. For purposes hereof, “willful
breach” means a material breach by a Party of the applicable provision of this Agreement as a result of an action or failure to act by
such Party that it knew would result in a breach of this Agreement.

ARTICLE VIII

SURVIVAL,; INDEMNIFICATION

Section 8.1.  Survival of Representations, Warranties, Covenants and Agreements. [[INTENTIONALLY OMITTED]. Each
covenant contained in this Agreement will survive until fully performed or fulfilled, unless non-compliance with such covenants is
waived in writing by the Party or Parties entitled to such performance. No Claim for indemnification may be asserted after the
expiration of the applicable survival period; provided, that a specific Claim for indemnification which was timely and properly
made before expiration of the applicable survival period but not
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resolved prior to its expiration will extend the survival period with respect to the specific representation, warranty, covenant or
agreement underlying such Claim through the date such Claim is conclusively resolved. The Parties’ respective representations,
warranties, covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement will survive strictly in accordance with this Section 8.1.

Section 8.2. Indemnification by Buyer. Subject to the provisions of this Article VIII, Buyer agrees to indemnify, defend
and hold harmless Sellers and Sellers’ officers, directors, managers, members, employees, agents, Affiliates and Subsidiaries,
including officers and directors of any Affiliate or Subsidiary of Sellers (collectively, the “Seller Parties”), after the Closing, from
and against any and all Losses incurred by Seller Parties to the extent such Losses are based upon, arise out of or are related to (a) a
breach of any representation or warranty of Buyer set forth in this Agreement or any of the Transaction Documents, (b) any failure
to perform or comply with any of the covenants of Buyer set forth in this Agreement or any of the Transaction Documents, (c) the
Assumed Liabilities, or (d) any and all Taxes for which Buyer is responsible pursuant to this Agreement.

Section 8.3. Indemnification by Sellers. Subject to the provisions of this Article VIII, each of Asset Sellers and Craig R.
Hargreaves will jointly and severally indemnify, defend and hold harmless Buyer and Buyer’s officers, directors, managers,
members, employees, agents, Affiliates and Subsidiaries, including officers and directors of any Affiliate or Subsidiary of Buyer
(collectively, the “Buyer Parties” and together with the Seller Parties, the “Indemnitees”), after the Closing, from and against any
and all Losses incurred by Buyer Parties to the extent such Losses are based upon, arise out of or relate to (a) a breach of any
representation or warranty of any Seller set forth in this Agreement or in any of the Transaction Documents, (b) any failure to
perform or comply with any of the covenants of Sellers set forth in this Agreement or in any of the Transaction Documents, (c)
Excluded Liabilities, or (d) any and all Taxes for which Seller is responsible pursuant to this Agreement or for which Seller is
otherwise responsible under any applicable Law. Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement, with respect to the covenant in
Section 5.6(d)(iv) regarding Sellers’ obligation to provide COBRA continuation coverage, to the extent that Buyer or its Affiliates
become responsible for providing such COBRA continuation coverage, each of the Asset Sellers and Craig R. Hargreaves will
jointly and severally indemnify, defend and hold harmless Buyer or its Affiliates for the actual cost of group health plan benefit
claims without regard to any timing limitation or the limitations imposed by Section 8.7.

Section 8.4.  Assertion of Claims. The Indemnitee will give prompt notice to the Party from whom the indemnification is
sought (the “Indemnitor”) of any claim (a “Claim”) describing, to the extent practicable, such Claim with reasonable particularity
and containing a reference to the provisions of this Agreement under which such Claim has arisen, except that the failure to give
such prompt notice will not prevent any Indemnitee from being indemnified hereunder for any Losses, except to the extent that the
Indemnitor is actually prejudiced as a result of such failure to so promptly notify the Indemnitee.

Section 8.5. Notice of and Right to Defend Third Party Claims.

(a) If any lawsuit or enforcement Action is filed against any Party entitled to the benefit of indemnity hereunder
which may give rise to a Claim (a “Third-Party Claim”), written
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notice thereof will be given by the Indemnitee to the Indemnitor as promptly as practicable. Promptly after delivery of written
notice of a Third-Party Claim and for a period of 30 days thereafter, the Indemnitee will provide, during normal business hours,
reasonable access to information readily available to the Indemnitee with respect to such Third-Party Claim and to personnel of
Indemnitee with information related to such Third-Party Claim for the purpose of providing assistance to the Indemnitor in
determining whether or not to assume the defense of such Third-Party Claim. If the Indemnitor sends a notice in writing to the
Indemnitee within 30 days after receipt of a Third-Party Claim confirming the Indemnitor assumes responsibility to indemnify and
hold harmless the Indemnitee therefor, the Indemnitor may (subject to the limitations set forth in this Article VIII) elect assume
control over the compromise or defense of such Third-Party Claim at the expense of the Indemnitor and by counsel selected by the
Indemnitor, which counsel will be reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnitee; provided, however, that (i) the Indemnitee may, if such
Indemnitee so desires, employ counsel at such Indemnitee’s own expense to assist in the handling (but not control the defense) of
any Third-Party Claim, (ii) the Indemnitor will keep the Indemnitee advised of all material events with respect to any Third-Party
Claim, (iii) the Indemnitor will obtain the prior written approval of the Indemnitor before ceasing to defend against any Third-Party
Claim or entering into any settlement, adjustment or compromise of such Third-Party Claim involving injunctive or similar
equitable relief being asserted against any Indemnitee or any of its Affiliates, and (iv) no Indemnitor will, without the prior written
consent of the Indemnitee, settle, compromise or consent to the entry of any judgment in any pending or threatened Claim in
respect of which indemnification may be sought hereunder (whether or not any such Indemnitee is a party to such action) if, with
respect to the settlement, compromise, or consent to the entry of judgment (A) such settlement, compromise, or consent involves
the payment of damages other than the payment of monetary damages by the Indemnitor, (B) the claimant does not provide an
unqualified release of the Indemnitee from all Liability in respect of such Third-Party Claim, (C) such settlement, compromise, or
consent encumbers any of the material assets of the Indemnitee or imposes any restriction or condition that would apply to or
materially affect the Indemnitee or the conduct of the Indemnitee's business, or (D) such settlement, compromise or consent
involves any admission of liability or wrongdoing by the Indemnitee or any of its Affiliates. If the Indemnitee does not consent to a
settlement of a Third-Party Claim offered by the third party and to which the Indemnitor agrees, then the Indemnitor’s obligation to
indemnify Losses for the Claim is limited to the amount of the settlement offer. The other Party will cooperate with the Party
assuming the defense, compromise or settlement of any such Claim in accordance with this Agreement in any manner that such
Party that assumes the defense reasonably may request. After notice from the Indemnitor to the Indemnitee of its election so to
assume the defense, conduct or settlement thereof, the Indemnitor will not be liable to the Indemnitee for any costs or legal or other
expenses subsequently incurred by the Indemnitee in connection with the defense, conduct or settlement thereof following such
notice (including the cost of any settlement entered into by Indemnitee without Indemnitor’s express written consent). If an
Indemnitor does not elect to assume the defense, conduct or settlement of a Third-Party Claim as set forth in this Section 8.5(a) and
the Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification pursuant to this Article VIII, then the Indemnitor will be liable for any costs of legal or
other expenses incurred by the Indemnitee. In connection with any defense of any Third-Party Claim (whether by the Indemnitors
or the Indemnitees), all of the Parties will, and will cause their respective Affiliates and Representatives to, reasonably cooperate
with each other in connection with such Third-Party
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Claim to make available to each other all Persons and all pertinent information under their respective control.

(b) Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the Indemnitor will not be entitled to have sole
control over (and if it so desires, the Indemnitee will have sole control over) the defense, settlement, adjustment or compromise of
(but the Indemnitor will nevertheless be required to pay all Losses incurred by the Indemnitee in connection with such defense,
settlement or compromise to the extent the Indemnitor has assumed the defense or the Indemnitee is otherwise entitled to
indemnification hereunder) (i) any Third Party Claim that seeks an order, injunction or other equitable relief against any Indemnitee
or any of its Affiliates, (ii) any Third-Party Claim in which both the Indemnitor and the Indemnitee are named as parties and either
the Indemnitor or the Indemnitee determines upon the advice of counsel that there may be one or more legal defenses available to it
that are different from or additional to those available to the other party, and (iii) any Third-Party Claim relating to Taxes relating to
the Business for periods, or portions thereof, after the Closing Date.

(© If the Indemnitor elects not to assume the defense, settlement, adjustment or compromise of an asserted
Liability, fails to timely and properly notify the Indemnitee of its election as herein provided, or, at any time after assuming such
defense, fails to diligently defend against such Third-Party Claim in good faith, fails to have sufficient financial resources to pay
the full amount of such potential Liability in connection with such Third-Party Claim or if the Indemnitee is otherwise entitled
pursuant to this Agreement to have control over the defense, settlement or compromise of any Claim, the Indemnitee may, at the
Indemnitor’s expense (but only to the extent the Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification hereunder), pay, defend, settle, adjust or
compromise such asserted Liability (but the Indemnitor will nevertheless be required to pay all Losses incurred by the Indemnitee
in connection with such payment, defense, settlement, adjustment or compromise to the extent set forth in this Article VIII).

Section 8.6. Indemnification Procedures.

(@) If an Indemnitee seeks indemnification under this Article VIII, such Indemnitee will deliver an Officer’s
Certificate to the Indemnitor (and, in the case of a claim by Buyer, the Escrow Agent, if the Escrow Period has not expired). The
Indemnitor may object to such claim by delivering written notice to the Indemnitees (and, in the case of a claim by Buyer, the
Escrow Agent, if the Escrow Agreement has not expired in accordance with its terms) specifying the basis for such objection within
30 calendar days following receipt by the Indemnitor of notice from the Indemnitee regarding such claim. If no such objection is
made within such 30 calendar day period, the Indemnitee may recover Losses without further consent or approval required of any
of the Indemnifying Parties. For the purposes hereof, “Officer’s Certificate” will mean a certificate signed by any officer of the
Indemnitee (i) stating that the Indemnitee has paid, sustained, incurred or properly accrued, or in good faith reasonably anticipates
that it will pay, sustain, incur or accrue Losses, and (ii) specifying in reasonable detail the individual items of Losses included in the
amount so stated, the date each such item was paid, sustained, incurred or properly accrued, or the basis for such anticipated
Liability.
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(b) All Losses incurred by an Indemnitee will be satisfied in accordance with the procedures set forth herein.

Section 8.7. Limitations.

[INTENTIONALLY OMITTED]

Section 8.8. Payment of Claims. If Sellers are required to indemnify any Buyer Party pursuant to this Article VIII (subject
to the limitations set forth in Section 8.7), then (a) Buyer and Sellers will instruct the Escrow Agent to pay to such Buyer Party the
Maximum Indemnity Amount pursuant to the terms of, and subject to, the Escrow Agreement or (b) Seller will pay the applicable
indemnity amount, to the extent in excess of the Maximum Indemnity Amount and payable pursuant to the terms of this
Agreement.

Section 8.9. Character of Indemnity Payments. The Parties agree that any indemnification payments made with respect to
this Agreement will be treated for all Tax purposes as an adjustment to the Purchase Price, unless otherwise required by Law
(including by a determination of a Taxing Authority that, under applicable Law, is not subject to further review or appeal).

Section 8.10.  Exclusive Remedy. From and after the Closing, except with respect to fraud by Sellers, the remedies
provided for in this Article VIII are exclusive and will be in lieu of all other remedies for any breach of any representation or
warranty or the failure to perform or comply with any covenant, agreement or other provision of this Agreement.

ARTICLE IX

MISCEILLANEOUS

Section 9.1.  Notices. All notices, requests, waivers and other communications under this Agreement must be in writing
and will be deemed to have been duly given upon receipt to the Parties at the following addresses or facsimiles (or at such other
address or facsimile for a Party as will be specified by the notice):

If to Sellers:

Craig R. Hargreaves

3204 NW 28 Cir.

Vancouver, WA 98660

Email: craigh@sunlightsupply.com
Facsimile: (360) 450-5473
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With a copy (which will not constitute notice) to:

Buckley Law P.C.
5300 Meadows Road, Suite 200
Lake Oswego, OR 97035
Attention: Randall Duncan
John T. Witherspoon
Email: rld@buckley_law.com
jtw@buckley_law.com
Facsimile: (503) 620-4878

If to Buyer:

The Hawthorne Gardening Company
800 Port Washington Blvd.

Port Washington, NY 11050
Attention: Corporate Department
Email: dave.aronowitz@scotts.com

With a copy (which will not constitute notice) to:

Jones Day

250 Vesey Street

New York, New York 10281
Attention: Randi Lesnick
Email: rclesnick@jonesday.com
Facsimile: (212) 755-7306

Section 9.2. Entire Agreement. This Agreement, the exhibits and schedules hereto and the Transaction Documents
supersede all prior and contemporaneous discussions and agreements, both written and oral, among the Parties with respect to the
subject matter of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents, including the Letter of Intent, and constitute the sole and entire
agreement among the Parties to this Agreement with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement.

Section 9.3.  Expenses. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement or any Transaction Document, each
Party will pay its own costs and expenses incurred in connection with the negotiation, execution and closing of this Agreement and
the Transaction Documents and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Transaction Documents. Buyer will pay
any requisite filing fee in respect of any notification submitted pursuant to antitrust Laws, including the HSR Act.

Section 9.4. Waiver. Any term or condition of this Agreement may be waived at any time by the Party that is entitled to
the benefit thereof, but no such waiver will be effective unless set forth in a written instrument duly executed by or on behalf of the
Party waiving such term or condition. No failure or delay by any party in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder will
operate as a waiver thereof nor will any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the
exercise of any other right, power or privilege. No waiver by any Party of any term or condition of this Agreement, in any one or
more instances, will be deemed to be or construed as a waiver of the same or any other term or condition of this Agreement on any
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future occasion. All remedies, either under this Agreement or by Law or otherwise afforded, will be cumulative and not alternative.

Section 9.5. Amendment. This Agreement may only be amended, supplemented or modified by a written instrument duly
executed by or on behalf of each Party to this Agreement.

Section 9.6.  No Third-Party Beneficiary. Except as such forth in this Section 9.6, the terms and provisions of this
Agreement are intended solely for the benefit of each Party hereto and their respective successors or permitted assigns, and it is not
the intention of the Parties to confer third party beneficiary rights upon any other Person other than any Person entitled to
indemnity under Article VIII.

Section 9.7. Assignment;_Binding_Effect. Neither this Agreement nor any right, interest or obligation under this
Agreement may be assigned or delegated by any Party by operation of Law or otherwise without the prior written consent of the
other Parties and any attempt to do so will be void, except that Buyer may assign or delegate any or all of its rights, interests and
obligations under this Agreement (a) before or after the Closing, to any Affiliate, and (b) after the Closing, to any Person that
acquires all or substantially all of the assets of Buyer; provided, that any such Affiliate or Person referred to in clause (a) or (c), as
applicable, agrees in writing to be bound by the terms, conditions and provisions contained in this Agreement, but no such
assignment will relieve Buyer of its obligations under this Agreement if such assignee does not perform such obligations. Without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, if requested by Buyer, Sellers agree to cause the Business and the Purchased Assets or any
portion thereof at the Closing to be transferred to any Person that Buyer may direct. Subject to the foregoing, this Agreement is
binding upon, inures to the benefit of and is enforceable by the Parties and their respective successors and assigns.

Section 9.8. Governing Law. This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State
of Delaware, without regard for the conflict of laws principles thereof.

Section 9.9. Consent to Jurisdiction; Service of Process; Waiver of Jury Trial.

(a) Each party hereby irrevocably submits and consents to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Delaware Court of
Chancery (and if jurisdiction in the Delaware Court of Chancery shall be unavailable, the federal courts of the United States of
America sitting in the state of Delaware) in respect of any action, suit or proceeding arising in connection with this Agreement and
the Transaction Documents and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, and each party agrees that any such action, suit
or proceeding will be brought only in such court (and waives any objection based on forum non conveniens or any other objection
to venue therein); provided, however, that such consent to jurisdiction is solely for the purpose referred to in this Section 9.9 and
will not be deemed to be a general submission to the jurisdiction of said courts or in the state of Delaware other than for such
purpose. Any and all process may be served in any action, suit or proceeding arising in connection with this Agreement or the
Transaction Documents by complying with the provisions of Section 9.1. Such service of process will have the same effect as if the
Party being served were a resident in the State of Delaware and had been lawfully served with such process in such jurisdiction.
The Parties hereby waive all claims of error by reason of such service. Nothing herein
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will affect the right of any Party to service process in any other manner permitted by Law or to commence legal proceedings or
otherwise proceed against the other in any other jurisdiction to enforce judgments or rulings of the aforementioned courts. EACH
PARTY TO THIS AGREEMENT HEREBY EXPRESSLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY OF ANY CLAIM,
DEMAND, ACTION OR CAUSE OF ACTION ARISING UNDER THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY TRANSACTION
DOCUMENT OR IN ANY WAY CONNECTED WITH OR RELATED OR INCIDENTAL TO THE DEALINGS OF THE
PARTIES OR ANY OF THEM WITH RESPECT TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY TRANSACTION DOCUMENT, OR THE
TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY, IN EACH CASE WHETHER NOW EXISTING OR
HEREAFTER ARISING, AND WHETHER FOUNDED IN CONTRACT OR TORT OR OTHERWISE; AND EACH PARTY
HEREBY AGREES AND CONSENTS THAT ANY SUCH CLAIM, DEMAND, ACTION OR CAUSE OF ACTION WILL BE
DECIDED BY COURT TRIAL WITHOUT JURY, AND THAT ANY PARTY TO THIS AGREEMENT MAY FILE AN
ORIGINAL COUNTERPART OR A COPY OF THIS SECTION 9.9 WITH ANY COURT AS WRITTEN EVIDENCE OF THE
CONSENT OF THE SIGNATORIES HERETO TO THE WAIVER OF THEIR RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY.

(b) In the event of any breach of the provisions of this Agreement or the Transaction Documents, the non-
breaching party will be entitled to seek equitable relief, including in the form of injunctions and orders for specific performance,
where the applicable legal standards for such relief in such courts are met, in addition to all other remedies available to the non-
breaching party with respect thereto at law or in equity.

Section 9.10. Invalid Provisions. If any provision of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction or other
Governmental Authority to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable under any present or future Law, (a) such provision will be fully
severable, (b) this Agreement will be construed and enforced as if such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision had never
comprised a part hereof, (c) the remaining provisions of this Agreement will remain in full force and effect and will not be affected
by the illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision or by its severance herefrom, and (d) in lieu of such illegal, invalid or
unenforceable provision, there will be added automatically as a part of this Agreement a legal, valid and enforceable provision as
similar in terms to such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision as may be possible.

Section 9.11.  Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, all of which will be deemed
originals and constitute one and the same instrument. This Agreement, and any amendment hereto, to the extent signed and
delivered by means of a facsimile machine or other electronic transmission, will be treated in all manner and respects as an original
agreement and will be considered to have the same binding legal effects as if it were the original signed version thereof delivered in
person.

Section 9.12.  Attorney-Client Privilege. All communications involving attorney-client confidences between any Seller or
any of their Affiliates and its attorneys in the course of negotiation, documentation, and consummation of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement are deemed to be attorney-client confidences that belong solely to Sellers and their Affiliates.
Accordingly,
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Buyer and its Affiliates shall not have access to any such communications or files, none of which are included in the Purchased
Assets, notwithstanding anything to the contrary.

Section 9.13. Interpretation. The Parties have participated jointly in the negotiating and drafting of this Agreement. If an
ambiguity or a question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement will be construed as if drafted jointly by the Parties, and
no presumption or burden of proof will arise favoring or disfavoring any Party by virtue of the authorship of any provisions of this
Agreement.

[The remainder of this page has been intentionally left blank.]

75



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.

76

SUNLIGHT SUPPLY, INC.

By: _/s/ CRAIG R.
HARGREAVES

Craig R. Hargreaves, its
President

SUNLIGHT GARDEN SUPPLY,
INC.

By: _/s/ CRAIG R.
HARGREAVES

Craig R. Hargreaves, its
President

SUNLIGHT GARDEN SUPPLY,
ULC

By: _/s/ CRAIG R.
HARGREAVES

Craig R. Hargreaves, its
President

IP HOLDINGS, LLC

By: _/s/ CRAIG R.
HARGREAVES

Craig R. Hargreaves, its
Manager

/s/ CRAIG R. HARGREAVES
CRAIG R. HARGREAVES

/s/ KIM E. HARGREAVES
KIM E. HARGREAVES
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HAWTHORNE HYDROPONICS
LLC

By: _/s/ CHRISTOPHER
HAGEDORN
Name: Christopher Hagedorn
Title: President

THE SCOTTS MIRACLE-GRO
COMPANY

By: _/s/ MICHAEL
LUKEMIRE
Name: Michael Lukemire
Title: President and COO




Exhibit 10.4

THE SCOTTS MIRACLE-GRO COMPANY, as Issuer
THE GUARANTORS PARTY HERETO, as Guarantors
AND

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Trustee

5.250% Senior Notes due 2026

FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE DATED AS OF
July 17, 2018
TO THE INDENTURE DATED AS OF

December 15, 2016




FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE

This FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE, dated as of July 17, 2018 (this “First Supplemental Indenture”), is by and
among The Scotts Miracle-Gro Company, an Ohio corporation (such corporation and any successor, the “Company”), the existing
Guarantors (as defined in the Indenture referred to herein) (the “Existing Guarantors”), SMG ITO Holdings, Inc., an Ohio
corporation (“New Guarantor”), and U.S. Bank National Association, a national banking association, as trustee under the Indenture
referred to herein (such corporation and any successor, the “Trustee”). The New Guarantor and the Existing Guarantors are
sometimes referred to collectively herein as the “Guarantors,” or individually as a “Guarantor.” Capitalized terms not otherwise
defined in this First Supplemental Indenture will have the meanings given to them in the Indenture (as defined below).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Company, the Existing Guarantors and the Trustee are parties to an indenture, dated as of December 15,
2016 (the “Indenture”), relating to the Company’s 5.250% Senior Notes due 2023 (the “Securities™);

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 9.01(5) of the Indenture, without the consent of any Holders, the Company, when
authorized by a Board Resolution, and the Trustee, at any time and from time to time, may enter into one or more supplemental
indentures, in form satisfactory to the Trustee, to add any Person as a Guarantor; and

WHEREAS, all conditions precedent provided for in the Indenture relating to this First Supplemental Indenture have been
complied with.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which
is hereby acknowledged, the New Guarantor, the Existing Guarantors, the Company and the Trustee mutually covenant and agree
for the equal and ratable benefit of the Holders of the Securities as follows:

1. Definitions. Capitalized terms used herein without definition shall have the meanings assigned to them in the
Indenture.

2. Joinder of New Guarantor. The New Guarantor hereby joins in the Indenture as a “Guarantor” thereunder. The New
Guarantor hereby assumes the duties and obligations of Guarantors under the Indenture. The New Guarantor agrees to keep and
perform all of the covenants, obligations and conditions of Guarantors under the Indenture, on the terms and subject to the
conditions set forth in Article X of the Indenture, and to be bound by all other applicable provisions of the Indenture. Upon request
from time to time by the Trustee, the New Guarantor shall execute and deliver to the Trustee a notation relating to the New
Guarantor’s Guarantee, substantially in the form attached as Exhibit E to the Indenture.




3.  Effect of First Supplemental Indenture. Except as amended by this First Supplemental Indenture, the terms and
provisions of the Indenture shall remain in full force and effect.

4. Governing Law. THE INTERNAL LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK SHALL GOVERN AND BE USED TO
CONSTRUE THIS FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO APPLICABLE PRINCIPLES OF
CONFLICTS OF LAW TO THE EXTENT THAT THE APPLICATION OF THE LAWS OF ANOTHER JURISDICTION
WOULD BE REQUIRED THEREBY.

5. Counterparts. The parties may sign any number of copies of this First Supplemental Indenture. Each signed copy shall
be an original, but all of them together represent the same agreement. This First Supplemental Indenture may be executed in
multiple counterparts which, when taken together, shall constitute one instrument.

6. Effect of Headings. The section headings herein are for convenience only and shall not affect the construction hereof.

7. Trustee. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, no duties, responsibilities or liabilities are assumed, or shall be
construed to be assumed, by the Trustee by reason of this First Supplemental Indenture. This First Supplemental Indenture is
executed and accepted by the Trustee subject to all the terms and conditions set forth in the Indenture.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank; Signature Pages Follow]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this First Supplemental Indenture to be duly executed and
delivered all as of the day and year first above written.

COMPANY:

THE SCOTTS MIRACLE-GRO COMPANY

By: /s/s THOMAS RANDAL COLEMAN

Name: Thomas Randal Coleman

Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer

NEW GUARANTOR:
SMG ITO HOLDINGS, INC.
By: /s/ KELLY S. BERRY

Name: Kelly S. Berry
Title: Vice President and Treasurer

EXISTING GUARANTORS:

GUTWEIN & CO., INC.

HYPONEX CORPORATION
MIRACLE-GRO LAWN PRODUCTS, INC.
ROD MCLELLAN COMPANY

SANFORD SCIENTIFIC, INC.

SCOTTS TEMECULA OPERATIONS, LLC
SCOTTS MANUFACTURING COMPANY
SCOTTS PRODUCTS CO.

SCOTTS PROFESSIONAL PRODUCTS CO.
SLS HOLDINGS, INC

SMG GROWING MEDIA, INC.

SMGM LLC

THE SCOTTS COMPANY LLC

By: /s/ THOMAS RANDAL COLEMAN

Name: Thomas Randal Coleman

Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer

S-1
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HAWTHORNE HYDROPONICS LLC

THE HAWTHORNE GARDENING COMPANY

HGCI, INC.

By: /s/ CHRISTOPHER J. HAGEDORN
Name: Christopher J. Hagedorn
Title: President

OMS INVESTMENTS, INC.
SWISS FARMS PRODUCTS, INC.
SCOTTS-SIERRA INVESTMENTS LLC

By: /s/ AIMEE M. DELUCA
Name: Aimee M. DeLuca
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

GENSOURCE, INC.

By: /s/KELLY S. BERRY
Name: Kelly S. Berry
Title: Treasurer

TRUSTEE:

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By: /s/ KATHERINE ESBER
Name: Katherine Esber
Title: Vice President
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THE SCOTTS MIRACLE-GRO COMPANY, as Issuer
THE GUARANTORS PARTY HERETO, as Guarantors
AND

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Trustee

6.000% Senior Notes due 2023

SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE DATED AS OF
July 17, 2018
TO THE INDENTURE DATED AS OF

October 13, 2015




SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE

This SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE, dated as of July 17, 2018 (this “Second Supplemental Indenture”), is by
and among The Scotts Miracle-Gro Company, an Ohio corporation (such corporation and any successor, the “Company”), the
existing Guarantors (as defined in the Indenture referred to herein) (the “Existing Guarantors”), SMG ITO Holdings, Inc., an Ohio
corporation (“New Guarantor”), and U.S. Bank National Association, a national banking association, as trustee under the Indenture
referred to herein (such corporation and any successor, the “Trustee”). The New Guarantor and the Existing Guarantors are
sometimes referred to collectively herein as the “Guarantors,” or individually as a “Guarantor.” Capitalized terms not otherwise
defined in this Second Supplemental Indenture will have the meanings given to them in the Indenture (as defined below).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Company, the Existing Guarantors and the Trustee are parties to an indenture, dated as of October 13,
2015, as supplemented by the First Supplemental Indenture dated as of May 26, 2016, by and among the Company, the subsidiary
guarantors named therein and the Trustee (as so supplemented, the “Indenture”), relating to the Company’s 6.000% Senior Notes
due 2023 (the “Securities™);

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 9.01(5) of the Indenture, without the consent of any Holders, the Company, when
authorized by a Board Resolution, and the Trustee, at any time and from time to time, may enter into one or more supplemental
indentures, in form satisfactory to the Trustee, to add any Person as a Guarantor; and

WHEREAS, all conditions precedent provided for in the Indenture relating to this Second Supplemental Indenture have
been complied with.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which
is hereby acknowledged, the New Guarantor, the Existing Guarantors, the Company and the Trustee mutually covenant and agree
for the equal and ratable benefit of the Holders of the Securities as follows:

1. Definitions. Capitalized terms used herein without definition shall have the meanings assigned to them in the
Indenture.

2. Joinder of New Guarantor. The New Guarantor hereby joins in the Indenture as a “Guarantor” thereunder. The New
Guarantor hereby assumes the duties and obligations of Guarantors under the Indenture. The New Guarantor agrees to keep and
perform all of the covenants, obligations and conditions of Guarantors under the Indenture, on the terms and subject to the
conditions set forth in Article X of the Indenture, and to be bound by all other applicable provisions of the Indenture. Upon request
from time to time by the Trustee, the New Guarantor shall execute and deliver to the Trustee a notation relating to the New
Guarantor’s Guarantee, substantially in the form attached as Exhibit E to the Indenture.




3. Effect of Second Supplemental Indenture. Except as amended by this Second Supplemental Indenture, the terms and
provisions of the Indenture shall remain in full force and effect.

4. Governing Law. THE INTERNAL LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK SHALL GOVERN AND BE USED TO
CONSTRUE THIS SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO APPLICABLE PRINCIPLES
OF CONFLICTS OF LAW TO THE EXTENT THAT THE APPLICATION OF THE LAWS OF ANOTHER JURISDICTION
WOULD BE REQUIRED THEREBY.

5. Counterparts. The parties may sign any number of copies of this Second Supplemental Indenture. Each signed copy
shall be an original, but all of them together represent the same agreement. This Second Supplemental Indenture may be executed
in multiple counterparts which, when taken together, shall constitute one instrument.

6. Effect of Headings. The section headings herein are for convenience only and shall not affect the construction hereof.

7. Trustee. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, no duties, responsibilities or liabilities are assumed, or shall be
construed to be assumed, by the Trustee by reason of this Second Supplemental Indenture. This Second Supplemental Indenture is
executed and accepted by the Trustee subject to all the terms and conditions set forth in the Indenture.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank; Signature Pages Follow]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Second Supplemental Indenture to be duly executed and
delivered all as of the day and year first above written.

COMPANY:

THE SCOTTS MIRACLE-GRO COMPANY

By: /s/s THOMAS RANDAL COLEMAN

Name: Thomas Randal Coleman

Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer

NEW GUARANTOR:
SMG ITO HOLDINGS, INC.
By: /s/ KELLY S. BERRY

Name: Kelly S. Berry
Title: Vice President and Treasurer

EXISTING GUARANTORS:

GUTWEIN & CO., INC.

HYPONEX CORPORATION
MIRACLE-GRO LAWN PRODUCTS, INC.
ROD MCLELLAN COMPANY

SANFORD SCIENTIFIC, INC.

SCOTTS TEMECULA OPERATIONS, LLC
SCOTTS MANUFACTURING COMPANY
SCOTTS PRODUCTS CO.

SCOTTS PROFESSIONAL PRODUCTS CO.
SLS HOLDINGS, INC

SMG GROWING MEDIA, INC.

SMGM LLC

THE SCOTTS COMPANY LLC

By: /s/ THOMAS RANDAL COLEMAN

Name: Thomas Randal Coleman

Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer

S-1



S-2

HAWTHORNE HYDROPONICS LLC

THE HAWTHORNE GARDENING COMPANY

HGCI, INC.

By: /s/ CHRISTOPHER J. HAGEDORN
Name: Christopher J. Hagedorn
Title: President

OMS INVESTMENTS, INC.
SWISS FARMS PRODUCTS, INC.
SCOTTS-SIERRA INVESTMENTS LLC

By: /s/ AIMEE M. DELUCA
Name: Aimee M. DeLuca
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

GENSOURCE, INC.

By: /s/ KELLY S. BERRY
Name: Kelly S. Berry
Title: Treasurer

TRUSTEE:

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By: /s/ KATHERINE ESBER
Name: Katherine Esber
Title: Vice President




DIRECT AND INDIRECT SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE SCOTTS MIRACLE-GRO COMPANY

Exhibit 21

Directly owned subsidiaries, as of June 30, 2018, are located at the left margin, each subsidiary tier thereunder is indented. Subsidiaries are listed under the

names of their respective parent entities. Unless otherwise noted, the subsidiaries are wholly-owned.

JURISDICTION OF
NAME FORMATION
GenSource, Inc. Ohio
Gutwein & Co., Inc. Indiana
OMS Investments, Inc. Delaware
Scotts Temecula Operations, LLC Delaware
Sanford Scientific, Inc. New York
Scotts Global Investments, Inc. Delaware
Scotts Global Services, Inc. Ohio
Scotts Luxembourg SARL Luxembourg
Scotts Manufacturing Company Delaware
Miracle-Gro Lawn Products, Inc. New York
Scotts Products Co. Ohio
Scotts Servicios, S.A. de C.V.1 Mexico
Scotts Professional Products Co. Ohio
Scotts Servicios, S.A. de C.V.1 Mexico
SLS Holdings, Inc. Delaware
Outdoor Home Services Holdings LL.C2? Delaware
SMG Growing Media, Inc. Ohio
AeroGrow International, Inc.3 Nevada
Hyponex Corporation Delaware
Rod McLellan Company California
The Hawthorne Gardening Company Delaware
Can-filters Chile SPA Chile
Hawthorne Canada Limited Canada
Hawthorne Hydroponics LLC Delaware
Columbia River Industrial Holdings, LLC Washington
Hawthorne Holdings B.V. Netherlands
Hawthorne Gardening B.V. Netherlands
Gavita Partners B.V. Netherlands
Gavita International B.V. Netherlands

1 Scotts Professional Products Co. owns 50% and Scotts Products Co. owns 50%.

2 SLS Holdings, Inc.'s ownership is 29.9%.

3 SMG Growing Media, Inc.’s ownership is 80.5%.



Agrolux Holding B.V.
HDP Trading B.V.
Agrolux Europe B.V.
Agrolux Nederland B.V.
Agrolux Lighting Holding Inc.
Agrolux Lighting Inc.
Gavita Canada Inc.
Gavita AS
HGCI, Inc.
SMG ITO Holdings, Inc.
Seamless Control LLC*
SMGM LLC
Scotts-Sierra Investments LLC
ASEF B.V.
Scotts Gardening Fertilizer (Wuhan) Co., Ltd.
Scotts Canada Ltd.
Laketon Peat Moss Inc.5
Scotts de Mexico SA de CV®
Scotts France Holdings SARL
SMG France SAS
SMG Germany GmbH
Scotts Holdings Limited
Levington Group Limited
SMG Gardening (UK) Limited
The Scotts Company (Manufacturing) Limited
Humax Horticulture Limited
O M Scott International Investments Limited
Swiss Farms Products, Inc.
The Scotts Company LLC
The Scotts Miracle-Gro Foundation’

4 SMG ITO Holdings, Inc.'s ownership is 51.0%.
> Scotts Canada Ltd.'s ownership is 50.0%.

6 The Scotts Company LLC owns 0.5% and Scotts-Sierra Investments LLC owns the remaining 99.5%.
7 The Scotts Miracle-Gro Foundation is a 501(c)(3) corporation.

Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Canada

Canada

Canada

Norway

Nevada

Ohio

Delaware

Ohio

Delaware
Netherlands
China

Canada

Canada

Mexico

France

France

Germany

United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Delaware

Ohio

Ohio



Exhibit 31.1

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications
(Principal Executive Officer)
CERTIFICATIONS

I, James Hagedorn, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of The Scotts Miracle-Gro Company for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2018;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 8, 2018 By:  /s/ JAMES HAGEDORN

Printed Name: James Hagedorn
Title: Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board



Exhibit 31.2

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications
(Principal Financial Officer)
CERTIFICATIONS

I, Thomas Randal Coleman, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of The Scotts Miracle-Gro Company for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2018;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 8, 2018 By: /sf THOMAS RANDAL COLEMAN

Printed Name: Thomas Randal Coleman
Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32
SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATIONS*

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of The Scotts Miracle-Gro Company (the “Company”) for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2018 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned James Hagedorn, Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Board of the Company, and Thomas Randal Coleman, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to
the best of their knowledge:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the consolidated financial condition and results of operations of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

/s/ JAMES HAGEDORN /s/ THOMAS RANDAL COLEMAN
Printed Name: James Hagedorn Printed Name: Thomas Randal Coleman
Title: Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
August 8, 2018 August 8, 2018
* THESE CERTIFICATIONS ARE BEING FURNISHED AS REQUIRED BY RULE 13a-14(b) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT

OF 1934 (THE “EXCHANGE ACT”) AND SECTION 1350 OF CHAPTER 63 OF TITLE 18 OF THE UNITED STATES CODE, AND SHALL
NOT BE DEEMED “FILED” FOR PURPOSES OF SECTION 18 OF THE EXCHANGE ACT OR OTHERWISE SUBJECT TO THE
LIABILITY OF THAT SECTION. THESE CERTIFICATIONS SHALL NOT BE DEEMED TO BE INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE INTO
ANY FILING UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 OR THE EXCHANGE ACT, EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT THAT THE COMPANY
SPECIFICALLY INCORPORATES THESE CERTIFICATIONS BY REFERENCE.



